Intestinal health and microbiota in salmonids: the impact of probiotics under potentially stressful conditions

by

Hugo Alexander Jaramillo Torres

A thesis submitted to the University of Plymouth in partial fulfilment for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

School of Biological Sciences Faculty of Science and Engineering

JULY 2017

Copyright Statement

This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with its author and that no quotation from the thesis and no information derived from it may be published without the author's prior consent.

Acknowledgements

Even though this thesis has my name on the cover, I think a PhD is not something that you just can do it by yourself. Therefore, I want to use this space to express my most sincere gratitude to all the wonderful people that kindly helped me, encouraged me and even inspired me. This PhD would not have been possible without you!

First, I would like to thank Daniel Merrifield, my director of studies who not only shared his knowledge and guidance during this PhD but also took me into account in many of his activities as a researcher. Inviting me to participate in a workshop in Colombia, let me participate in his lectures, involving me in his projects even those that were not part of my PhD and of course thanks for Cuba Fridays and poker nights. Thank you for the freedom to let me think for myself.

I want to say thank you to all my colleagues in the group who were always ready to give me a hand and advice, for all the lovely dinners and pints. Deji, Sam, Pete, Dave, Ben, Rung and Ali. I am particularly grateful with Ana Rodiles for her friendship, the nice talks about QIIME, NGS, microbiota as well as her support during sampling in Denmark and Norway and sharing her knowledge and advice in the lab. Finally, I want to express my gratitude to Mark Rawling for helping me in the samplings in Norway, what fun times searching for the Northern lights. Thanks for and introduce me into the gene expression world, and for the lab work for my third trial.

I am also thankful and lucky for all the nice and cheerful people that I met during my time in England especially the "Plymouthians". I am especially indebted to my friends Alex and Gabi who have been my international family during my time in Plymouth, thanks guys for always being there for me, for all the laughing, dinners, drinks, "B-Bar Familia Latina times" and trips in Cornwall, Edinburgh and Floripa. I am also in indebted to my friends in Oslo Leo, Karla, Mauro, Kitty, Leidy and Sigmund who have made the life in Norway a lot funnier. Thanks for the encouragement in the last part of my PhD.

I would like to thank the technical stuff, always helpful especially Matt Emery, Michele Kiernan, Sarah Jamieson, Catherine Johnson, Jennifer Spike, Paul Waines, Liz Preston, Ben Eynon, Glenn Harper and The Bioorders team.

I am especially indebted to Professor Åshild Krogdahl who in 2015 accepted me as visiting research in her group at NMBU. Thank you also for let me be part of your group and projects also for giving me a nice place to write and finish my PhD. I would like also want to thank Trond Kortner for the interesting scientific talks and share his knowledge and expertise in gene expression analysis.

During my PhD, I had the opportunity to visit the Laboratory of Biotechnology of Universidad de Chile funded by Santander Scholarship. I am thankful to Professor Jaime Romero, Rafael, and Carolina for sharing their expertise in the use of gnotobiotic zebrafish as an animal model.

I want to thank Lallemand and BioMar for funding the projects of my PhD and all the technical support during the trials with Atlantic salmon. I would like to thank especially Dr Mathieu Castex for his scientific advice and useful commentaries and Dr John Tinsley for his support during sampling and providing scientific and technical information from the experiments.

I don't have words to express my gratitude to Karina, I could spend many pages explaining why you have been a fundamental part of this PhD, thank for all those eternal talks about microbiota and nerd ideas, for sharing all your knowledge, for reading all my thesis, for letting me participate of your scientific achievements, for the positivism, for cheering me up in the inevitable lows of being a PhD student, for those words in the last stage of the writing, for all the patience and kindness, for your understanding and encouragement. Thanks for being "mi Peyu". Thanks to my son Tomás that enlighted my life and cheered me up in the last hard moments of this thesis and kept me awake during the last corrections.

Of course, I want to say gracias a toda mi familia en Colombia, a mis hermanos Daniel y Lala, mis tíos, tías, primos y primas a mis amigos de siempre. Gracias por hacerme sentir que siempre estuvieron ahí a pesar de los años y la distancia.

Quiero dedicar esta tesis a mi mamá, mi papá y el Capi, porque creyeron en mí antes de que yo lo hiciera. Porque sabían que empezaría y terminaría este doctorado cuando yo aún lo dudaba. Por todos los sacrificios para que yo pudiera estudiar. Por influenciarme y animarme a través de mi vida para llegar a ser quien soy, infinitas gracias.

Author's declaration

At no time during the registration for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy has the author been registered for any other University award.

This study was jointly funded by a scholarship from the Colombian Institute for the Development of Science and Technology (COLCIENCIAS) and the company Lallemand SAS, in collaboration with BioMar.

Word count: 38804

Signed Alexander Jaramillo

Date 20 July 2017

Conferences attended and works presented

do Vale Pereira, Gabriella., **Jaramillo-Torres, Alexander**., Pedreira-Mouriño, Jose L., da Cunh, Delcio G., Merrifield, Daniel L. Intestinal microbiota of pirarucu A*rapaima gigas* using high-throughput sequencing analysis. Aquaculture Europe 16, September 2016, Edinburgh, Scotland. Poster.

Gajardo, Karina, Rodiles, Ana., **Jaramillo-Torres, Alexander**., Kortner, Trond M., Bakke, Anne M., Merrifield, Daniel., Krogdahl, Åshild. Prebiotics modify Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* gut microbiota. Aquaculture Europe 14, September 2014, San Sebastian, Spain. Poster

do Vale Pereira, Gabriella., **Jaramillo-Torres, Alexander**., Davies, Simon J., Merrifield, Daniel L. Characterization of lactic acid bacteria isolated from the intestine of pirarucu *Arapaima gigas*. Aquaculture Europe 14, September 2014, San Sebastian, Spain. Poster.

Jaramillo-Torres, Alexander., Rawling, Mark., Rodiles, Ana., Bickerdike, Ralph., Tinsley, John., Mikalsen, Heidi., Aasum, Elisabeth., Castex, Mathieu., Merrifield, Daniel. Effect of *Pediococcus acidilactici* MA18/5M on gut health and associated microbiota of Atlantic salmon during smoltification. Aquaculture Europe 14, September 2014, San Sebastian, Spain. Oral presentation.

Castex, Mathieu., **Jaramillo-Torres, Alexander**., Abid, Ali., Merrifield, Daniel. Evaluation of *Pediococcus acidilactici* MA18/5M in rainbow trout under different inclusion levels of alternative plant proteins in the diet. 16th International Symposium on Fish Nutrition and Feeding, May 2014, Cairns, Australia. Poster.

Jaramillo-Torres, Alexander. The role of stress in the intestine of fish & Histomorphometrics for gut health research. Workshop probiotics in aquaculture: from gut microbiota to practical applications and future research themes. January 2014, Santa Marta and Cartagena (CENIACUA), Colombia. Invited speaker.

Research visits

Visiting Researcher, funded by Santander Scholarship (August-September 2015), The Laboratory of Biotechnology (INTA), Chile. Supervised by Prof. Jaime Romero.

Visiting Researcher (April-July 2015), Nutrition Group of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine (NMBU), Norway. Supervised by Prof. Åshild Krogdahl.

Publications

Gajardo, Karina, **Jaramillo-Torres, A**., Kortner, T.M., Merrifield, D., Tinsley, J., Bakke, A. M., Krogdahl, Å. Alternative protein sources in the diet modulate microbiota and functionality in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Appl. Environ. Microbiol., AEM. 02615-02616.

Adeoye, A.A., Yomla, R., **Jaramillo-Torres, A.**, Rodiles, A., Merrifield, D.L., Davies, S.J., 2016. Combined effects of exogenous enzymes and probiotic on Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) growth, intestinal morphology and microbiome. Aquaculture 463, 61-70.

Adeoye, A., **Jaramillo-Torres, A.**, Fox, S., Merrifield, D., Davies, S., 2016. Supplementation of formulated diets for tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) with selected exogenous enzymes: Overall performance and effects on intestinal histology and microbiota. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 215, 133-143.

Intestinal health and microbiota in salmonids: the impact of probiotics under potentially stressful conditions

Alexander Jaramillo-Torres

The intestine and associated bacterial microbiota have a central role the physiology and homoeostasis of the host. The understanding of how farming conditions affect the intestine and associated microbiota of fish is the high importance to counteract the potential threats to health and welfare. Thus, this thesis aims to understand the role of stressful husbandry conditions on the intestine and associated microbiota of rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon. Within this context, the role of *Pediococcus acidilactici* as health promoter was also investigated

Chapter 3 investigated the replacement of fishmeal by different plant protein ingredients in rainbow trout. The results of this chapter revealed that the effect of *P. acidilactici* on the microbiota of distal intestine in rainbow trout was dependent on the ingredients of the diet. The results also showed that the FM substitution induced major changes in the intestinal microbiota. Moreover, the modulation induced by plant-based diets on the microbiota varied according to the ingredients used.

Chapter 4 studied the effect of dietary oxytetracycline in the distal intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout and the role of *P. acidilactici* to ameliorate the impact of antibiotic therapy. Experimental groups fed the diets with oxytetracycline had substantial changes in the distal intestinal microbiota including a decrease in the bacterial diversity. *P. acidilactici* did not ameliorate the effect of antibiotic therapy in the intestinal microbiota.

Chapter 5 used Atlantic salmon during smoltification to study the changes in the microbiota of distal intestine and the role of *P. acidilactici* to promote intestinal health. The results showed that bacterial communities in the mucosa differed from the digesta. Seawater transfer and *P. acidilactici* had significant changes in the intestinal microbiota of both mucosa and digesta. However, the modulatory effect of both factors evaluated was larger in the mucosa-associated microbiota than in the digesta-associated microbiota. Furthermore, *P. acidilactici* induced a significant increase in antiviral-related genes.

Chapter 6 investigated the replacement of fish oil by rapeseed oil alone or combined with *P. acidilactici* on the intestinal health and microbiota of two intestinal regions in Atlantic salmon. Replacement of fish oil by rapeseed oil alone or in combination with *P. acidilactici* supplementation did not induce major changes in the intestinal health and microbiota. The bacterial communities found were significantly different between the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine.

In conclusion, this thesis contributes to new knowledge regarding the effect of dietary supplementation of *P. acidilactici* and the impact of different potential challenging factors in the health and intestinal microbiota of farmed salmonid species.

Contents

Acknowledgementsiii	i
Author's declarationv	1
Conferences attended and works presentedvi	i
Abstractvi	i
List of tablesxv	1
List of figuresxvi	i
List of abbreviationsxix	(
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION 1	ļ
1.1. Aquaculture outlook 2	2
1.1.1. Salmonid aquaculture 3	3
1.1.2. Challenges for salmonid industry 4	ł
1.2. The gastrointestinal tract of salmonids6	3
1.2.1. Organisation and function6	3
1.2.2. The intestinal barrier	}
1.3. Fish gut microbiota13	}
1.3.1. Importance of gut microbiota in fish16	3
1.3.2. Effect of stress on intestine and associated microbiota 18	3
1.3.3. Can probiotics mitigate the stress effects on fish?	ļ
1.3.4. Use of Pediococcus acidilactici in salmonids23	3
1.4. Thesis aims and objectives 29)
CHAPTER 2. GENERAL MATERIALS AND METHODS)

2.1. Overview	31
2.2. Measurement of growth related parameters	31
2.3. Fish dissection, sampling and samples storage	32
2.4. Microbiota analysis	33
2.4.1. DNA extraction and polymerase chain reaction	33
2.4.2. Amplicon library and sequencing	35
2.5. Intestinal gene expression	37
2.5.1. RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis	38
2.5.2. Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR)	39
2.5.3. Primer Optimization	39
2.5.4. Data analysis	40
2.6. Statistical analysis	40
CHAPTER 3.	42
3.1. Abstract	43
3.2. Introduction	44
3.3. Materials and Methods	46
3.3.1 Animal husbandry	46
3.3.2. Feed formulation and experimental design	46
3.3.3. Diet preparation	48
3.3.4. Sample collection	48
3.3.5. Growth performance	49

3.3.6. Microbiological analysis 49
3.4. Results 51
3.4.1. Growth performance 51
3.4.2. Microbiota analysis 52
3.5. Discussion
3.5.1. Effect of probiotic supplementation and fishmeal replacement in growth
performance of rainbow trout
3.5.2. High-throughput sequencing based on 16S rRNA gene of intestinal
samples of fish fed plant ingredients is affected by producing large number of
non-bacterial sequences63
3.5.3. Probiotic supplementation in the diet interacts with diet composition
modulation; the role of probiotic on intestinal microbiota
3.5.4. Feed ingredients in the diet influence the intestinal microbiota
3.5.5. Core microbiota and main phyla and taxa found in this study compared
with previous studies in rainbow trout 69
3.5.6. Conclusion
CHAPTER 4
4.1. Abstract
4.2. Introduction
4.3. Materials and Methods76
4.3.1. Diet and experimental design76

4.3.2. Sample collection77
4.3.3. Microbiological analysis77
4.3.4. Statistical analysis78
4.4. Results
4.4.1. High-throughput sequencing data79
4.4.2. Effect of probiotic and oxytetracycline on the distal intestinal microbiota79
4.5. Discussion
4.5.1. Effect of oxytetracycline and probiotic supplementation on the bacterial
microbiota of the distal intestine
4.5.2. Core microbiota is modulated by OTC 90
4.5.3. Conclusion
CHAPTER 5
5.1. Abstract
5.2. Introduction
5.3. Materials and methods97
5.3.1. Animal husbandry97
5.3.2. Diets and experimental design97
5.3.3. Sample collection
5.3.4. Microbiological analyses
5.3.5. Gene expression analysis

5.3.6. Intestinal histology	99
5.3.7. Statistical analysis	100
5.4. Results	101
5.4.1. Microbiota analysis	101
5.4.2. Gene expression in the distal intestine	113
5.4.3. Histology	114
5.5. Discussion	116
5.5.1. Effect of environment on distal intestinal microbiota	116
5.5.2. Effect of probiotic on distal intestinal microbiota	119
5.5.3. Effect of probiotic on antiviral response	121
5.5.4. Conclusion	124
CHAPTER 6.	126
6.1. Abstract	127
6.2. Introduction	128
6.3. Materials and Methods	131
6.3.1. Animal husbandry	131
6.3.2. Diets and experimental design	131
6.3.3. Sample collection	132
6.3.4. Growth performance	132

6.3.5. Microbiological analyses 133
6.3.6. Gene expression analysis133
6.3.7. Intestinal histology 135
6.3.8. Statistical analysis
6.4. Results 137
6.4.1. Growth, digestibility and somatic indices 137
6.4.2. Microbiota analysis 137
6.4.3. Gene expression 147
6.4.4. Histology 152
6.5. Discussion 153
6.5.1. Differences between bacterial communities of the pyloric caeca and mid-
intestine 153
6.5.2. Effect of FO replacement and probiotic supplementation on growth
performance and feed utilisation155
6.5.3. Effect of FO oil supplementation and probiotic supplementation on the
microbiota of pyloric caeca and mid intestine
6.5.4. Effect of FO oil supplementation and probiotic supplementation on the
intestinal health of Atlantic salmon159
6.5.5. Conclusion 161
CHAPTER 7
7.1. Discussion of main results
7.1.1. Characterization of the intestinal microbiota in salmonids

7.1.2. Factors that modulate microbiota in salmonids
7.1.3. Effect of P. acidilactici in intestinal microbiota and health of salmonids168
7.2. Limitations of this thesis 172
7.3. Future directions 175
7.4. Conclusions 178
REFERENCES 179

List of tables

Table 1.1. Studies assessing the relation between use of probiotic and fish stress responses.	21
Table 1.2. Studies using Pediococcus acidilactici in salmonids.	26
Table 2.1. General conditions of experiments.	31
Table 2.2. Genes used for gene expression analysis.	37
Table 3.1. Formulation of experimental diets and chemical composition.	47
Tabla 3.2. PERMANOVA results from weighted and unweightedUniFrac.	55
Table 4.1. PERMANOVA results from weighted and unweightedUniFrac.	81
Table 5.1. Composition for control and probiotic diets duringfreshwater and seawater stages.	98
Table 5.2. List of primers used for the gene expression in the presentstudy.	99
Table 5.3. PERMANOVA results from weighted and unweightedUniFrac.	104
Table 5.4. Histological parameters of the distal intestine of Atlanticsalmon fed the experimental diets during freshwater and seawaterstages.	115
Table 6.1. Formulation of the experimental diets and chemical composition.	132
Table 6.2. List of primers used for gene expression.	134
Table 6.3. Parameters and score used in the morphological evaluating of the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine.	135
Table 6.4. Results of growth performance, lipid and crude proteinapparent digestibility and somatic indices from Atlantic salmon fedthe experimental diets for 56 days.	137
Table 6.5. PERMANOVA results from weighted and unweighted UniFrac.	140

List of figures

Figure 1.1. World animal production.	3
Figure 1.2. Main salmonid producers in the world between 2000-2014.	4
Figure 1.3. Gastrointestinal tract of rainbow trout showing oesophagus, stomach, and intestine with their three subdivisions.	8
Figure 2.1. Intestinal regions used for sampling.	33
Figure 3.1. The viability of <i>P. acidilactici</i> in each basal diet during 10 weeks.	49
Figure 3.2 . Specific growth rate from week four to week twelve of fish fed control and probiotic basal diets.	51
Figure 3.3. Alpha diversity parameters of the distal intestinal microbiota comparing probiotic and control groups among fishmeal (FM), soybean (SB) and plant mix (PMIX) diets.	53
Figure 3.4. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the distal intestinal microbiota associated to digesta using UniFrac distances.	54
Figure 3.5. Relative abundance (%) of the main bacterial taxa at class and phylum level and abundance of the genus <i>Pediococcus</i> .	56
Figure 3.6. Taxonomic differences in the distal intestinal microbiota associated to digesta between control and probiotic groups according to LEfSe analysis.	59
Figure 3.7. Taxonomic differences in the distal intestinal microbiota among dietary groups according to LEfSe analysis.	60
Figure 3.8. Core microbiota of distal intestinal digesta.	61
Figure 4.1. Alpha diversity parameters of the distal intestinal microbiota associated to mucosa comparing pre-antibiotic (Pre-Ab) and during antibiotic (Dur-Ab) groups.	80
Figure 4.2. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the distal intestinal microbiota associated to mucosa using UniFrac distances.	81
Figure 4.3. Relative abundance of the main bacterial taxa at class and phylum level and abundance of the genus <i>Pediococcus</i> .	82
Figure 4.4. Taxonomic differences in distal intestinal microbiota from digesta between control and probiotic groups according to LEfSe analysis.	85
Figure 4.5. Taxonomic differences in distal intestinal microbiota from digesta between control and probiotic groups according to LEfSe analysis.	86

Figure 4.6. Core microbiota of distal intestinal mucosa.	87
Figure 5.1. Alpha diversity parameters of the distal intestinal microbiota comparing probiotic and control groups in freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages and mucosa and digesta.	102
Figure 5.2. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the distal intestinal microbiota using UniFrac distances.	104
Figure 5.3. Relative abundance of bacterial communities at class and phylum level.	106
Figure 5.4 . Taxonomic differences in distal intestinal microbiota from digesta between control and probiotic groups according to LEfSe analysis.	109
Figure 5.5. Taxonomic differences in the distal intestinal microbiota from mucosa between control and probiotic groups according to LEfSe analysis.	110
Figure 5.6. Taxonomic differences in the distal intestinal microbiota from digesta in control samples during freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages according to LEfSe analysis.	111
Figure 5.7. Taxonomic differences in the distal intestinal microbiota from mucosa in control samples during freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages according to LEfSe analysis.	112
Figure 5.8. Core microbiota of distal intestinal mucosa.	113
Figure 5.9. Gene expression profile of the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon fed control and probiotic diets during freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages.	114
Figure 6.1. Alpha diversity parameters of the microbiota of the different experimental groups in the mid-intestine and pyloric caeca.	139
Figure 6.2. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine using UniFrac distances.	139
Figure 6.3. Relative abundance of the main bacterial taxa at class and phylum level for pyloric caeca and mid-intestine.	142
Figure 6.4. Taxonomic differences in the microbiota between pyloric caeca and mid-intestine according to LEfSe analysis.	143
Figure 6.4. Taxonomic differences in the microbiota between pyloric caeca and mid-intestine according to LEfSe analysis.Figure 6.5. Taxonomic differences in the microbiota among experimental groups according to LEfSe analysis.	143 144
 Figure 6.4. Taxonomic differences in the microbiota between pyloric caeca and mid-intestine according to LEfSe analysis. Figure 6.5. Taxonomic differences in the microbiota among experimental groups according to LEfSe analysis. Figure 6.6. Core microbiota of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine. 	143 144 146

Figure 6.8. Expression profile of genes related to stress and intestinal permeability for pyloric caeca of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets.	149
Figure 6.9. Expression profile of genes related to inflammatory and antiviral responses for mid-intestine of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets.	150
Figure 6.10. Expression profile of genes related to inflammatory and antiviral responses for mid-intestine of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets.	151
Figure 6.11. Histological parameters of the intestine of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets.	152

List of abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AU	Arbitrary units
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CFU	Colony forming unit
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FCR	Feed conversion ratio
FM	Fishmeal
FO	Fish oil
GALT	Gut-associated lymphoid tissue
GF	Germ-free
GI	Gastro-intestinal
HSI	Hepatosomatic index
HSP	Heat shock protein
HTS	High-throughput sequencing
IEL	Intra epithelial leucocyte
LAB	Lactic acid bacteria
LEfSe	Linear discriminant analysis effect size
MAMPs	Microbe-associated molecular patterns
MS222	Tricaine methane sulphonate
OTU	Operational taxonomic unit
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
Pcna	Proliferation cell nuclear antigen
PCoA	Principal coordinates analysis
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD	Phylogenetic diversity
QIIME	Quantitative insights into microbial ecology
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RO	Rapeseed oil
RT-PCR	Real time polymerase chain reaction
SBM	Soybean meal
SD	Standard deviation
SGR	Specific growth rate
SPC	Soy protein concentrate
WG	Weight gain

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Aquaculture outlook

According to the United Nations, the world population for 2015 was 7.3 billion. Projections suggest that this value will rise to 8.5 billion by 2030 and 9.7 billion in 2050. (United Nations et al., 2015). This rapid growth will bring central challenges regarding food production and food security. Animal production sector, as well as other agriculture segments, are responsible for meeting this challenge, finding a balance between increasing the production efficiently without detriment to fish welfare and environment in order to remain sustainable in the long term.

Fish production (combining capture wild fisheries and aquaculture) has contributed to meet the animal protein demand for the growing human population, being the largest source of animal protein in the world above other sources such as swine, poultry and cattle industries (Figure 1.1a). Fish provide an important portion of the animal protein intake for the global population, according to The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), fish accounted for 20% of the average per capita intake of animal protein for 3.1 billion people, with substantial variations between regions (FAO, 2016). In this context, the role of aquaculture in providing a protein source for human consumption has been remarkable considering that fish production from wild fisheries has remained relatively stable since 1990 and fish consumption per capita has increased from approximately 9.9 kg in the 1996 to 19.1 kg in 2012 (Lem et al., 2014). To meet this demand, fish production has increased from 20 million tonnes in 1950 to 156.2 million tonnes in 2012 (capture fisheries and aquaculture), becoming the world's fastest growing food production sector (Figure 1.1a). Currently, aquaculture provides almost 50% of all fish for human consumption; this value is expected to increase 62% by 2030 (FAO, 2014).



Figure 1.1. World animal production. a) World production of animal protein (1960-2010); b) Fish production from aquaculture and capture for human consumption. Adapted from Béné et al. (2015).

1.1.1. Salmonid aquaculture

Salmonid aquaculture is one of the leading production systems in the aquaculture industry and an appreciated market regarding the quality of the protein provided for human consumption. In the last decades, production of salmonids has expanded in Northern Europe and North and South America (Figure 1.2.). The most important salmonid species are rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Rainbow trout is mainly cultured in Chile, Iran, Turkey and Norway. Meanwhile, Atlantic salmon production is principally based in Norway, Chile, Scotland, Faroe Islands and Canada (FAO-FIGIS). Salmonid aquaculture is characterised for being highly industrialised, and their production is mainly carried out intensively (Asche and Bjorndal, 2011). The success of this industry has been based on investment in technology and innovation to improve the productivity and to provide economic development for coastal communities (Asche and Bjorndal, 2011).

Atlantic salmon is the most commercially important salmonid species, and it is, together with shrimps, the most intensively farmed and traded species in the aquaculture industry (FAO, 2014). Regarding consumption, Atlantic salmon is one of

the top five of the most important products in seafood markets, and it is considered as a high-value species regarding its human nutritional value. As other oily fish, salmon is an excellent source of omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids, which are widely associated with health benefits for humans. Based on this, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) recommends a daily consumption of 250 mg EPA (eicosapentaenoic acid) and DHA (Docosahexaenoic acid) through oily fish (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, 2010).



Figure 1.2. Main salmonid producers in the world between 2000-2014. a) Atlantic salmon; b) rainbow trout. Data from FAO-FIGIS.

1.1.2. Challenges for salmonid industry

Despite the success that the salmonid industry has enjoyed, the industry is currently facing several challenges that have restricted its expansion and sustainability (Torrissen et al., 2011). Some of the main issues affecting the industry are related to the supply of raw materials for feed production and the occurrence of infectious diseases affecting the farmed fish. As salmonids are carnivorous fish, their production

is highly dependent on fishmeal and fish oil for the formulation of diets (Naylor et al., 2009). Due to the variable market prices of fishmeal and fish oil and depletion of wild fisheries, the use of these resources as a unique source of proteins and lipids is reevaluated. Proteins and lipids from plants have been studied and used as alternatives to fishmeal and fish oil in the diet of salmonids (reviewed by Oliva-Teles et al. 2015). However, different studies have confirmed that the presence of antinutritional factors in plant ingredients has an impact on fish health, particularly in carnivorous species, restricting the level of inclusion of these sources to replace marine ingredients for salmonid diet (reviewed by Krogdahl et al. 2010). Furthermore, a high replacement of marine ingredients in diets for salmon may affect its nutritional value affecting the quality of the final product, especially the profile of omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids (Sprague et al., 2016).

On the other hand, salmonids under farm conditions are exposed to a wide variety of potential health threats including parasites, bacteria and virus infections that may have severe consequences for the health and welfare of the fish as well as important social and economic impact. The outbreak of a viral infection, namely infectious salmon anaemia in the Chilean Atlantic salmon production in 2007, it is an example of the devastating social and economic consequences of infectious diseases in the salmonid industry. It was estimated that during the outbreak at least 15,000 jobs were lost and the direct economic impact was approximate US\$ 2 billion from 2007 to 2009 (Mardones et al., 2011). Infectious pancreatic necrosis and pancreas disease are also viral diseases frequently reported to cause important losses for the industry. Additionally, parasites such as sea lice and Amoebic Gill Disease have been major constraints in the salmon industry (Costello, 2009; Shinn et al., 2015). Rainbow trout are also susceptible to different infectious diseases including those caused by bacteria

Flavobacterium psychrophilum and *Piscirickettsia salmonis* but also viral diseases such as viral haemorrhagic septicaemia and infectious haematopoietic necrosis (Dale et al., 2009; Yu et al., 2016). Control of pathogens in salmonids has been traditionally based on the use of immunisation and chemotherapeutic. Nonetheless, some of these approaches have limitations including lack of vaccines for some important viral and bacterial pathogens and antibiotic and pesticide resistance for bacteria and parasite agents respectively. Novel strategies are necessary to tackle the current sanitary problems in salmonids aquaculture. Some suggested strategies are based on holistic approaches including improvement of the farming conditions and fish welfare, manipulation of water and gut microbiota, use of functional feeds (De Schryver et al., 2012), improvement of genetic resistance through selective breeding (Moen, 2010) and increase of efforts to produce new vaccines and novel chemotherapeutic agents.

1.2. The gastrointestinal tract of salmonids

1.2.1. Organisation and function

The normal structure and function of the gastro-intestinal (GI) tract in fishes is similar to other vertebrates with special adaptations that reflect their feeding habits, life cycle, and functional demands. Due to the high phylogenetic diversity in the fish group, only the GI tract of some species, especially fish with relevant importance in aquaculture, have been studied more extensively. The GI tract is essentially a tube that starts in the oral cavity and extends along the fish body until the anus, which is constituted by different regions with important functional and morphological differences.

Even though salmonid species, especially Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, are key species in aquaculture, relatively few studies have been published comprehensively

describing the morphological features of different regions of the GI tract macro and microscopically. In salmonids, the GI tract can be divided into four main regions; oesophagus, stomach, pyloric caeca, and intestine according to macroscopic differences (Sanden et al., 2005). To date, there has been little agreement on the nomenclature used to describe the different anatomical regions of the GI tract of salmonids. Particularly, the number of divisions and names for the intestine is a matter of some confusion and debate. For example, Løkka and Koppang (2016) used zebrafish nomenclature despite the fact that this species does not share the same anatomic regions to salmonids. Thus, these authors suggest to divide the intestine into five parts; pyloric caeca, first segment of the mid-intestine, second segment of the mid-intestine and posterior segment. In contrast, other authors subdivide the intestine into three parts; proximal, mid, and distal intestine (Krogdahl et al., 1999). In this thesis, the nomenclature to describe the intestine of the salmonids used during the experiments will be based on a three-part subdivision as described in Figure 1.3.

Generally, in fish, the GI tract is heavily folded and in contrast with mammals does not have villi or crypts. In salmonids, the proximal intestine is characterised by the presence of blind-ended ducts named pyloric caeca. The number of these structures typically ranges between 50-62 (Peruzzi et al., 2015). The function of pyloric caeca is not entirely clear, but it is hypothesised that they are surface-increasing structures involved in enzymatic breakdown and absorption of fatty acids (Denstadli et al., 2004) as well as glucose, amino acids, and dipeptides (Bakke-McKellep et al., 2000). The mid-intestine has similar histological appearance to the proximal intestine and has been recognised, together with the proximal intestine as the main regions for nutrient absorption. The distal intestine has different histological organisation to the proximal and mid-intestine. Complex circular folds are abundant and larger in the distal intestine

with aggregates of goblet cells at the apical end; mucus production is reported to be higher than in more proximal segments (Løkka et al., 2013). A distinctive histological feature of this region is the presence of enterocytes with supranuclear vacuoles which are associated with uptake of macromolecules and antigen-sample from the lumen (Urán et al., 2008; Løkka and Koppang, 2016). The distal intestine in salmonids has been considered to have major immunological functions (Petrie and Ellis, 2006), higher transcript level of immunological genes has been reported in this segment in comparison with the most proximal parts of the intestine (Løkka et al., 2014).



Figure 1.3. Gastrointestinal tract of rainbow trout showing oesophagus, stomach, and intestine with their three subdivisions: a) proximal intestine: the region where presence of pyloric caeca is observed, from pyloric sphincter to the last pyloric cecum is connected; b) mid-intestine: from the portion immediately after the most distal pyloric caeca to the beginning of the distal intestine which is clearly distinctive from mid-intestine due to the presence of annular rings, darker mucosa and increased diameter; c) distal intestine: from the border of mid-intestine until the most distal part of the intestine.

1.2.2. The intestinal barrier

Traditionally, the most widely studied function of the intestine is related with digestive physiology. However, the intestine in fish, as in other vertebrates, is multifunctional and includes roles in metabolism, osmoregulation, immunity and respiration in some particular species (Wilson and Castro, 2010). The mucosa of the GI tract represents a vast surface area in immediate contact with the external environment. The GI

mucosa has a major role in maintaining the homoeostasis by keeping out the intestinal microbes and other undesirable substances such as toxins. Therefore, an intact intestinal barrier is critical for the fish health. The intestine is constituted by specialised groups of cells such enterocytes, goblet cells, enteroendocrine cells and a wide variety of immune cells (Salinas and Parra, 2015). These cells and their products constitute key players of the so-called intestinal barrier that protect the host against potential pathogens and foreign antigens from the luminal environment. The intestinal barrier also has an important role in controlling the intestinal permeability.

1.2.2.1. Intestinal mucus

The intestinal mucus plays a central role as part of the intestinal barrier, forming a chemical and physical protection for the underlying epithelium. The mucus is produced by the goblet cells, which are abundant in the intestine and localised between enterocytes. The main proteins in the mucus are the mucins, high molecular weight glycoproteins that can bind to the water conferring the typical gel-like properties of the mucus (viscosity, slipperiness, and stickiness).

Recent evidence in mammals suggests a strong interaction between the intestinal microbiota and mucus properties. A comparison between conventionally raised and germ-free (GF) mice indicated important differences in the mucus properties. The mucus from GF mice was easier to penetrate by bacterial-size beads compared to mucus from conventional raise mice, i.e. mice with normal intestinal microbiota. Moreover, the mucus from GF mice that were colonised with the same microbiota as conventionally raised mice took six weeks to become impenetrable (Johansson et al., 2015). This study suggests that the intestinal microbiota may modulate mucus properties. On the other hand, the mucus contributes to control of the microbiota in the intestine. As a result of the constant renewal of the mucus layer, the microorganisms

in the lumen are removed. Nonetheless, the mucus also offers a nutrient-rich microenvironment mainly composed of polysaccharides, which supports the colonisation of commensal bacteria (Fabich et al., 2008).

Even though the main components of the intestinal mucus are the mucins, other active components help to protect the intestine. Two components of the mucus that have been described as necessary for the immunity of the intestine are antimicrobial molecules and immunoglobulins. Some of the antimicrobial molecules detected in the fish gut mucus are lysozyme, complement components, lectins antimicrobial peptides and cytokines (reviewed by Salinas and Parra 2015). The immunoglobulins detected in the mucus of fish are IgM and IgT. Immunoglobulin T has been found to be able to coat a large percentage of luminal bacteria in the intestine in the same way that IgA plays this function in mammals, suggesting that this immunoglobulin has a key role in preventing the attachment and invasion of the intestinal epithelium (Zhang et al., 2010). All these molecules are thought to have an important influence in the protection of intestinal mucosa.

1.2.2.2. Intestinal epithelial barrier

Below the intestinal mucus, there is a barrier composed of a single layer of tightly connected epithelial cells that are specialised in absorbing nutrients such as proteins, fatty acids, and carbohydrates. Despite their role in nutrient absorption, epithelial cells have a sophisticated defence mechanism to respond to potential hazards. For example, epithelial cells are able to sense pathogens using highly conserved receptors and also to release antimicrobial molecules and cytokines to trigger a more complex response together with surrounding immune cells (Pastorelli et al., 2013).

The epithelial cells are connected by several families of intercellular proteins known as tight junctions. These proteins have been widely investigated in human and other mammals (Pastorelli et al., 2013). In salmonids, many of these proteins have also been identified (Reviewed by Sundell and Sundh 2012). Although the function of each of the proteins forming the tight junction in fish in not well understood, similar to other animals, the tight junctions have a central task in coordinating the permeability of the intestinal barrier. The interaction between all the tight junction proteins and membrane lipid composition of enterocytes including aquaporins control the permeability in the fish intestine (Engelund et al., 2013; Madsen et al., 2014). It is important to highlight that the different segments of the intestine differ in specific functions and may thus have different permeability as is the case in humans (Jutfelt, 2011).

1.2.2.3. Intestinal immune barrier

Fish were the first vertebrates to develop an adaptive immune system; however, in contrast with mammals, fish are poikilothermic animals. This high dependence on the surrounding temperature affects the body metabolism including the speed of the immune system to develop a response to a threat. Antibody production after vaccination in cold-water fish such as Atlantic salmon or rainbow trout is only detectable 4 to 6 weeks after immunisation, whereas, a warm-water species such as hybrid striped bass (*Morone saxatilis × Morone chrysops*) is able to develop detectable antibodies one week after vaccination (reviewed by Sommerset et al. 2015). Since the adaptive immune system in fish is considerably slower than the innate immune system in developing an appropriate defence response, it is suggested that the innate immune system in fish is more important for fish than in mammals for defending the host against pathogens.

The immunological response in the intestinal mucosa is mainly coordinated by gutassociated lymphoid tissue (GALT). The gut immune system in teleosts has important differences from that of mammals, especially the absence of Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes as well as in the immunoglobulins involved. As it was mentioned previously IgT is the immunoglobulin present in the intestinal mucus; this immunoglobulin is suggested to be specialised to mucosal immune responses in salmonids (Zhang et al., 2010).

The intestine is constantly exposed to a wide repertory of antigens from pathogenic and commensal microorganisms as well as food and self-antigens. Thus, it is a central role of the GALT, the immune surveillance of the intestine, to determine whether to initiate an immune or tolerance response after being in contact with a specific antigen (Kiron, 2012). After a disruption of the intestinal barrier or the presence of a potential pathogen, the intestine needs a balanced immune response; otherwise, an uncontrolled inflammatory response can take place. The GALT is responsible for preventing and neutralising potentially harmful microorganism or their antigens from reaching the systemic circulation. In order to recognise the pathogenic nature of the threat, the GALT and epithelial cells have conserved receptors, the so-called pattern recognition receptors (PRR), of which the most studied are the Toll-like receptors (TLR) which have been found in different fish species. The TLR are proteins with a pivotal role in the innate immune system. These proteins are able to sense conserved structures from microorganisms; the microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs). MAMPs are small conserved motifs that are unique to microorganisms and essential for their physiology. Some of the MAMPs are part of the cell wall of bacteria (lipopolysaccharide and peptidoglycan) and fungi (β -glucan). Immune cells can express specific TLR for different MAMPs allowing the immune system to differentiate

between self and non-self antigens. However, it is important to highlight that MAMPs are not only present in pathogenic microorganisms but also present in commensal microorganisms inhabiting the intestine. Thus TLR and other PRRs are not able to differentiate between pathogenic and commensal microorganisms. Commensal microorganisms have crucial functions in the intestine and, under normal conditions, they keep a symbiotic relationship with the intestine. Thus, the GALT does not trigger an inflammatory but a tolerogenic response. The mechanisms behind the development of a tolerogenic response to the commensal microorganisms in the intestine by the immune system are poorly understood. Some theories suggest that in mammals tolerance to commensal microorganism is related to the tolerance to food antigens, which occurs in early life stages, and it is mediated by regulatory T cells (Gensollen et al., 2016).

A healthy intestine responds effectively to the potential challenges through a coordinated response between immune and nonimmune cells. The main immune cell populations found in the intestine are: a) lamina propria leukocytes, mainly macrophages, granulocytes, lymphocytes and plasma cells; b) intraepithelial lymphocytes (IEL), predominantly T cells and a few B cells. Other non-immune cells are also important in the intestinal immune response, principally, epithelial cells, goblet cells, and neuroendocrine cells.

1.3. Fish gut microbiota

The GI tract of human and other animals offers excellent conditions for the establishment of a diverse and complex community of microbes including viruses, yeasts, protists and bacteria (Romero et al., 2014). These microbial inhabitants of the gut have a close interaction with the host and are able to modulate different

physiological functions (Weinstock, 2012). The importance of gut microbiota has been extensively studied in humans and other endothermic animals (Grenham et al., 2011). Despite this, remarkable progress has been made in this field in the last 20 years. Several studies have reported that gut microbiota can modulate different physiological and nutritional aspects in fish (reviewed by (Ray et al., 2012; Lazado and Caipang, 2014b; Romero et al., 2014).

Before the application of molecular methods to characterise the gut microbiota in fish, the knowledge of the microbes associated with the gut was based on culturedependent methods (Trust and Sparrow, 1974; Ringø et al., 1995). Culture-dependent methods to assess microbes rely on the ability of the method to grow the microorganism based on their nutritional and physiological requirements. Thus, only a minor percentage of the bacteria are capable of growth on common laboratory media (Spanggaard et al., 2000; Pond et al., 2006). Currently, it is widely accepted that this approach underestimates the microbial population present in the gut as it does not take into account the non-culturable microorganisms as well as those with strict growth conditions under laboratory conditions (reviewed by Zhou et al., 2014) Studies in salmonids have reported variable cultivable bacteria in the gut, 9% to 27% in trout (Navarrete et al., 2010), 3% in juvenile coho salmon (Romero and Navarrete, 2006) and less than 1% in juvenile Atlantic salmon (Navarrete et al., 2009). These studies highlight the importance of using culture-independent methodologies to have a more comprehensive overview of microbial communities in the fish gut.

Molecular techniques based on detection of bacterial DNA are becoming more popular to study the complex bacterial communities such as those found in the fish gut. The use of molecular methodologies such as the 16S rRNA gene clone libraries (Li et al., 2015), denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) (Merrifield et al., 2009),

temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (TGGE/TTGE) (Navarrete et al., 2010), hybridisation technique-fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) (Huber et al., 2004) and next generation sequencing (Desai et al., 2012; Gajardo et al., 2016b) have been used to assess the gut microbiota in fish. The application of molecular tools to study intestinal microbiology has facilitated the understanding of the complex microbial community resident in the fish gut. This new approach has also arisen as a powerful tool to understand how the microbial communities behave in the intestine under both natural and farm environments (Li et al., 2014; Zarkasi et al., 2014).

Traditionally, gut microbiota has been classified according to its ability to colonise the intestinal mucosa as autochthonous for the ones able to colonise the gut and transient bacteria or allochthonous for the microorganisms present in the luminal content or digesta. The concept of autochthony has been adopted from endothermic animals and traditionally used in aquatic organisms. In 1999 Ringø and Birkbeck (1999) suggested that autochthonous microorganisms should meet the following criteria:

a. Be harboured by healthy individuals.

b. Colonise early life stages and persist throughout life.

c. Be found in both free-living and hatchery-cultured fish.

d. Be able to grow anaerobically.

e. Be associated with the epithelial mucosa in the stomach, small intestine or large intestine.

Despite the importance that autochthonous microbiota could have on the host due to the close interaction of these microorganisms with the intestine, many of the recently

published studies using molecular approaches have been focused on investigating the allochthonous microbiota (Larsen et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014; Zarkasi et al., 2014).

To establish the "normal" gut microbial composition in fish has been a complex task as fishes have the highest species diversity in the group of vertebrates with more than 32,000 species distributed in a vast range of different aquatic environments. It is estimated that more than 300 species of finfish are farmed (reviewed by (Teletchea and Fontaine, 2014). Thus, the studies characterising the gut microbiota have been focused on species with high value for aquaculture industry such as tilapia, trout, salmon and carp and these with biomedical interest i.e. zebrafish (reviewed by (Romero et al., 2014). Even more, there is evidence that the gut microbiota could have high differences in the same species under different conditions of farming which has made difficult to establish the concept of a stable shared set of microorganisms commonly known as "core microbiota" of a determined species of fish.

1.3.1. Importance of gut microbiota in fish

To further characterise the microbiota communities established in the gut, valuable evidence has been published on the importance of these microbes in modulating physiological and nutritional aspects in fish (reviewed by (Perez et al., 2010; Ray et al., 2012; Gomez et al., 2013).

Despite a significant number of studies published in the last years on microbial communities in the gut of different fish species, the role that gut microbiota plays in fish nutrition is not completely understood. However, it is well known that many bacteria isolated from the gut of fishes produce exogenous enzymes with the capacity to digest different kinds of nutrients. Recently, Ray et al. (2012) performed

a comprehensive review of the studies investigating the enzymes produced by bacterial microbiota in fish gut. These authors reported a wide number of enzymes produced by fish gut microbiota. The production of enzymes such as amylase, cellulase, lipase, proteases, chitinase and phytase by fish microbiota, suggests an active function of the gut microbiota in the digestive process. Moreover, other studies have demonstrated that bacteria belonging to the gut microbiota produce vitamins (e.g., vitamin B12) and polyunsaturated fatty acids. However, the contribution of these bacteria to the fish nutrition has not been clarified (Nayak, 2010). Nonetheless, Sun et al. (2009) studied the differences in the gut microbiota of two groups of grouper (Epinephelus coioides) with fast or slow growth patterns. Even though the number of gut bacteria was similar between both groups, the presence of different bacterial species in each group suggests that the fast growing grouper had a more beneficial microbiota. Moreover, several authors have demonstrated that manipulation of the gut microbiota of fish using prebiotics and probiotics has a beneficial effect on the growth of different fish species (Avella et al., 2010a; Merrifield et al., 2010a; Ebrahimi et al., 2012).

Studies using gnotobiotic fish have provided relevant information about the role that the microbiota plays in the host. Rawls et al. (2004) determined that commensal bacteria modulate gene expression in the digestive tract in a GF zebrafish model. The same study evidenced that the intestine-associated microbiota stimulates intestinal epithelial cell proliferation. Moreover, other studies in zebrafish have reported the importance that microbiota has in the metabolism and absorption of fatty acid (Semova et al., 2012).
1.3.2. Effect of stress on intestine and associated microbiota

Farming conditions are unavoidably stressful for fish. For this reason, their impact cannot be denied on physiological functions which *in extremis* can cause, as a consequence, suboptimal production conditions represented in high mortality, susceptibility to diseases and low growth and reproduction performance (Pickering, 1993; Iwama, 1997). Therefore, the recognition of stress as an inherent part of finfish husbandry management and actions to mitigate their effects is a central challenge to improve the fish welfare and productivity of the aquaculture sector. Therefore, practices directed to mitigate negative stress conditions will be reflected in benefits for farmers, consumers and fish welfare (Conte, 2004).

Despite a large number of studies on the stress response in fish, the available information regarding stress effects on the GI tract is scarce. The first studies in this field were focused on describing the histopathological changes on the GI tract produced under different stress conditions such as transportation, catching and dominance hierarchies (Ringø et al., 2014). To the author's knowledge the first known study about the effect of stress on GI tract was carried out by (Peters, 1982); this author reported that social stress in European eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) caused an increase of mucus secretion and ultrastructural damage of gastric cells in the stomach. Another study determined that stress caused by catching and transport was associated with loss of goblet cells and columnar epithelial cells in the intestinal mucosa of carp (*Cyprinus carpio, Cyprinus carpio haematopterus*) (Szakolczai, 1997). Afterwards, Ringø et al. (1997) observed that individuals of Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus* L.) with distinct hierarchy formation had changes in the diversity and total number of cultivable intestinal bacteria. These changes were attributed to stress

conditions caused by dominant individuals upon subordinate individuals. Unfortunately, this research did not use stress markers to differentiate the physiological response between dominant and subordinate individuals.

Other investigations evaluated the influence of acute stress on the GI tract of Atlantic salmon (Olsen et al., 2002), rainbow trout (Olsen et al., 2005) and Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua* L.) (Olsen et al., 2008). These studies used a more comprehensive approach to evaluating the effect of stress, taking into account cortisol levels and ultrastructural changes in the intestine determined by electron microscopic examination, in comparison with previous research (Peters, 1982; Szakolczai, 1997; Ringø and Birkbeck, 1999).

Olsen *et al.* (2002) reported that acute stress conditions in Atlantic salmon induced substantial changes in the ultrastructure of enterocytes lining. This finding was also associated with damage of the intercellular junctional complexes. Furthermore, the intestinal microbiota was also affected by acute stress. The population level of cultivable adherent bacteria from hindgut tissue decreased, and an increase in the faeces was observed in comparison to non-stressed controls. Similar results in gut histology and intestinal microbiota were reported in the GI tract of rainbow trout affected by acute stress, in which an increase in the intestinal permeability was also noted (Olsen et al., 2005). These studies provide valuable evidence that stress has a significant influence on GI tract function affecting its structure and associated microbiota.

Significant variations regarding stress response and its effect on GI tract between fish species have been reported; this makes difficult to extrapolate results from another fish. Research carried out on Atlantic cod using similar experimental conditions as the

previously mentioned studies in salmonids (Olsen et al., 2002; Olsen et al., 2005), determined that acute stress not produce significant changes in the ultrastructure of GI tract. The latter could indicate that Atlantic cod is more resistant (tolerant) to the evaluated stress conditions in contrast to salmonid species (Olsen et al., 2008). Even though acute stress did not affect gut histology of Atlantic cod, there was an increase in the intestinal permeability and partial alterations in intestinal microbiota.

More recently, other authors evaluated the effects of chronic stress on the intestinal mucosal immune system (Niklasson et al., 2011) and Intestinal barrier function (Sundh et al., 2009; Sundh et al., 2010) in Atlantic salmon. These studies demonstrated that as well as acute stress, chronic stress also involves significant alterations in the intestine of salmonids. Furthermore, Sundh *et al.* (2010) suggested the use of the intestinal barrier function as a marker to assess chronic stress in Atlantic salmon, after reporting that is possible to detect different morphological and functional changes in the intestine of fish subjected to long-term stressful conditions.

Even though there is evidence of the influence of acute and chronic stress on the function of GI tract in fish, there is still scarce information about the effect of stress on the intestinal microbiota. It is not clear which mechanisms modulate the bacterial population level in fish submitted to stress conditions. However, some authors suggest that a peel-off effect of intestinal mucus may lead to the decrease in the number of adherent microbes in the gut and subsequent increase in the faeces after stress conditions, (Olsen et al., 2002; Olsen et al., 2005).

This last topic deserves further research since the mentioned studies only made use of conventional microbiological techniques based on culture methods to detect intestinal microbiota. This approach does not reflect the non-culturable and obligate

anaerobic microbiota and thus underestimates the potential impact on the entire community. Several studies have noted the importance of using culture - independent techniques such as molecular methods to evaluate microbiota, revealing that the use of culture methods only provides no information on non-culturable organisms that could also play a major role in the intestine (Pond et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2014).

1.3.3. Can probiotics mitigate the stress effects on fish?

The beneficial effects of probiotic administration are well documented in fish. Several authors have reported significant evidence of beneficial microbes with potential to improve growth performance, immune system, disease resistance, and health status (reviewed by (Lauzon et al., 2014; Pérez-Sánchez et al., 2014; Akhter et al., 2015)). Thus, probiotic supplementation of diets, which potentially may improve farmed fish conditions, has gained significant attention (Tinh et al., 2008; Dimitroglou et al., 2011; Lazado and Caipang, 2014a). Besides these previously known effects of probiotic in fish, recent studies have reported that different probiotics species may ameliorate the adverse effect of stress in fish (Table 1.1.). However, according to Mohapatra et al. (2013), there have been only a few studies that have tried to find the mechanism in which probiotic modulates stress in fish.

Probiotic	Fish species	Effect of probiotic on stress parameter evaluated	Reference	es	
L. rhamnosus	Amphiprion ocellaris	Lower gene expression of glucocorticoid receptor and <i>hsp70</i>	(Avella e 2010b)	et al	I.,
B. subtilis, B. licheniformis and B. pumilus	Sparus aurata	Lower gene expression of glucocorticoid receptor and <i>hsp70</i>	(Avella e 2010a)	et al	I.,
E. faecium	Solea solea	Lower gene expression of hsp70 Increased cortisol levels	(Avella e 2011)	et al	١.,

Table 1.1. Studies assessing the effect of probiotic on fish stress responses.

L. delbrueckii delbrueckii,	Dicentrarchus Iabrax, L.	Decreased cortisol levels	(Carnevali et al., 2006)
B. subtilis, B. licheniformes, L. acidophilus and S. cerevisiae	Carnegiella strigata	Decreased cortisol levels	(Gomes et al., 2008)
<i>B. subtilis, B licheniformes, L. acidophilus and S. cerevisiae</i>	Paracheirodon axelrodi	Decreased cortisol levels Increased survival after transportation	(Gomes et al., 2009)
<i>B. subtilis, Lactococcus lacti and S. cerevisiae</i>	Labeo rohita	Increased of antioxidant enzymes Low glucose levels Less histopathological changes in gills and liver after fenvalerate exposure	(Mohapatra et al., 2012)
E. faecium	Solea	Increased cortisol levels Modulation of gene expression of hypothalamic– pituitary-interrenal axis	(Palermo et al., 2011)
L. fructivorans and L. plantarum	Sparus aurata	Decreased cortisol levels and mortality after pH stress test High gene expression of hsp70	(Rollo et al., 2006)
<i>B. subtilis, L. acidophilus, C. butyricum and S. cerevisiae</i>	Paralichthys olivaceus	High survival after pathogen challenge tests. Increased of tolerance after stress tests	(Taoka et al., 2006)
S. cerevisiae	Ictalurus punctatus	Low cortisol and lactate levels after low-water stress	(Welker et al., 2007)

L.= Lactobacillus, B. = Bacillus, E. = Enterococcus, S = Saccharomyces, C = Clostridium, hsp70 = 70 kDa Heat Shock Protein gene expression

Probiotics have been demonstrated to be effective in decreasing the adverse effects of stress caused by transport (Gomes et al., 2008; Gomes et al., 2009), pesticide (fenvalerate) (Mohapatra et al., 2012), adverse pH (Rollo et al., 2006), heat shock and pathogen challenge (Taoka et al., 2006) and low water level (Welker et al., 2007). The ability of probiotics to ameliorate the negative effect of stress could become a valuable tool to improve the welfare of fish under culture conditions. Studies in mammals using GF and specific pathogen-free mice as a model suggest that the gut microbiota could modulate the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal response to stress (Sudo, 2006).

Some authors have reported that probiotics can modulate stress markers such as cortisol levels and gene expression of *hsp70*, glucocorticoid receptor and genes related with the hypothalamic-pituitary-interrenal axis (Rollo et al., 2006; Avella et al., 2010a; Palermo et al., 2011). Nonetheless, the correlations of stress markers are not always consistent. For instance, a study carried by (Rollo et al., 2006) reported that *S. aurata* fed a diet supplemented with a probiotic had a decrease of cortisol level and higher gene expression of *hsp70* after a pH stress test in comparison with the control group fed the same diet without probiotic. Controversially, these results differ from the study reported by Avella et al. (2011), who demonstrated that the use of *E. faecium* as probiotic in *S. solea* resulted in an increase of cortisol levels accompanied with low gene expression of *hsp70*. Therefore, further research is necessary to understand how stress markers are regulated by probiotics.

Since only a few of the previously mentioned studies have investigated whether probiotics can modulate the gut microbiota and the intestinal barrier function, a holistic approach using different techniques such as histology, electronic microscopy and metagenomic techniques is recommended in order to gain a wider understanding of the relations between stress, probiotics, gut microbiota and the intestinal barrier.

1.3.4. Use of Pediococcus acidilactici in salmonids

Pediococcus acidilactici is a Gram-positive cocci that belongs to the lactic acid bacteria (LAB) group, and is closely related to *Lactobacillus casei/paracasei* as described by (Holzapfel et al., 2006). Members of the *Pediococcus* genus are homofermentative and use glucose to produce lactic acid but not CO₂. The typical cell morphology of species belonging to the *Pediococcus* genus differs from all other LAB due to the spherical shape (0.5-0.8 µm) and the ability to divide into two planes at right angles to

form tetrads. In contrast with other LAB such as *Leuconostoc* and *Streptococcus*, *Pediococcus* never form chains. However, *Pediococcus* can also be found in pairs or single cells. The growth of *P. acidilactici* occurs in a wide range of conditions and is considered a facultative aerobic able to growth under microaerophilic conditions (Holzapfel et al., 2006).

P. acidilactici have been important in the food industry due to its positive role in the fermentation of different foods and alcoholic beverages where often is associated with other LAB. Several authors have reported the presence of *P. acidilactici* in the GI tract of various animals including birds, fish and freshwater prawns (Holzapfel et al., 2006).

In aquaculture, *P. acidilactici* has been used as a probiotic under the product name Bactocell®, which contains the single live strain MA18/5M. This strain was isolated in France from natural pasture-Gramineae (Barreau et al., 2012). The use of Bactocell® in animal feed as a probiotic is well documented in different animal species including pigs and chicken (Di Giancamillo et al., 2008). The use of Bactocell® in aquaculture as a probiotic for salmonids and shrimps was approved in 2009 by EFSA based on studies reporting its beneficial effects to improve vertebral malformations in rainbow trout as well as improvement of growth and disease resistance in shrimps. Subsequently, EFSA approved Bactocell® use for other fish species, and currently, this product is the only live microorganism approved in the European Union to be used as a probiotic in fish. The first study using *P. acidilactici* in fish was probably conducted by Gatesoupe (2002) in *Pollachius pollachius*. Several subsequent studies have reported the beneficial use of this microorganism in different aquatic species (reviewed by Merrifield and Carnevali (2014)).

The use of *P. acidilactici* in salmonids (rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon) is well documented. Nonetheless, the number of studies in rainbow trout outnumbers the research carried out in Atlantic salmon as only two studies have been reported so far. The studies evaluating the effect of *P. acidilactici* in Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout are summarised in Table 1.2. These studies suggest that *P. acidilactici* can positively influence the health of salmonids under different conditions. However, the mechanisms by which this bacterium induce the beneficial effects on fish have not to date been fully demonstrated.

 Species	Stage/ duration of administration	Route of administration and dose	Parameters investigated	Main effects observed	Reference
Atlantic salmon (<i>Salmo salar</i>)	250 ± 13 g / 63 days	Diet ¹ 0.035% (3.03 x 10 ⁶ cfu g ⁻¹).	GM, GH, IR, GP, gene expression antiviral response	↓total bacterial count ↑ microbial diversity digesta anterior ↑ Villi length ↑ IELs ↑ IL1b, TNFa, IL8, TLR3 and Mx-1 → Growth performance ↑Serum lysozyme activity	(Abid et al., 2013)
	150 g / 21 days	Dietary (1.0 x 10 ⁷ cfu g ⁻¹)	GH Gene and protein expression inflammatory response in distal intestine	 ↑ Goblet cells, intraepithelial lymphocytes, supranuclear vacuoles and immune cell in lamina propria ↓ expression of genes related to inflammatory response ↑ recovery of inflammatory challenge Modulation of expression of proteins in distal intestine 	(Vasanth et al., 2015)
Rainbow trout (<i>Oncorhynchus mykiss</i>)	Larval stage / 20 days group B1 and 5 months group B5	Diet (1.5 ± 0.4 x10 °)	SR, VM, GP, GM	 → Growth performance → Survival ↓malformed fish fed group B5 → Aerobic bacterial counts hindgut 	(Aubin et al., 2005)
	240-250 g / 14 days	Diet ² (1.0 x10 ⁻⁷)	PA with <i>Vibrio</i> <i>anguillarum,</i> GM, GH	↑ leukocytes levels and goblet cells. ↓ Reduction of	(Harper et al., 2011)

			epithelial tissue damage <i>P. acidilactici</i> colonised and outcompeted <i>V.</i> <i>anguillarum</i> in the intestinal mucosa			
15.04 ± 0.52 g / 8 weeks	Diet ^{1,2} (3.71 x10 ⁻⁷)	AEA, DR to Staphylococcus iniae	 ↑ Catalase, glutathione S- transferase, glutathione reductase ↑ Resistance to S. iniae challenge 	(Hoseinifar 2016)	et	al.,
15.04 ± 0.52 g / 8 weeks	Diet ^{1,2} (3.71 x10 ⁻⁷)	gp, gm, hp	 → GP probiotic group ↑ GP synbiotic group → HP ↑ Total aerobic bacteria and presumptive autochtonous LAB 	(Hoseinifar 2015a)	et	al.,
15.04 ± 0.52 g / 8 weeks	Diet ^{1.2} (3.71 x10 ⁻⁷)	IR, PA, DR	 ↑ Serum alternative complement activity ↑ Respiratory burst activity ↑ Skin mucus protein ↑ Bactericidal activity 	(Hoseinifar 2015b)	et	al.,
Day 1 larval stage / 7 weeks	Diet (7 × 10 ⁻⁵ cfu g ⁻¹)	GM, IR	No modulation of gut microbiota Minor up-regulation in transcription of immune genes (MBL 2, CD8 and FOXP3b).	(Ingerslev 2014b)	et	al.,
9 g / 10 weeks	Diet (2.88 \times 10^7cfu g 1 and 1.28 \times 10^8 cfu g $^{-1})$	GP, GM, BC, IR, FU	↑ K-factor ↑ leukocytes count Colonization of intestinal mucosa	(Merrifield 2011)	et	al.,

100 g / 5 weeks	Diet (1 × 10 ⁷ cfu g⁻¹)	GH, GM	 ↑ Microvilli length in the proximal intestine ↑ Endocytic activity in the proximal and distal intestinal mucosa 	(Merrifield 2010d)	et	al.,
16.4 ± 0.4 g / 8 weeks	Diet (low doses 2.6 x 10^4 cfu g ⁻¹ ; high doses 7.2 x 10^4 cfu g ⁻¹)	BC, GP, IR, GI, GH, FU	→-BC ↑ feed conversion and protein efficiency in high doses group ↑ Dry matter and protein retention in high doses group	(Ramos 2015)	et	al.,
16.4 ± 0.4 g / 56 days (GP) / 96 days (GM)	Dietary (low doses 2.6 x 10 ⁴ cfu g ⁻¹ ; high doses 7.2 x 10 ⁴ cfu g ⁻¹)	GP, GM	 ↑ Alternative complement activity → GP ↑ Diversity (Shannon index) in low doses group 	(Ramos 2013)	et	al.,

 (Ontaining index)

 Ind⁴ cfu g⁻¹)

 Iow doses group

 GH - gut histology (inclusive electronic microscopy), GM - gut microbiota, GP - growth performance, SR - survival rate, PA - pathogen antagonism, VM

 - vertebral malformation, IR - immunological response, HP - haematological parameters, DR - disease resistance, AEA - antioxidant enzymes activity, BC - body composition, FU - feed utilization

 ¹Used in a synbiotic
 ² Ex-vivo

1.4. Thesis aims and objectives

The aim of this research programme was to evaluate the effect on the intestinal microbiota of challenging conditions that salmonids encounter during the farming process and to evaluate the potential beneficial influence of the probiotic *Pediococcus acidilactici* MA18/5M.

In order to achieve the main aim of this project four objectives were formulated:

Objective 1: Improve the knowledge of the bacterial microbiota in the intestine of salmonids.

Objective 2: Determine the effect that different stressors have on the intestine and associated microbiota.

Objective 3: Investigate if *P. acidilactici* can promote beneficial effects on the intestine of salmonids and mitigate the adverse effects of challenging farming events.

Objective 4: Evaluate the interaction between *P. acidilactici* and bacterial microbiota in the intestine.

CHAPTER 2. GENERAL MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Overview

This chapter describes the general procedures and analytical techniques used in the different experiments presented in this thesis. Experimental design, diet formulation and other methods unique to specific experiments are described in detail in each chapter and therefore are not presented here. The experiments conducted in this research programme were carried out on two salmonid species; rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). A summary of the experimental conditions for each experiment is presented in Table 2.1. All experimental work was conducted in accordance with the Plymouth University ethics committee and approved by the different national authorities according to the place where the experiment was carried out.

Experiment/Chapter	Fish	Duration experiment	Aquarium system	Location
1/Chapter 3	Rainbow trout	12 weeks	Freshwater recirculation system	Plymouth, UK
2/Chapter 4	Rainbow trout	4 weeks	Freshwater recirculation system	Plymouth, UK
3/Chapter 5	Atlantic Salmon	10 weeks	Freshwater and seawater open system	Tromsø, Norway
4/Chapter 6	Atlantic Salmon	12 weeks	Seawater recirculation system	Hirtshals, Denmark

Table 2.1. General conditions of experiments.

2.2. Measurement of growth related parameters

Growth performance and feed utilisation were assessed using the following parameters; percentage wet weight gain (WG), specific growth rate (SGR) and feed conversion ratio (FCR). Parameters were calculated using the following formulae:

WG (g/ fish) = FW-IW

SGR (%) = (Ln FW-Ln IW) / t x 100

FCR = FI / WG

Where FW is the final weight (g), IW is the initial weight (g), t is the number of feeding days, FI is feed intake (g), WG is wet weight gain, Σ Temp is the sum of average daily temperatures (°C) and Ln = natural logarithm value.

2.3. Fish dissection, sampling and samples storage

Fish were euthanised by immersion in overdose (200 mg L⁻¹ water for 15 min) of buffered tricaine methane sulfonate (MS222; Pharmaq, Fordingbridge, UK) followed by the destruction of the brain. Only fish with digesta content throughout the intestine were sampled to ensure exposure to the diet. Under aseptic conditions, fish was opened by the mid-line, and the entire intestinal tract was dissected and adipose tissue removed. The intestine was divided into proximal, mid and distal intestine as described in Figure 2.1. However, not all regions were sampled in each experiment. In order to be consistent during the samplings, each set of samples for a specific analysis were always taken from the same intestinal region of all fish. For histological analysis, an intestinal portion of approximately 0.5 mm was excised and placed into a tube with 10% buffered formalin for 48 hours and then transferred to 70% ethanol. For microbiological analysis, digesta was obtained from mid or distal intestinal region separately by gentle squeezing the intestine with a sterile forceps into individual sterile 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes. Mucosal tissue was washed thoroughly three times with sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.3), and a portion of 0.5 mm of the intestine was excised and kept in sterile 1.5 ml tubes. For proximal intestine, two pyloric caeca were excised from the base, and the whole structure (mucosa and digesta) was stored without washing with PBS. Samples for microbiological analysis were snap-frozen in

liquid nitrogen, transported on dry ice and subsequently stored at -20 °C until DNA extraction. For gene expression analysis mucosa samples were taken of each region; 0.5 mm from the mid and distal intestine and two pyloric caeca from the proximal intestine. Thereafter, samples were immersed in RNALater (Ambion, Carlsbad CA, USA) at a ratio of 1:4, transported at room temperature for 24-48 h and then stored at -80 °C until RNA extraction.



Figure 2.1. Intestinal regions used for sampling.

2.4. Microbiota analysis

2.4.1. DNA extraction and polymerase chain reaction

DNA was extracted from digesta or mucosa using the QIAamp® Stool Mini Kit (Qiagen, Crawley, UK) following the modified protocol summarised by (Falcinelli et al., 2015) which involves cell lysis, inhibitor removal, protein removal, precipitation, cleaning and DNA recovery. All steps were performed with sterile and molecular grade reagents. Centrifugation was always done at maximum speed (17,000 x *g*). Lysozyme solution (500 μ l of 50 mg ml⁻¹ in TE buffer) was added to each sample and then incubated for 30 min at 37°C to enhance lysis of Gram-positive bacteria. Subsequently, 800 μ L of ASL buffer was added, and then the sample was vortexed and incubated for 10 min

at 90°C followed by centrifugation for 1 min. To remove inhibitors, the supernatant was transferred to a new tube containing a half tablet of inhibitEX provided by the kit, thereafter the sample mixture was vortexed, incubated for 1 min at room temperature and then centrifuged for 3-4 min. A volume of 230 µl of the supernatant was pipetted into a new tube and subsequently 230 µl of AL buffer and 20 µl of proteinase K were added to the tubes, which were incubated at 56°C for 60 mins. After incubation, 460 µl of ice-cold phenol solution was added to the sample, then mixed by hand and incubated on ice for 10 min. Thereafter, 460 µl of chloroform was added to the tubes and the sample centrifuged for 5 min. The upper aqueous layer was carefully pipetted into a new tube, and the chloroform step repeated. To precipitate the DNA, 230 µl of ice-cold isopropanol and 96 µl of sodium acetate 3 M were added and the sample for 15 min at 4°C. The DNA pellet was washed with 70% ethanol twice and air dried for 10 mins and then diluted in 30 µl of buffer TE. The DNA quality and yield was checked spectrophotometrically (Nanodrop 2000 Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, USA).

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed in duplicate targeting the hypervariable region V1-V2 of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene using primers reported by Roeselers et al. (2011) as follows: forward primer 27F (5'-aga gttt gat cmt ggc tca g-3'), reverse primers 338R-I (5'-gcw gcc tcc cgt agg agt-3') and 338R-II (5'-gcw gcc acc cgt agg tgt-3'). Reverse primers were mixed and used at the same equimolar concentrations as that of forward primer. Primers were synthesised by Eurofins MWG (Ebersberg, Germany). All PCR reactions were performed using GeneAmp® PCR System 9700 (Perkin-Elmer, CA, USA). PCR reactions were carried out using 25 µl BioMix[™] Red Taq (Bioline, UK), 0.5 µl of each primer (50 pmol/µl), 1 µl DNA template and adjusted to a final volume of 50 µl molecular biology-grade water. Each reaction

included a negative control (sterile, molecular grade water as template). A touchdown PCR was conducted at the following conditions: initial denaturation at 94°C for 7 min, then 10 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 63°C for 30 s (decreasing 1°C every cycle) and 72°C for 30 s; this was followed by 25 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 53°C for 30 s and 72°C for 30 s; final extension at 72°C for 10 min. The PCR products were checked for size and specificity by electrophoresis on 1.5 % w/v agarose gel. The duplicate PCR reactions were combined and purified with QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA), following manufacturer's protocol. Purified samples were evaluated with Bioanalyzer previous to amplicon library preparation.

2.4.2. Amplicon library and sequencing

Prior to Ion Torrent PGM sequencing, the amplicons were assessed for fragment concentration using an Ion Library Quantitation Kit (Life Technologies[™], USA), then concentrations were adjusted to 26 pM. Amplicons were attached to Ion Sphere Particles using Ion PGM Template OT2 400 kit (Life Technologies[™], USA). Sequencing was performed with Ion Xpress Barcode Adapters (1-16 Kit; Life Technologies[™]) and a 318[™] chip (Life Technologies[™]) on an Ion Torrent Personal Genome Machine (Life Technologies[™]). Sequences were binned by sample and quality filtered within the PGM software (Torrent Suite[™] software life Technology) to remove polyclonal and low-quality reads. Fastq files for each sample were exported for the subsequent bioinformatics analysis.

2.4.3. High-throughput sequence analysis

The quality and number of reads for each sample were assessed using FASTQC v0.11.4 (<u>http://www.bioinformatics.bbsrc.ac.uk/projects/fastqc/</u>). Raw sequences were

filtered by quality using FASTXToolkit (http://hannonlab.cshl.edu/fastx_toolkit). Only sequences with at least 80% of the sequence had a minimum acceptable Phred quality score of >20 were retained. Reads which passed all quality control steps were concatenated into a single FASTA file for subsequent processing. Filtered quality sequences were analysed using the Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology (QIIME) software version 1.8.0 (Caporaso et al., 2010b). Sequences were clustered in OTUs using a 97% sequence similarity threshold using open-reference OTU picking approach with USEARCH pipeline version 6.1 (Edgar, 2010). This pipeline involves clustering, chimera checking, and quality filtering. The taxonomy was assigned using RDP classifier (Wang et al., 2007) and Greengenes database gg_13_8_otus (DeSantis et al., 2006). The OTUs representative sequences were aligned using Pynast (Caporaso et al., 2010a) with a minimum sequence length threshold of 150 bp. A phylogenetic tree was constructed with FastTree (Price et al., 2010) Finally, the resulting OTU table was filtered at 0.005% to remove singletons (OTUs represented by only a single sequence) and reduce spurious OTUs (Navas-Molina et al., 2013; Flynn et al., 2015). In addition, the reads classified as Streptophyta was removed from the dataset and not included in the analyses as member assigned to this group are considered to be contamination from diet and water and not part of the gut microbiota (Zarkasi et al., 2014; Estruch et al., 2015). The core microbiota was calculated in QIIME and defined as the OTUs shared in 80% of each experimental group. A Venn diagram representing the microbiota constructed in core was http://bioinfogp.cnb.csic.es/tools/venny/index.html (Oliveros, 2007). Diversity metrics analyses were performed in QIIME rarefying all the samples at a depth of the least number of sequences throughout the samples. Alpha diversity of each sample was calculated using three metrics: Chao1, Observed species and whole-tree phylogenetic

diversity. Beta diversity was determined between samples with weighted and unweighted UniFrac (Lozupone and Knight, 2005). PCoA plots from beta diversity results were visualised with EMPeror (Vázquez-Baeza et al., 2013).

2.5. Intestinal gene expression

Table 2.2. summarise the set of genes used for gene expression in Atlantic salmon, in Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 to evaluate the effect of <u>*P. acidilactici*</u> and the replacement of fish oil by vegetable oil in the intestinal health.

Gene – gene symbol	Encoding protein	Specific functions	Studies in salmonids
il-1b	interleukin-1b	Pro-inflammatory cytokine with effect in inflammation and immune defense response	(Lilleeng et al., 2009)
anx a1	Annexin-a1	Anti-inflammatory properties by inhibiting biosynthesis of eicosanoids.	(Vasanth et al., 2015)
il-17a	Interleukin-17a	IL-17A is a pro-inflammatory cytokine produced predominantly by activated T cells.	(Marjara et al., 2012)
tnf-a	Tumor necrosis factor-a	Pro-inflammatory cytokine with effect in inflammation and immune defense response.	(Vasanth et al., 2015)
ifn-a	Interferon-a	Inhibit virus replication and modulate immune response.	(Niklasson et al., 2014)
mx1	Mx1 protein	Antiviral activity against a wide range of RNA viruses and some DNA viruses.	(Niklasson et al., 2014)
tlr-3	Toll-like receptor-3	Activation of antiviral immune response through recognition of double-stranded RNA	(Abid et al., 2013)
hsp-70	70-kDa heat shock protein	Regulation of stress tolerance and induce anti-apoptotic activity under cellular stress conditions	(Bakke- McKellep et al., 2007)
pcna	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen	Regulation of cell cycle as well as participation in the synthesis and reparation of DNA.	(Gajardo et al., 2016a)
aqp-8ab	Aquaporin-8ab	Intestinal water absorption	(Engelund et al., 2013)
claudin-15 claudin-25b occludin jam-1b	Claudin-15 Claudin-25b Occludin Junctional adhesion molecule-1B	Formation and regulation of the tight junction	(Hu et al., 2016)
e-cadherin	Epithelial cadherin	Mechanical integrity of intestinal epithelium	(Hu et al., 2016)

Table 2.2. Genes used for gene expression analysis

2.5.1. RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis

RNA from intestine sections was extracted using TRI reagent (Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions, with some modifications. Briefly, 30-50 mg of tissue were removed from RNAlater, immersed into TRI reagent, homogenised by vortex for 30 s and incubated for 10 min at room temperature. Then, 200 µl of chloroform were added to the tubes, shaken vigorously for 15 seconds and incubated at room temperature for 10 mins. The samples were centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 15 min. The upper aqueous phase was transferred into a tube containing an equal volume of molecular grade isopropanol. The mixture was then vortexed and centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 15 min at 4-8°C. The supernatant was discarded, and the precipitated RNA pellets were washed using 1 ml of 75% ethanol. The samples were gently mixed by hand and then centrifuged at 10,000 x q for 10 min at room temperature. After the final wash, the ethanol was removed, and the pellets were airdried for 5 - 10 min and then resuspended in 30 µl of diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC) water. To remove any contaminating genomic DNA, the RNA was treated with DNase (TURBO DNA-free[™], Ambion) following the manufacturer's instructions. The yield and quality of RNA in each sample were determined by measuring 260/280 nm and 260/230 absorbance ratios (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, USA). The integrity of RNA was confirmed by running the RNA extracted from the samples in a 1 % agarose gel. RNA samples were stored at -80 °C. A total amount of 1 µg of RNA was used for cDNA synthesis, using iScript[™] cDNA synthesis kit (Biorad, CA, USA) following manufacturer's instructions. For each set of samples, a negative control was included by performing a reaction with a pool of randomly selected RNA from samples of each experiment without the reverse transcriptase enzyme to control genomic DNA

contamination. The synthesised cDNA and negative controls were diluted in molecular grade water and stored at -20°C.

2.5.2. Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR)

All Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) reactions were performed with the SYBR green method using a StepOne Plus[™] Real-time PCR thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies) and with the QuantStudio® 12K Flex Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies). Duplicate qPCR reactions were set on 384-well or 96-well plates by mixing 2.0 µl of cDNA template (1/10 or 1/20 dilution according to the experiment), 3.75 µl iTaq[™] Universal SYBR® Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, CA, USA), 0.225 µl of forward and reverse primer (0.3 µM) and 1.3 µl of molecular grade water (Ambion). The thermal profile for all reactions was 10 min at 95 °C and then 40 cycles of 15 s at 95 °C, 60 s at 60°C. Fluorescence monitoring occurred at the end of each cycle, and additional melting curve analysis was performed using a temperature range of 60 °C to 95 °C at 0.3 °C intervals. For each set of samples and genes evaluated two controls were used. First, a no-template control to ensure the absence of DNA contamination in the reagents and environment and second, a no reverse transcription control prepared during cDNA synthesis as previously described.

2.5.3. Primer Optimization

All the primers for gene expression were synthesised by Eurofins MWG (Ebersberg, Germany). Primer sequences were designed using Primer3 (Rozen and Skaletsky, 1999) or obtained from previous publications. Primer specificity for reference and target genes were evaluated *in silico* by the tool Primer-BLAST (Ye et al., 2012) available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer-blast/. Specificity was also

checked by a melting curve after each qPCR assay and subsequent agarose gel electrophoresis to confirm the amplification of a single product with the expected molecular size and absence of primer-dimers. Amplification efficiency (*E*) was determined for each primer set using a standard curve based on five dilution series from cDNA (1:4 or 1:10), which was prepared by pooling an equal amount of cDNA from a representative number of samples from the same intestinal region. Each dilution was run in triplicate, and linear regression of the standard curve was constructed with quantification cycle (C_q) values; R-squared (*P*²) and slope were also calculated. The amplification efficiency was calculated with the formula: (*E* = 10(^{1/-slope}) – 1). *P*² values and *E* for all primer sets were >0.97 and 1.83-2.04, respectively. For information relating to the primer sequences, qPCR efficiency, primer annealing, amplicon sizes, references and target genes, refer to individual chapters.

2.5.4. Data analysis

The raw C_q values for reference and target genes were exported to Microsoft Excel and corrected by qPCR efficiency. Reference genes were chosen by ranking them according to overall coefficient variation and their interspecific variance as described by (Kortner et al., 2011). Gene expression for each gene was normalised to the geometric average expression of at least two stable reference genes using corrected raw C_q . Normalised gene expression of each target gene was calculated from corrected raw C_q (Pfaffl, 2001).

2.6. Statistical analysis

To investigate experimental group differences between bacterial communities (beta diversity), the software package PRIMER-E v.6 was used (PRIMER-E, Plymouth,

UK)(Clarke and Gorley, 2006). Beta diversity was calculated using UniFrac. Weighted and unweighted UniFrac were calculated in QIIME, and dissimilarity matrixes were imported to PRIMER-E to evaluate significant differences between groups by permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA). Differences in relative abundance of OTUs between groups were analysed with LEfSe (Segata et al., 2011), available at http://huttenhower.sph.harvard.edu/galaxy/ using the default parameters. This tool first identifies significant differences among experimental groups and then evaluates whether these differences are consistent with other features; for example, the phylogenetic affiliation of the OTUs. LEfSe implements different statistics test involving firstly, a non-parametric factorial Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test; secondly, a pair-wise test using Wilcoxon sum-rank test; and finally, linear discriminant analysis (LDA) to estimate the effect size of each differentially abundant OTU. The results of all other analysis presented in this thesis (i.e. growth related parameters, gene expression, histological evaluation and alpha diversity) were analysed using SPSS version 18 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The data were checked for normality (Shapiro-Wilk test) and homogeneity of variance (Levene). Data fulfilling parametric test assumptions were analysed either by t-test or analysis of variance (ANOVA). Pairwise comparison was performed to detect differences between individual treatments using Tukey-Kramer HSD post hoc test. Data that did not fulfil parametric test assumptions were log transformed to achieve normality or otherwise analysed with a non-parametric test such as Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis. All data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD), and significance was accepted at $P < \infty$ 0.05.

CHAPTER 3. Evaluation of *Pediococcus acidilactici* in rainbow trout under different inclusion levels of alternative plant proteins sources in the diet: a microbiota study

3.1. Abstract

This study aimed to assess the effect of the probiotic P. acidilactici MA18/5M and different plant ingredients on the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout and to evaluate whether the effect of the probiotic supplementation is influenced by the various feed ingredients. A 12-week feeding trial was conducted in a freshwater recirculation system. The experimental designed consisted of six experimental groups i.e. three dietary groups with two treatments each, i.e. control and probiotic Bactocell® (at 10⁶) CFU/g P. acidilactici MA18/5M). The basal diets were as follows: the fishmeal diet (diet FM), the soybean diet (diet SB) and the plant mix diet (diet PMIX) containing a mix of vegetable proteins. Samples were taken from the distal intestinal digesta to characterise the microbiota by high-throughput sequencing, growth performance was also evaluated. No significant differences were evident in growth performance between treatments (control and probiotic groups) in any of the basal diets. The microbiota analysis showed differences in both alpha and beta diversity between the control diets and the diets with probiotic supplementation and these changes were diet-dependent. Beta diversity analysis showed that the basal diets were the primary factor influencing the modulation of the gut microbiota. A core of shared microbiota was composed by 66 OTUs, which represented >60% of the total relative abundance in all the experimental groups. This study showed that specific ingredients in the diet formulation not only modulate the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout but also can affect the viability of *P. acidilactici* during feed production. The result of this study also suggest that different diet ingredients differ in the extent of the effect of P. acidilactici on the intestinal microbiota.

3.2. Introduction

The salmonid aquaculture industry has expanded considerably in the last year 20 years, which has brought important challenges for the feed industry. Traditionally, aquafeed for salmonid species has relied on marine ingredients from wild-caught fish to provide their high protein requirements (Tacon and Metian, 2008; Ytrestøyl et al., 2015). However, wild capture fisheries have remained relatively static since 1990 (FAO, 2014). A limited availability of wild-caught fish as a source of fishmeal for salmonids diets, together with the expansion of the salmonid aquaculture production, have encouraged the salmonid industry to search for more sustainable sources of proteins. Thus, plant-based ingredients are increasingly being used as major feed ingredients in aquafeeds to replace fishmeal.

Currently, different plant feedstuffs have been incorporated into the diets of commercially important salmonid species such as rainbow trout (reviewed by (Ytrestøyl et al., 2015)). However, the use of plant feedstuff in salmonids fish diets is restricted mainly by the presence of antinutritional factors in plants (Krogdahl et al., 2010). In particular, high dietary inclusions of soybean meal (SBM) have been reported to induce damage at different levels of the intestinal mucosa in salmonids, leading to enteritis and other pathologies (De Santis et al., 2015; Krogdahl et al., 2015)). SBM and other plant protein ingredients are also able to affect the intestinal microbiota in salmonids, but a link between the modulation of the intestinal microbiota and the development or causality of enteritis remains unclear (Bakke-McKellep et al., 2007).

Probiotics are live microbial organisms which, when supplied in the environment or into the feed, confer benefits to the host. Potential benefits of probiotic microorganisms provided in the diet depend on a broad range of conditions. The viability and

metabolism are important factors that influence the ability of probiotics to produce the beneficial effect in the host. The mentioned factors are dependent on substrate available in the GI tract. Different diet ingredients could modulate directly the activity of microorganisms in the intestine including the probiotic microorganisms, or indirectly affecting the interaction of such microorganism with the intestinal barrier. The lactic acid bacterium *P. acidilactici* MA18/5M has been demonstrated to have a number of beneficial effects in rainbow trout leading to improvements in the gut health (Aubin et al., 2005; Merrifield et al., 2010d; Ramos et al., 2013; Ramos et al., 2015). However, the interaction between this probiotic bacterium and different feed ingredients in the diets has not been comprehensively studied in fish. Thus, the aims of this study were 1) to assess the effects of *P. acidilactici* MA18/5M and different plant ingredients on the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout and 2) to evaluate whether the probiotic supplementation is affected by different feed ingredients.

3.3. Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Animal husbandry

The 12-week-feeding trial was conducted at the recirculation aguarium facilities at Plymouth University, UK in accordance with the university ethical committee and under the UK Home Office project licence PPL 30/2644. Prior to initiation of the trial, juvenile rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss Walbaum) were acclimated for three weeks on a standard commercial diet (Sigma® 50, EWOS, UK). At the end of the acclimatisation period, 360 fish $(48.9 \pm 0.3 \text{ g})$ were randomly distributed within eighteen fibreglass tanks (80 L capacity) in a density n = 20 trout per tank. The fish were kept in a freshwater recirculation system (flow rate 100 L/h) with a 12-h dark: 12-h light photoperiod. During the experimental period, the dissolved oxygen level was maintained at 81.2 \pm 3.9 % saturation; the temperature was 15.1 \pm 0.9 °C and the pH 6.8 ± 0.6. Additionally, ammonia, nitrite and nitrate were measured weekly and maintained at 0.1 \pm 0.02 mg L⁻¹, 0.04 \pm 0.01 mg L⁻¹ and 15.6 \pm 5.9 mg L⁻¹, respectively by gradual water changes. Throughout the experiment, feed input was supplied in equal rations three times per day (09:00, 13:00 and 18:00), seven days a week. The feeding rate was adjusted daily based on a predicted growth, assuming a FCR of 1, and varied from 1.5% to 2.2% body weight. Fish were weighed (in bulk, by tank) at the start of the trial and afterwards every two weeks until week twelve.

3.3.2. Feed formulation and experimental design

Three different "basal" diets were formulated to be iso-lipidic (20%) and isonitrogenous (50%). The fishmeal diet (FM) contained fishmeal as the main protein source; the plant diets were formulated to replace 62.7% of fishmeal by plant-based protein ingredients. The main ingredients used for replacing fishmeal in the plant diets were SBM and soybean protein concentrate for the soybean diet (SB) and soybean meal, soybean protein concentrate, pea protein, corn gluten meal and gluten wheat for the plant mix diet (PMIX). The feed ingredients and proximate composition of the experimental diets are shown in Table 3.1. Two batches of each diet were manufactured, one served as the control, and the another one was supplemented with the probiotic Bactocell® (at 10⁶ CFU/g *P. acidilactici* MA18/5M). This resulted in six experimental groups i.e. three dietary groups with two treatments each i.e. control and probiotic. Each experimental group had three replicate tanks.

	Fishmeal (FM)		Soybean meal (SBM)		Plant Mix (PMix)	
Ingredients (%)	Control	Probiotic	Control	Probiotic	Control	Probiotic
Fishmeal LT94 ⁶	670.7	670.7	250	250	250	250
Soya HP 48 [¥]	-	-	398.4	398.4	189.7	189.7
Soya SPC 60 [*]	-	-	150	150	80	80
Pea protein [‡]	-	-	-	-	80	80
Glutalys® [‡]	-	-	-	-	60	60
Viten Wheat gluten® [‡]	-	-	-	-	60	60
Fish oil ^δ	121	121	157.1	157.1	154.2	154.2
Corn starch§	183.4	183.4	19.5	19.5	101.1	101.1
Vitamin-mineral premix3	20	20	20	20	20	20
CMC-binder§	5	5	5	5	5	5
Bactocell®*	-	0.02	-	0.02		0.02
Proximate composition						
_(%)						
Moisture (%)	3.9 ± 0.3	2.5 ± 0.2	2.5 ± 0.8	2.3 ± 0.2	3.1 ± 0.7	1.9 ± 0.4
Solids (%)	96.1 ± 0.3	97.5 ± 0.2	97.5 ± 0.8	97.7 ± 0.2	96.9 ± 0.7	98.1 ± 0.4
Crude protein (%)	50.8 ± 1.4	51.8 ± 1.1	50.8 ± 0.8	50.0 ± 1.7	50.8 ± 0.8	49.0 ± 0.4
Lipids (%)	19.4 ± 1.5	20.6 ± 4.4	19.3 ± 0.3	20.0 ± 1.0	20.7 ± 1.8	18.8 ± 0.6
Ash (%)	9.3 ± 0.2	9.4 ± 0.2	7.5 ± 0.3	7.6 ± 0.1	6.7 ± 0.3	5.0 ± 1.0
Gross energy (MJ kg ⁻¹)	21.9 ± 0.2	22.1 ± 0.1	22.1 ± 0.0	21.7 ± 0.1	22.7 ± 0.1	22.1 ± 0.0

Table 3.1. Formulation of experimental diets and chemical composition.

Proximate composition data are mean \pm SD, n = 3.

Herring meal LT94 – United Fish Products Ltd., Aberdeen, UK.

¥ BioMar.

+ Roquette Frêres, France.

δ Epanoil, Seven Seas Ltd, UK.

§ Sigma, UK. 3 Premier Nutrition vitamin/mineral premix: 121 g kg-1 calcium, Vit A 1.0 μg kg-1, Vit D3 0.1 μg kg-1, Vit E (as alpha tocopherol acetate) 7.0 g kg-1, Copper (as cupric sulphate) 250 mg kg-1, Magnesium 15.6 g kg-1, Phosphorous 5.2 g kg-1. **Pediococcus acidilactici* (CNCM MA 18/5 M), Bactocell® (Lallemand Inc., Canada).

3.3.3. Diet preparation

The dry ingredients were weighed and mixed thoroughly for approximately 1h using a Hobart food mixer (Hobart Food Equipment model no: HL1400–10STDA, Australia). Thereafter, the fish oil was gradually added to the ingredients. After further mixing, warm water was added to produce a soft and slightly moist consistency suitable for cold press extrusion. Control diets were prepared before the probiotic diets to avoid cross contamination. For the probiotic diets, 200 mg of Bactocell® was first mixed with corn starch using a commercial blender to produce a well-homogenised mixture. This mixture was added gradually to the remaining ingredients. After mixing all the ingredients, the mixture was passed through a pelleter (PTM P6 extruder, Plymouth, UK) to produce 4 mm pellets which were then spread out and dried using an air convection oven at 45 °C for 36h. After drying, the diets were broken up to the appropriate size and stored in airtight containers at 4 °C until use. New batches of diets were produced every four weeks to ensure that the viability of the probiotic bacterium was maintained for the duration of the trial. The viability of *P. acidilactici* in the probiotic diets (displayed in Figure 3.1) was determined by plate counts on MRS (de Man, Rogosa and Sharpe) agar incubated aerobically at 37 °C for 48h and then verified by PCR and 16rRNA gene sequencing as described by (Ferguson et al., 2010).

3.3.4. Sample collection

After twelve weeks of feeding, three fish per tank were euthanised and sampled. The intestine was aseptically removed using sterile instruments and divided into the proximal and distal intestine. Distal intestinal digesta was pooled by tank and collected into a sterile tube. Fish dissection and sampling methodology are described in Section 2.3.



Figure 3.1. The viability of *P. acidilactici* in each basal diet during 10 weeks. Fishmeal (FM), SB (soybean) and PMIX (plant mix).

3.3.5. Growth performance

Increase in weight gain (WG), specific growth rate (SGR), and feed conversion rate

(FCR) were calculated as described in Section 2.2.

3.3.6. Microbiological analysis

For analysis of the distal intestinal microbiota, digesta from three fish were sampled and pooled by tank (n = 3), sampling was conducted as described in Section 2.3. and the analysis was conducted according to Section 2.4. Digesta samples were pooled per tank (3 samples per treatment).

3.3.7. Statistical analysis

Statistical comparisons in all the analyses were conducted between control and probiotic group in the same basal diet, and also among basal diets using only the control treatments. Statistical analysis was carried out using the methods described in Section 2.5.

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Growth performance

Growth performance, including weight gain (WG), specific growth rate (SGR) and feed conversion ratio (FCR) showed similar trends in all the experimental groups at week 12. Therefore, only SGR results are described in this section. The results of SGR from week four to week twelve are displayed in Figure 3.2. No significant differences were evident in growth performance between treatments (control and probiotic groups) in any of the diets. Fish fed the FM diet had a significantly higher (P > 0.05) SGR regardless of the treatment compared with the fish fed the PMIX and SB diets, whereas no significant differences in SGR were seen between fish fed PMIX and SB diets.



Figure 3.2. Specific growth rate from week four to week twelve of fish fed control and probiotic basal diets.

3.4.2. Microbiota analysis

3.4.2.1. High-throughput sequencing data

Eighteen samples from distal intestinal digesta were processed on the Ion Torrent platform to analyse the bacterial microbiota associated with the digesta of the distal intestine. High-throughput sequencing (HTS) generated 3,617,063 reads before quality control (200,948 \pm 46,414 reads per sample). After quality filtering, processing the data in QIIME, filtering spurious sequences and discarding reads belonging to Streptophyta a total of 2,020,429 reads remained (112,246 \pm 33,127 reads per sample). Reads belonging to Streptophyta were significantly lower in the fish fed the FM diet (281 \pm 109) in comparison with fish fed the SB (43217 \pm 31729), or PMIX (5620 \pm 1922) diets regardless of the supplementation of probiotic in the diet.

3.4.2.2. Intestinal microbiota in the digesta of distal intestine

The results presented in this section will focus on the differences between control and probiotic groups within each diet as well as the differences in the microbial communities across the control groups of all the diets.

Alpha diversity parameters such as Chao1, phylogenetic diversity (PD) and Shannon index revealed significant differences between the control and probiotic groups in the fish fed the SB diet (Figure 3.3.). The control groups among different diets had significant differences in the Shannon diversity index. Meanwhile, differences in control groups using PD parameters were only significant between PMIX and SB groups.



Figure 3.3. Alpha diversity parameters of the distal intestinal microbiota comparing probiotic and control groups among fishmeal (FM), soybean (SB) and plant mix (PMIX) diets. a) Rarefaction curve based on Chao1 metric representing the average and standard deviation (error bars) of OTUs per experimental group; b) Phylogenetic diversity (PD) boxplot; c) Shannon index boxplot. Statistical analysis was conducted using alpha diversity parameters from samples rarefied at an even depth of 15,000 sequences. Statistical differences are denoted by asterisk * (P < 0.05). Significant differences between control (red) and probiotic (blue) within the same diet are denoted by solid lines, whilst dashed lines represent significant differences between control groups of different diets.

Beta diversity based on weighted and unweighted UniFrac dissimilarity matrix was used to compare differences in the bacterial composition between treatment and basal diets, and the results are visualised in a principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) (Figure 3.4). The principal coordinate analysis showed that the primary factor influencing the cluster of differentiation among the experimental groups was the diet for both weighted and unweighted UniFrac. A lower clustering effect was observed between treatments (i.e. control and probiotic groups). Clustering between treatments was more evident in
the PCoA from unweighted UniFrac than weighted UniFrac in SB and PMIX groups. The latter clustering effect by diet factor was also demonstrated in the highly significant differences and Pseudo-F shown by PERMANOVA analysis (Pseudo-F 24.05, P = 0.001) and (Pseudo-F 4.49, P = 0.001) for weighted and unweighted UniFrac, respectively. The highest differences according to the weighted UniFrac in the bacterial composition of the diets were seen between FM vs. PMIX diets (Pseudo-F, 6.57), followed by SB vs. PMIX (Pseudo-F, 5.90). PERMANOVA analysis also revealed a significant interaction between diet and treatment factors. According to pairwise comparison based on weighted UniFrac, the greatest difference between treatments was in the fish fed the SB diet (t, 3.15). In contrast, only minor differences in pair-wise comparison among treatments were observed in the unweighted UniFrac.



Figure 3.4. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the distal intestinal microbiota associated to digesta using UniFrac distances. The percentage of variation is explained by PC1 and PC2 axis. Each plot represents the differences among the different basal diets. Fishmeal (FM, triangles), soybean (SB, squares) and plant mix (PMIX, circles) as well the differences between control (lighter colours) and probiotic (dark colours) groups differences a) PCoA weighted digesta; b) PCoA unweighted digesta.

	PERMANOVA							
Fastar/Crown comparison	Weighted UniFrac			Unweighted UniFrac				
Factor/Group companson	Average	Pseudo-	Р	Average	Pseudo-	Р		
	dissimilarity	F/t		dissimilarity	F/t			
Diet		24.05	0.001		4.49	0.001		
Pair-wise for Diet					2.20	0.002		
FM vs SB	0.25	2.67	0.003	0.46	1.69	0.006		
FM vs PMIX	0.37	6.57	0.002	0.52	2.36	0.001		
SB vs PMIX	0.27	5.90	0.004	0.49	2.26	0.008		
Treatment		5.11	0.001		2.20	0.002		
Diet x Treatment		3.63	0.003		1.19	0.143		
Pair-wise for Treatment								
FM-Control vs Probiotic	0.16	0.90	0.709	0.43	1.17	0.208		
SB-Control vs Probiotic	0.27	3.15	0.101	0.40	1.28	0.106		
PMIX-Control vs Probiotic	0.04	1.50	0.104	0.39	1.26	0.116		

Tabla 3.2. PERMANOVA results from weighted and unweighted UniFrac.

Fishmeal - (FM); soybean - (SB); plant mix - (PMIX).

Figure 3.5. shows the relative abundance of OTUs from pooled digesta samples (per tank) for each experimental group at class and phylum levels. All experimental groups were dominated by six phyla, which accounted for more than 95% of the total relative abundance. The dominant taxa belonged to the phylum Firmicutes, mainly classes Bacilli and Clostridia, which together accounted for more than 75% of the total reads abundance for the FM and SB groups. In the PMIX group, more than the 90% of the total reads belonged to the class Bacilli. Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria and Fusobacteria were also important taxa in terms of abundance in FM and SB groups, but not in the PMIX group. At genus level, the most dominant taxa varied according to the diet and treatment. In the FM group, the most abundant genera were Peptostreptococcus (25.1% ± 13) and an unidentified genus from the order Clostridiales $(12.1\% \pm 6)$ in both control and probiotic treatments. Meanwhile, Lactobacillus (48.7% \pm 8) and Bacillus (33.3% \pm 5) were the most abundant genera in the PMIX group. Finally, the dominant taxa in the SB group varied according to the treatment. An unidentified genus from family Leuconostocaceae ($11\% \pm 8$) and *Peptostreptococcus* (10.7% \pm 8) were the most abundant taxa in the control group;

meanwhile among the indentified genera *Pediococcus* was the dominant taxon in the treatment supplemented with the probiotic.

The genus *Pediococcus* was detected in all the experimental groups with important differences according to the diet and treatments factors. In overall, the control groups for all the three different basal diets had a low abundance of this genus ranging from 0.06% to 0.38%. On the other hand, *Pediococcus* abundance varied greatly in the treatment groups among the different diets. The highest abundance of *Pediococcus* was seen in the treatment group fed the SB diet (83.5% \pm 15). Meanwhile, the *Pediococcus* abundance in the treatment groups fed the FM and PMIX were 15.4% \pm 11 and 5.9% \pm 3, respectively.



Figure 3.5. Relative abundance of the main bacterial taxa at class and phylum level and abundance of the genus *Pediococcus*. Classes below an abundance average of 0.8% per experimental group are not shown but summarised in a mixed group "Other". Numbers below the bars represent the number of the tank for each experimental group. Fishmeal (FM), soybean (SB) and plant mix (PMIX).

Significant differences in specific taxa between treatments and among the different basal diets were analysed with Linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe) (Figure 3.6.). Overall, the greatest differences between control and probiotic were found in the group fed the SB diet with 46 genera significantly modulated, compared with the group fed the FM and PMIX diets that had 12 and 13 genera significantly modulated, respectively. Most of the taxa modulated by treatment resulted in the enrichment of such taxa in the control group and only a few taxa were enriched in the probiotics groups regardless the basal diet.

Regarding the fish fed the FM diet, the main differences between the control and probiotic groups were the enrichment of the genera Fusobacterium and Bacteroides in the control group. Other taxa that were also enriched in the control group, although to a lesser extent, belonged to the class Gammaproteobacteria (genera *Pseudomonas* and Vibrio) and phylum Firmicutes (genera Ruminococcus, Blautia and Kuthia). The only enriched taxa in the treatment group fed the FM basal diet were the taxa belonging to the genera *Pediococcus* and *Sphingomonas*. In the fish fed the SB diet, the main taxa significantly enriched in the control group belonged to the Firmicutes phylum (classes Clostridia and Bacilli), followed by Actinobacteria (classes Actinobacteria and Coriobacteriia) and Fusobacteria (genus Cetobacterium). The genus *Bacteroides* and several genera belonging to the phylum Proteobacteria were also enriched in the control group of the SB diet. The main differentially modulated taxa in the fish fed the PMIX diet belonged to Proteobacteria (genus Vibrio), Actinobacteria (genera Arthrobacter and Brevibacterium) and Firmicutes phyla (genera Enterococcus and Tepidimicrobium). All these taxa were enriched in the control group. To evaluate the sole effect of the basal diet on the bacterial microbiota associated to digesta, the high-throughput sequencing data from the control groups of

the three basal diets were compared with LEfSe (Figure 3.7.). The greatest number of overrepresented genera was observed in the fish group fed the FM diet (13 genera enriched), followed by SB and PMIX diets with six and one genera enriched, respectively. The main differences between fish fed the basal diets were observed in the phylum Firmicutes (classes Clostridia and Bacilli). The class Clostridia was significantly overrepresented in the FM group compared with the two diets using plant ingredients. In the SB diet group, there was an enrichment of the phyla Cyanobacteria as well as some taxa from the Proteobacteria (genera *Mycoplana, Pseudomonas*) and Firmicutes phyla (genus *Facklamia*, unidentified members of the family *Leuconostocaceae* and the order Bacillales).

The shared OTUs at tank level were determined for each of the three different basal diets including both treatments (Figure 3.8.). In this study, the core microbiota was defined as the shared OTUs among the 80% of the samples for each experimental group. The core microbiota was comprised by 66 OTUs, which represented 52% of the shared OTUs for each dietary group evaluated. The OTUs in the core microbiota belonged to three phyla, Actinobacteria, Firmicutes and Proteobacteria. The phylum with the highest number of OTUs belonging to the core was Firmicutes, which had 37 OTUs divided into five different orders. The most represented orders were Lactobacilliales with 14 OTUs followed by Clostridiales with 12 OTUs. These two orders were also the most important regarding average abundance in all the experimental groups except in the PMIX group where the orders Lactobacilliales and Bacilliales were the most abundant. In general terms, the contribution in abundance of the set of taxa that composed the core microbiota was high in all the experimental groups, ranging from 69.1% to 96.8%.



Figure 3.6. Taxonomic differences in the distal intestinal microbiota associated to digesta between control and probiotic groups according to LEfSe analysis. The analysis was carried out with the relative abundance of all the samples at the genus level. Control and probiotic groups were treated as classes. a) A circular cladogram is representing the significant enriched OTUs between control (red) or probiotic (green) groups. No significantly different OTUs are represented in yellow. The diameter of each dot is proportional to its effect size. b) Linear discriminant analysis (LDA), differentially enriched OTUs are arranged in descending order according to LDA score. Fishmeal (FM), soybean (SB) and plant mix (PMIX).



Figure 3.7. Taxonomic differences in the distal intestinal microbiota among dietary groups according to LEfSe analysis. The analysis was carried out with the relative abundance of all the control samples at the genus level. FM, SB and PMIX were treated as classes. a) A circular cladogram is representing the significant enriched OTUs between FM (red) PMIX (green) and SB (blue) groups. No significant different OTUs are represented in yellow. The diameter of each dot is proportional to its effect size. b) Linear discriminant analysis (LDA), differentially enriched OTUs are arranged in descending order according to LDA score. Fishmeal (FM), soybean (SB) and plant mix (PMIX).



PMIX

Core Taxonomy			Average abundance (%)					
Phylum	Order	in the order	FM-C	FM-P	SB-C	SB-P	PMIX-C	PMIX-P
Actinobactoria	Actinomycetales	10	3.04	4.46	6.10	0.69	0.31	0.19
Actinobacteria	Coriobacteriales	2	1.73	3.90	1.94	0.17	lance (%) SB-P PMIX-C 0.69 0.31 0.17 0.14 0.01 0.16 1.07 36.09 85.34 56.82 3.38 1.83 0.32 0.04 0.33 0.22 0.00 0.17 0.77 0.30 1.02 0.29 0.00 0.00 0.07 0.00 0.07 0.00 0.07 0.00 0.09 0.04 0.00 0.02 0.63 0.00 93.99 96.46	0.05
Phylum Actinobacteria Firmicutes Bacteroidetes Fusobacteria Proteobacteria	Unidentified Firmicutes	1	0.03	0.08	0.01	0.01	0.16	0.13
	Bacilliales	7	0.94	1.12	14.74	1.07	36.09	31.21
	Lactobacilliales	14	11.12	18.86	15.84	85.34	56.82	63.35
	Clostridiales	12	49.57	48.25	21.49	3.38	1.83	1.49
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidales	1	1.06	0.03	1.16	0.32	0.04	0.08
Fusobacteria	Fusobacteriales	3	3.42	0.71	3.35	0.33	0.22	0.10
	Unidentified Alphaproteobacteria	ι 1	0.93	0.12	0.01	0.00	0.17	0.00
	Caulobacterales	2	1.29	3.17	2.09	0.77	0.30	0.04
	Rhizobiales	5	2.81	2.09	0.98	1.02	0.29	0.08
	Unidentified Betaproteobacteria	1	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00
Proteobacteria	Burkholderiales	2	0.12	0.27	0.40	0.07	0.03	0.04
	Enterobacteriales	1	0.01	0.00	0.51	0.03	0.01	0.00
	Pseudomonadales	1	0.12	0.02	0.16	0.07	0.00	0.01
	Vibrionales	1	0.59	1.04	0.27	0.09	0.04	0.01
	Xanthomonadales	1	0.04	0.04	0.08	0.00	0.02	0.00
	Brevinematales	1	0.30	0.00	0.01	0.63	0.00	0.00
	Total	66	77.13	84.19	69.15	93.99	96.46	96.80

Figure 3.8. Core microbiota of distal intestinal digesta. a) Venn diagram showing the shared OTUs across 80% of the samples per diet (fishmeal (FM), soybean (SB) and plant mix (PMIX)) including control and probiotic groups. b) Table showing the contribution of each component (average abundance) of the core microbiota in each experimental group (fishmeal control (FM-C), fishmeal probiotic (FM-P), soybean control (SB-C), soybean probiotic (SB-P), plant mix control (PMIX-C), plant mix probiotic (PMIX-P).

b)

3.5. Discussion

A major challenge that the salmonid industry is currently facing is the need for sustainable feed ingredients that decrease the dependence on marine ingredients such as fishmeal without affecting the fish health and the guality of the final product (Naylor and Burke, 2005; Gatlin et al., 2007; Hardy, 2010; Ytrestøyl et al., 2015). In the same line, the use of functional feeds, which incorporate probiotics, has gained attention due to their potential to improve fish health. Successful use of a probiotic to improve fish health depends on a broad range of factors. One central factor that can interact negatively or positively with the probiotic is the diet composition. This is particularly important when the probiotic is supplied in the diet. Thus, it is fundamental to study the potential interaction between novel feed ingredients and probiotics, to accomplishing possible benefits of both on the fish. The present study evaluated the impact of different diets using a high content of plant ingredients to replace the fishmeal on the distal microbiota and their interaction with a dietary supplementation of a commercial probiotic in rainbow trout. Results showed that the diet with high content of plants and the probiotic bacterium *P. acidilactici* modulated the intestinal microbiota in the digesta of the distal intestine and this effect was dependent on the diet used.

3.5.1. Effect of probiotic supplementation and fishmeal replacement in growth performance of rainbow trout.

In this study, the growth performance of fish fed the experimental diets was investigated. As it was expected, the fish fed the FM diet had better growth performance than fish fed the SB and PMIX diets. The inclusion of plant ingredients to replace FM in the SB and PMIX diets was 62%. This level of replacement is considered

high for salmonids and leads to one possible explanation for the lower growth in both groups of fish fed the plant-based diets in comparison with the fish fed the FM diet. Plant ingredients based on soybean and pea protein as the ones used in this study are known to have antinutritional factors (Krogdahl et al., 2010), which have detrimental effects on fish health and growth performance in salmonids. No significant differences were found between fish fed the probiotic or control diets in any of the basal diets. The previous reports indicating the potential of supplementation of P. acidilactici in the diet on increasing the growth performance in salmonids is contradictory. Three studies in rainbow trout studying the effect of *P. acidilactici* as single-species probiotic in growth performance did not observe differences between fish fed probiotic diet in comparison with the control group (Aubin et al., 2005; Merrifield et al., 2011; Hoseinifar et al., 2015a). In contrast, Ramos et al. (2015) reported an increase in feed conversion of rainbow trout fed a diet supplemented with high doses of P. acidilactici. In this study, the authors suggested that an increase in feed conversion was dose dependent, as this effect was not observed in the fish fed low doses of P. acidilactici.

3.5.2. High-throughput sequencing based on 16S rRNA gene of intestinal samples of fish fed plant ingredients is affected by producing large number of non-bacterial sequences

Several studies using high-throughput sequencing to study intestinal microbiota in trout have been published in the last years using different platforms and pipelines (Desai et al., 2012; Wong et al., 2013; Ingerslev et al., 2014b). In this study, the sequencing of bacterial DNA using the so-call "universal primers" for the V1-V2 region of the 16S rRNA gene in the Ion Torrent platform demonstrated to be reliable to

capture the diversity of the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout. The latter is supported by the results from alpha diversity suggesting that the depth of sequencing was adequate to detect the diversity of all the samples analysed. Although a high number of reads were retained after bioinformatics processing, one interesting finding was a large number of reads eliminated after filtering out the reads affiliated to Streptophyta, which are commonly associated with chloroplast contamination from plants. The number of reads discarded has been particularly high in the samples from the experimental groups from SB and PMIX diet. The latter corroborated that the presence of Streptophyta in the intestine of fish is associated to the presence of plant contents (chloroplast) and its detection in the bioinformatics data is probably due to the similarities in the chloroplast sequences and the bacterial 16S sRNA genes (Hanshew et al., 2013). Previous studies in fish, have also detected this issue and most of the authors have chosen to remove the reads belonging to Streptophyta or chloroplast-related sequences from the analysis, arguing that these reads are contamination or artefacts (Estruch et al., 2015; Eichmiller et al., 2016; Zarkasi et al., 2016). Meanwhile, other authors have included Streptophyta in their analysis assuming that is part of the bacterial communities of the intestine (Ingerslev et al., 2014b; Parma et al., 2016). High homology between bacterial and chloroplast 16S rRNA gene could lead to discarding a high number of sequences resulting in data bias, additional resources and time to increase sequencing depth to improve the alpha diversity analysis. In aquaculture, difficulties in differentiating true bacterial sequences from plant contamination could become a considerable limitation for studying the gut microbiota of herviborous fish or fish fed diets with high inclusion of plant ingredients. Some alternatives methodologies include the use of primers targeting genes other

than 16S rRNA and alternative DNA extraction protocols should be taken into account in future studies to overcome these limitations.

3.5.3. Probiotic supplementation in the diet interacts with diet composition modulation; the role of probiotic on intestinal microbiota.

Microorganisms with the potential to be used as dietary supplements should be recovered in acceptable, viable concentrations after feed processing and subsequent storage. In this study, one interesting finding regarding the viability evaluation was the lower recovery of *P. acidilactici* in the FM basal diet in comparison with the diets with a high content of plant material, i.e., SB and PMIX diets. Despite the fact, that the inclusion of the commercial product was the same in all the basal diets (200 mg per kg), the FM diet had more than ten times lower concentration of *P. acidilactici* that the other two diets. Although the cause of this is unknown, this observation may support the hypothesis that specific compounds in fishmeal diet or any of the plant ingredients used in SB and PMIX diets inhibit or favour the survival of *P. acidilactici*. On the other hand, even though the viability of *P. acidilactici* in both plant-based diets was similar after feed processing, a significant difference in the relative abundance of *Pediococcus* according to high-throughput sequencing was observed between fish fed the SB and the PMIX diets. These results suggest that specific components in the plant-based diet could not only affect the survival of this bacterium during the feed processing but also promote or decrease the survival of *P. acidilactici* during transit in the gastrointestinal tract of the fish. These results are relevant since the number of viable cells of the probiotic in the intestine could be related to the extent of the effect in the host (reviewed by Merrifield et al. (2010c)).

Results in the present study indicated a significant interaction between treatment and diet factors detected in the PERMANOVA analysis. Moreover, alpha diversity and LEfSe showed that the intestinal microbiota is modulated in a greater extent in the group where a higher abundance of *Pedioccocus* was found, i.e., fish fed the SB diet in comparison with the fish fed the PMIX and FM groups. LEfSe analysis indicated that only one OTU was consistently modulated by the dietary supplementation across the three experimental groups fed the basal diets. This OTU is an obligate anaerobic bacterium and recently recognised genus, i.e., Psychrilyobacter belonging to the phylum Fusobacteria (Zhao et al., 2009). Although little information is found in the literature about this genus, it has been reported as a normal inhabitant of the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout and parr Atlantic salmon (Ingerslev et al., 2014a; Dehler et al.). Taken together, these findings demonstrated that the effect of probiotic on the intestinal microbiota was dependent on the basal diet as seen by the similarities in some of the differentially modulated OTUs between the groups fed the diets containing plant ingredients in contrast with groups fed the diets containing fishmeal as the main protein source.

To the author's knowledge, the impact of the diet on the role of probiotic on the microbial communities in the intestine of fish has not been comprehensively studied. Only two reports are known in evaluating the effect of a probiotic supplementation with *P. acidilactici* and different diet formulations in rainbow trout (Ingerslev et al., 2014a; Ingerslev et al., 2014b). These authors reported that diet ingredients were the main factor modulating the intestinal microbiota, whereas non-effect of probiotic supplementation on intestinal microbiota was detected. Some similarities between the present study and the previous reports showing that the bacterial communities in the

rainbow trout are modulated when the fishmeal is replaced by a plant protein such as pea protein.

3.5.4. Feed ingredients in the diet influence the intestinal microbiota

Factors that modulate the gut microbiota such as diet and probiotic supplementation have been previously studied in rainbow trout (reviewed by Romero et al. (2014)). In the present study, to assess only the effect of the diet factor on intestinal microbiota, the control samples from the three different basal diets were compared. Consistently with the findings in alpha and beta diversity, the present study revealed that the diet is a major factor that modulated the intestinal microbiota. However, the extent of modulation varied according to diet. Surprisingly, substantial differences in the overall bacterial community structures according to beta diversity results were observed between fish fed both plant-based diets. The dissimilarity in the intestinal microbiota between fish fed the plant-based diets was higher than between the fish fed the SB and the FM diets. This finding was unexpected as both plant-based diets are more similar between them regarding the ingredients used in comparison to the fishmeal diet. Moreover, the lowest alpha diversity was detected in fish fed the PMIX diet; meanwhile, the highest alpha diversity was observed in the fish fed the SB diet followed by the fish fed the FM diet. These results may suggest that the alpha diversity results had the same pattern in the beta diversity results with substantial differences between both plant diets. Other authors have reported important differences in the bacterial communities of fish fed mainly marine ingredients in contrast with fish fed high inclusion of plant ingredients. Partial replacing of fishmeal by soybean and other plant ingredients in salmonids has been associated with alteration of intestinal microbiota (Desai et al., 2012; Ingerslev et al., 2014b; Reveco et al., 2014). In the

present study, SB and PMIX diets also induced significant changes in the intestinal microbiota compared with the FM diet. Some authors have reported that inclusion of plant ingredients in the diet led to an increased abundance of members of the Firmicutes phylum (Desai et al., 2012; Ingerslev et al., 2014b). On the other hand, studies conducted by Wong et al. (2013) showed that bacterial communities in the intestine of rainbow trout were not affected by total replacement of fishmeal and blood meal by soy protein concentrate and corn gluten meal. The results of the present study observed a significant increase of the Firmicutes phylum but only in fish fed the PMIX diet. This change was led by the high proportion of genus *Bacillus* found in this group compared to fish fed the SB and FM diets. Interestingly, a significant shift within the phylum Firmicutes was observed in the class Clostridia which was highly abundant in the fish fed FM diet and had decreased in plant-based diets especially in the fish fed the PMIX. These results differ from previous studies evaluating replacing of fishmeal by plant ingredients which did not report an increase of the class Clostridia in fish fed diets based on fishmeal (Desai et al., 2012; Ingerslev et al., 2014b). Instead, the latter studies observed a shift in the intestinal microbiota represented by an increase of Proteobacteria and decrease of Firmicutes, which was not noted in the present study. Regarding the phylum Proteobacteria, the relative abundance of this phylum in the present study was lower in fish fed the FM diets in comparison with previous reports. These differences between studies could be the result of different environmental conditions, methodologies, aquarium facilities and experimental design used in these studies.

3.5.5. Core microbiota and main phyla and taxa found in this study compared with previous studies in rainbow trout

The term core microbiota has been used to define the set of dominant and stable microbial species in a specific host habitat such as the gut (Salonen et al., 2012). However, no agreement has been achieved to standardise the threshold to define the core microbiota. In this study the threshold of core microbiota was defined as the set of common OTUs at genus level in the 80% of the samples. The results indicating a high number of OTUs (66) as core microbiota is unexpected as there were two factors i.e., diet and treatment that influenced the microbiota. This finding is in line with Wong et al. (2013) who investigated the effect of two different factors i.e., diet and rearing density in the core microbiota of rainbow trout. These authors identified 52 OTUs shared in all the samples and concluded that rainbow trout has a large core microbiota resistant to variation in diet and rearing density. In order to provide a more comprehensive analysis of the core microbiota, a comparison of the core microbiota between the previous study from Wong et al. (2013) and the results of the present study was performed. The results of this comparison detected 32 OTUs in common at genus level. These OTUs belonged to the phyla Firmicutes (Orders Lactobacilliales, Clostridiales and Bacilliales) and Betaproteobacteria (Orders Caulobacterales Rhizobiales, Burkholderiales, Enterobacteriales and Pseudomonadales). Moreover, in both studies all taxa belonging to the core microbiota account for more than the 80% of the total average abundance of each experimental group. The similarities between members of the core microbiota in both studies and their relative dominance in the intestinal microbiota suggest that these taxa have an important role in the intestine of rainbow trout. Nonetheless, although some similarities were found with the study conducted by Wong et al. (2013), it is important to highlight that the core microbiota in

the present study had important changes among the experimental groups fed the control basal diet. Thus, remarkable differences in the phylum Firmicutes, specifically the orders Bacilliales, Lactobacilliales and Clostridiales were found in terms of relative abundance among groups fed with the different basal diets.

3.5.6. Conclusion

In conclusion, this study revealed that specific ingredients in the diet formulation are able to modulate the effect of a commercial probiotic on the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout. This modulation could be caused by affecting the viability of the probiotic cell during the process of feed production and intestinal transit or interacting with other bacterial members in the intestine. A high dominant core microbiota at genus level was identified among all the experimental groups. However, the core microbiota was highly modulated regarding relative abundance mainly by diet composition and in a less extent by the probiotic treatment. To further investigate the concept of core microbiota associated with the digesta of rainbow trout and the effect of *P. acidilactici*. Further studies are necessary to investigate specific compound and the diet ingredients responsible for modulation in both *P. acidilactici* and also in intestinal microbiota and what these changes imply for the fish health.

CHAPTER 4. Impact of dietary oxytetracycline treatment and the supplementation of *Pediococcus acidilactici* in the digesta-associated microbiota of rainbow trout

4.1. Abstract

The aims of the current study were to evaluate the effect of oxytetracycline (OTC) and the probiotic bacteria P. acidilactici (Bactocell®) on the rainbow trout intestinal microbiota and to assess how a dietary intervention with P. acidilactici modulates the effect of OTC on the rainbow trout intestinal microbiota. A 4-week feeding trial was conducted. The experiment involved two phases, the first phase was pre-antibiotic (Pre-Ab) intervention and lasted three weeks, whereas the second phase was during-antibiotic (Dur-Ab) treatment and lasted one week. The groups of fish were kept in a freshwater recirculation system and received one of four different experimental diets; 1) Pre-Ab control diet, without probiotic supplementation; 2) Pre-Ab probiotic diet, supplemented with Bactocell®; 3) Dur-Ab control diet, coated with OTC; 4) Dur-Ab probiotic diet, supplemented with P. acidilactici and coated with OTC. Samples of digesta for the microbial characterization using high-throughput sequencing were taken from the distal intestine. The microbiota analysis of the alpha diversity revealed highly significant differences between the Pre-Ab group and Dur-Ab group with lower diversity in the fish group fed the diet containing OTC compared with the group fed the diet without OTC. All experimental groups were dominated by Firmicutes followed by Fusobacteria. This study revealed that OTC substantially modulated the distal intestinal microbiota including impacting multiple members of the core microbiota. However, P. acidilactici did not modulate the effect of OTC on the microbiota composition.

4.2. Introduction

Infectious diseases are among the main factors, which hamper the productivity and expansion of aquaculture. The salmonid farming industry is affected by a broad range of bacterial diseases that has caused major economic losses and welfare concerns (Rodger, 2016). For decades, the use of antibiotics in fish and other animals for human consumption have been applied not only to treat bacterial infections but also to improve growth and feed efficiency (Silbergeld et al., 2008; Maron et al., 2013). The use of antibiotics has serious consequences for public health. In 2006 the use of non-medicinal antibiotics supplemented to animals for human consumption was banned in the European Union (EPC, 2003). This decision was mainly led by the finding of a link between the use in the feed of antibiotics in non-therapeutic doses and the increase of prevalence of antibiotic resistance (reviewed by Cogliani et al. 2011). Furthermore, antibiotics are indiscriminate (Cabello, 2006; Burridge et al., 2010), thus after an antibiotic intervention, both pathogenic bacteria and healthy commensal bacteria are eradicated. This lack of specificity can, therefore, impact the microbiota of treated animals. In mammals, frequent use of antibiotics has been associated with intestinal disorders such as diarrhoea and pathogenic infection as reviewed by Keeney et al. (2014). In fish, the use of antibiotics has been associated with disorders affecting the immune system (Romero et al., 2012).

As a result of the constraints related to the use of antibiotics in the animal production industry, including aquaculture, there is a growing interest in alternative methods to prevent infectious diseases and fight against pathogens. One of the methods that have attracted great interest is the use of probiotics. Probiotics have been seen as an alternative to antimicrobials because some

probiotics have been reported to acts as growth promoters (Merrifield et al., 2010b), improve disease resistance (Balcázar et al., 2007) and decrease stress induced by farming conditions (see Section 1.3.3 in Chapter 1). Although there is still a gap of information regarding the mechanisms of action that a probiotic needs to induce in the host to promote their beneficial effects, most researchers accept that probiotic effects are at least partly mediated by improving gut microbiota balance (reviewed by Merrifield and Carnevali 2014).

A large amount of information evaluating the role of the microbiota in fish and its manipulation to improve health has been published. Different factors have been identified to modulate the microbiota in fish, including diet, environment, seasonality, and dietary supplements such as probiotics (reviewed by Romero et al., 2014). However, relatively few studies have investigated the effect of antibiotics on the gut microbiota of salmonids (Austin and Al-Zahrani, 1988; Moffitt and Mobin, 2006; Bakke-McKellep et al., 2007; Navarrete et al., 2008). These studies are based on the use of culture-dependent techniques, which have limitations to capture the full bacterial diversity in the fish gut. Culture-independent techniques such as high-throughput sequencing (HTS) libraries of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene provide a more comprehensive characterization of the bacterial communities in contrast to culture-dependent techniques (Donachie et al., 2007; Turnbaugh and Gordon, 2008). To the author's knowledge, there are currently no published studies on the impact of antibiotic on gut microbiota using HTS in salmonids.

This Chapter, therefore, aims to i) evaluate the effect of oxytetracycline and *P.s acidilactici* on the rainbow trout intestinal microbiota, and ii) to study how a dietary

intervention with the probiotic bacterial *P. acidilactici* modulate the effect of oxytetracycline on the rainbow trout intestinal microbiota.

4.3. Materials and Methods

4.3.1. Animal husbandry

A 4-week-feeding trial was conducted at the recirculation aquarium facilities at Plymouth University, UK in accordance with the university ethical committee and under the UK Home Office project licence (PPL 30/2644). Prior to initiation of the trial, juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) were acclimated for one week on a standard commercial diet. At the end of the acclimatisation period, 60 fish (60 ± 1.4 g) were randomly distributed within two fibreglass tanks (150 L capacity) in a density n= 30 fish per tank.

Throughout the experiment, the fish were kept in a freshwater recirculation system (flow rate 100 L/h) with a 12-h dark: 12-h light photoperiod. During the experimental period, the dissolved oxygen level was maintained in 79 \pm 2% saturation; the temperature was 16.1 \pm 1 °C and the pH 7.1 \pm 3. Additionally, ammonia, nitrite and nitrate were measured weekly and maintained at 0.04 \pm 0.08 mg/L⁻¹, 0.04 \pm 0.02 mg/L⁻¹ and 56 \pm 2 mg/L⁻¹ respectively.

4.3.1. Diet and experimental design

The experiment involved two phases, the first phase was termed as pre-antibiotic (Pre-Ab) and lasted three weeks, whereas the second phase was duringantibiotic (Dur-Ab) and lasted one week. Four experimental diets were designed using the commercial diet (Efico Enviro 930, 3.0 mm pellet BioMar, Denmark) as a basal diet: 1) Pre-Ab control diet, without supplementation; 2) Pre-Ab probiotic diet, supplemented with Bactocell®; 3) Dur-Ab control diet, coated with oxytetracycline (OTC); 4) Dur-Ab control diet, supplemented with Bactocell® and coated with OTC. During the Pre-Ab phase, each tank was assigned to an experimental diet without OTC i.e. Pre-Ab control diet and Pre-Ab probiotic diet. Whereas during the Dur-Ab phase the fish were fed with OTC diets i.e. Dur-Ab control diet and Dur-Ab probiotic diet. Bactocell® was incorporated into the experimental diet at a dose of 5 x 10⁶ CFU/ kg by spraying a 50 ml solution of Bactocell® in phosphate buffer solution into the diet. Antibiotic OTC (Aquanet, Pharmaq, UK) was added to the diet using the oil as a carrier coated on the diets by mechanical mixing for two hours. Oxytetracycline was added at 1% of feed weight to provide a dose of 375 mg kg⁻¹ body weight per day. All the fish were fed at a rate of 1.5% body weight per day, based on total tank weight.

4.3.2. Sample collection

In the course of the experiment, samples were obtained at two time-points. The first sampling was in the Pre-Ab phase during feeding the fish with control and probiotic diets for three weeks. The second sampling was during the Dur-Ab phase at week four, i.e. after feeding the fish with Dur-Ab control and Dur-Ab probiotic diet for seven days. A total of 20 fish from each group were sampled (five fish from each tank at each sampling point, n = 5). The intestines were aseptically removed using sterile instruments and divided into the proximal and distal intestine. The distal intestinal digesta from individual fish were collected into sterile tubes. The dissection and sampling methodologies are described in section 2.3

4.3.3. Microbiological analysis

For analysis of microbiota, samples of digesta from five fish per tank (n = 5) were used. The sampling was conducted as described in Section 2.3. and the analysis was conducted according to Section 2.4.

4.3.4. Statistical analysis

Statistical comparisons in all the analyses were conducted by two way ANOVA for alpha diversity and two way PERMANOVA for beta diversity. To evaluate the effect of probiotic on specific bacterial taxa, only control and probiotic groups in the Pre-Ab phase were used in the LEfSe analysis. Meanwhile, all the experimental groups were taken into account in the LEfSe analysis to evaluate the effect of the antibiotic factor on specific taxa. Statistical analysis was carried out using the methods described in section 2.5.

4.4. Results

4.4.1. High-throughput sequencing data

Twenty samples of digesta from distal intestine were processed on the lon Torrent platform to investigate the bacterial microbiota associated to the digesta. One sample from Dur-Ab control group was discarded due to difficulties in the PCR amplification. High-throughput sequencing generated 771,280 reads before quality control (40,593 \pm 6,363 reads per sample). After quality filtering, processing the data in QIIME, filtering spurious sequences and discarding reads affiliated to Streptophyta a total of 725,842 reads were retained (38,202 \pm 5,937 reads per sample). Removed reads belonging to Streptophyta were relatively low (1.24 \pm 0.64%) except for one sample from the sample number 17 from Dur-Ab control group which Streptophyta reads accounted for 52.3%.

4.4.2. Effect of probiotic and oxytetracycline on the distal intestinal microbiota

The alpha diversity parameters Chao1 and Phylogenetic diversity (PD) revealed highly significant differences between the Pre-Ab group and Dur-Ab group (P = 0.01) (Figure 4.1.). Shannon index also showed significant statistical differences between the experimental Pre-Ab and Dur-Ab groups (P = 0.014). The fish group fed the OTC diet displayed lower alpha diversity in all the alpha diversity parameters evaluated compared with the group fed the diet without OTC. No significant differences in alpha diversity were observed between the control and probiotic groups regardless of the use of OTC in the diet. No interaction between the factors studied, i.e. probiotic and antibiotic factors (Chao1 P = 0.584, PD P = 0.276) were detected after Analysis of variance (ANOVA).



Figure 4.1. Alpha diversity parameters of the distal intestinal microbiota associated to digesta comparing pre-antibiotic (Pre-Ab) and during antibiotic (Dur-Ab) groups. a) Rarefaction curve based on Chao1 metric representing the average and standard deviation (error bars) of OTUs per experimental group; b) Phylogenetic diversity (PD) boxplot; c) Shannon index boxplot. Statistical analysis was conducted using alpha diversity parameters from samples rarefied at an even depth of 15,000 sequences. Statistical differences are denoted by asterisk * (P < 0.05). Dashed lines represent significant differences between Pre-Ab and Dur-AB groups. No significant differences were observed between control (red) and probiotic (blue).

Beta diversity based on weighted and unweighted UniFrac dissimilarity matrix was used to compare the effects of probiotic *P. acidilactici* and OTC on the overall bacteria composition in the distal intestine, and the results are visualised in Figure 4.2 by a principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) and statistically analysed by PERMANOVA (Table 4.1.). The principal coordinate analysis from weighted and unweighted UniFrac showed that the samples clustered by OTC factor. Two clusters are evident, the first cluster is composed of the samples from the Pre-Ab

groups, whilst the second cluster is composed of the samples from Dur-Ab groups. No clear clustering effect was observed between control and probiotic groups. PERMANOVA analysis is consistent with the PCoA results, revealing significant differences between the Pre-Ab and Dur-Ab experimental groups but not between control and probiotic groups. Higher variations between samples were detected within Dur-Ab group than within Pre-Ab groups as shown by PCoA.



Figure 4.2. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the distal intestinal microbiota associated to digesta using UniFrac distances. The percentage of variation is explained by PC1 and PC2 axis. Each plot represents the differences among the different experimental groups. Pre-antibiotic control (Pre-Ab control, red triangles), pre-antibiotic probiotic (Pre-Ab probiotic, blue circles), During-antibiotic control (Dur-Ab control, blue triangles) and During-antibiotic probiotic (Dur-Ab probiotic, red circles). a) PCoA weighted UniFrac; b) PCoA unweighted UniFrac.

	PERMANOVA					
Group comparison	Weighted I	UniFrac	Unweighted	Unweighted UniFrac		
	Pseudo-F/t	Р	Pseudo-F/t	Р		
Probiotic vs Control	0.29	0.848	0.84	0.704		
Pre-Ab vs. Dur-Ab	6.61	0.002	5.39	0.002		
Interaction	2.19	0.125	1.17	0.253		

Table 4.1. PERMANOVA results from weighted and unweighted UniFrac.

The relative abundance at phylum and class levels is displayed in Figure 4.3. Five phyla accounted for 95% of the total reads for all the samples evaluated with important changes according to the experimental group. The most dominant group was the phylum Firmicutes, specifically the class Bacilli which accounted for $63 \pm 7.5\%$ of the total abundance in all the experimental groups. The phylum Fusobacteria was the second most abundant taxon accounting for $11.8 \pm 12.2\%$ of the total sequences of all the experimental groups. The genus *Pediococcus* had a significantly higher abundance in the Pre-Ab probiotic group ($2.65 \pm 1.1\%$) than in the Dur-Ab probiotic group (0.57 ± 0.6).



Figure 4.3. Relative abundance of the main bacterial taxa at class and phylum level and abundance of the genus *Pediococcus*. Classes below an abundance average of 0.5% per experimental group are not shown but summarised in a mixed group "Others". Numbers below the bars represent the number of the fish for each experimental group. Pre-antibiotic (Pre-Ab), during-antibiotic (Dur-Ab).

LEfSe was conducted to detect the significant differences in specific taxa modulated by the factors investigated in this study i.e. probiotic and antibiotic factors. The differences in taxa between Pre-Ab and Dur-Ab were assessed in

LEfSe using all the samples, and the results are displayed in Figure 4.4. Meanwhile, the effect of probiotic on specific taxa was only evaluated in samples from the Pre-Ab phase. The comparison between control and probiotic in samples from Dur-Ab phase was avoided since, according to PCoA, no clustering effect was observed in this phase.

A high number of taxa was modulated in the bacterial microbiota associated to digesta by the addition of OTC in the diet (44 genera enriched in the Pre-Ab group and 14 genera enriched in the Dur-Ab group). The main changes associated to the OTC in the Dur-Ab groups were an enrichment of the phyla Proteobacteria and Fusobacteria and a decreased abundance of Firmicutes. A significant enrichment of the phylum Fusobacteria was led mainly by overrepresentation of the genus *Cetobacterium*. In the phylum Proteobacteria, the main class, significantly enriched in the Dur-Ab groups was Gammaproteobacteria (genera Edwarsiella and Pseudomonas,). Although, most of the taxa belonging to the phylum Firmicutes decreased in the Dur-Ab groups a few exceptions were observed with the genera Lactobacillus, Enterococcus and Bacillus, which were enriched during the antibiotic intervention with OTC. The reduction in the relative abundance of different taxa from the phylum Firmicutes in the Pre-Ab group in contrast with the Dur-Ab group involved different taxonomic groups from the class Clostridia (genera Helcococcus, Peptoniphilus, Clostridium, Hespellia). Furthermore, other taxa from phylum Firmicutes belonging to the LAB group were also significantly decreased in the Pre-Ab groups, the main genera affected were Lactococcus, Vagococcus, Weissella and Carnobacterium. In contrast to the OTC intervention, the supplementation of the probiotic *P. acidilactici* had a mild modulatory effect on specific taxa, as only 10 genera were significantly different between control and probiotic groups during the Pre-Ab phase. The main phyla

modulated in the probiotic group were Proteobacteria and Chloroflexi, which had lower abundance in the probiotic group, whereas the phylum Firmicutes was significantly enriched. Regarding the phylum Proteobacteria, Enterovibrio, and unidentified OTUs from families Enterobacteriaceae two the and Aeromonadaceae were the main taxa reduced in the probiotic group, whilst the reduction in the phylum Chloroflexi in the probiotic group was led by a decline of the genus Ardenscatena. The main Firmicutes taxa significantly enriched in the probiotic group belonged to the order Lactobacilliales (genera Streptococcus and Pediococcus) and Bacilliales (genera Virgibacillus and Brochothrix).

To evaluate the core microbiota, the shared OTUs in 80% of the samples at the genus level were determined for each of the four experimental groups (Figure 4.6.). The core microbiota was represented by 33 OTUs which accounted for the 20.6% of all the shared OTUs among all the experimental groups. Taking together all the OTUs of the core microbiota, they accounted for a large proportion of the total abundance of all the experimental groups i.e. >82%. The core microbiota was represented by four phyla Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Fusobacteria and Proteobacteria. The phylum Firmicutes was the dominant phylum in the core microbiota regarding the number of OTUs (18 OTUs) and the relative abundance (>43% in all the groups), followed by Proteobacteria. Members of the core microbiota were largely modulated by the factors investigated in this study mainly by OTC intervention as revealed by LEfSe.



Figure 4.4. Taxonomic differences in distal intestinal microbiota from digesta between control and probiotic groups according to LEfSe analysis. The analysis was carried out with the relative abundance of all samples at the genus level. The pre-antibiotic (Pre-Ab) and during antibiotic (Dur-Ab) groups were treated as classes and probiotic and control groups as subclasses. a) A circular cladogram is representing the significant enriched OTUs between Dur-Ab (red) or Pre-Ab (green) groups. No significantly different OTUs are represented in yellow. The diameter of each dots is proportional to its effect size. b) Linear discriminant analysis (LDA), differentially enriched OTUs are arranged in descending order according to LDA score.



Figure 4.5. Taxonomic differences in distal intestinal microbiota from digesta between control and probiotic groups according to LEfSe analysis. The analysis was carried out with the relative abundance of the samples from the Pre-antibiotic group at the genus level. Probiotic and control groups were treated as classes. a) A circular cladogram is representing the significant enriched OTUs between control (red) or probiotics (green) groups. No significantly different OTUs are represented in yellow. The diameter of each dots is proportional to its effect size. b) Linear discriminant analysis (LDA), differentially enriched OTUs are arranged in descending order according to LDA score.



b) Pre-Ab control

Dur-Ab probiotic

Co	re Taxonomy	Average abundance		undance (%)	
Dhylum	Order	in the order	Pre-Ab		Dur-Ab	
Filyium	Order	in the order	Control	Probiotic	ndance (%) Dur-At Control Pr 3.12 0.24 6.88 51.04 2.39 13.42 0.63 2.10 2.87 1.37 0.30 84 36	Probiotic
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidales	2	7.34	4.32	3.12	7.22
Firmicutes	Unidentified Firmicutes	1	0.24	0.10	0.24	0.26
	Bacilliales	3	1.87	1.35	6.88	8.33
	Lactobacilliales	12	56.23	65.80	51.04	43.64
	Clostridiales	3	4.81	6.10	2.39	1.39
Fusobacteria	Fusobacteriales	2	10.03	2.62	13.42	19.82
Proteobacteria	Aeromonodales	2	0.69	0.44	0.63	1.00
	Alteromonadales	1	0.51	0.39	2.10	0.32
	Enterobacteriales	4	2.05	0.93	2.87	4.43
	Pseudomonadales	1	0.81	0.31	1.37	1.80
	Vibrionales	2	0.12	0.09	0.30	0.24
	Total	33	84.71	82.44	84.36	88.45

Figure 4.6. Core microbiota of distal intestinal digesta. a) Venn diagram showing the shared OTUs across 80% of the samples per experimental group, including control and probiotic in two phases, pre-antibiotic (Pre-Ab) and during antibiotic (Dur-Ab). b) Table showing the contribution of each component (average abundance) of the core microbiota in each experimental group.

4.5. Discussion

Antibiotics have been widely used in aquaculture as a tool to counteract the effect of bacterial infections (Cabello, 2006; Burridge et al., 2010). The addition of antibiotics in the diet is well recognized as a major disturbing factor of the gut microbiota in humans, (Zeissig and Blumberg, 2014), poultry (Lin et al., 2013; Videnska et al., 2013) and swine production (Looft et al., 2014; Schokker et al., 2015); however, in salmonid aquaculture the impact of antibiotics on the intestinal microbiota is poorly understood. In this study, the influence of a dietary supplementation of a commercial relevant antibiotic, OTC, on the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout was evaluated. Furthermore, the potential role of a probiotic supplementation to ameliorate the alteration in the intestinal microbiota by OTC was investigated. The results suggested that the OTC had a larger impact on the intestinal microbiota than the probiotic *P. acidilactici* and the use of a probiotic did not modulate the effect of OTC on the bacteria communities of the distal intestine.

4.5.1. Effect of oxytetracycline and probiotic supplementation on the bacterial microbiota of the distal intestine

Some studies in fish have demonstrated that antibiotics have a significant impact on the intestinal microbiota of salmonids (Moffitt and Mobin, 2006; Bakke-McKellep et al., 2007; Navarrete et al., 2008). In this study, the addition of OTC in the diet significantly reduced the alpha diversity indices of the digestaassociated bacterial communities. This result is in line with the research conducted by Bakke-McKellep et al. (2007) and Navarrete et al. (2008) in Atlantic salmon. These authors reported that OTC reduced the diversity of cultivable bacteria in the intestine. The antibiotic OTC belongs to the tetracycline group, which are broad-spectrum antibiotics with effects on different bacterial species. Thus, the significant decrease in alpha diversity in the fish group fed OTC compared with the untreated group is not surprising. On the other hand, the probiotic *P. acidilactici* did not affect the alpha diversity of the Pre-Ab nor Dur-Ab groups. This finding are similar to the results reported in Chapter 3, which indicated that *P. acidilactici* did not reduced the alpha diversity of the microbiota associated to digesta in rainbow trout fed FM and PMIX diets.

The impact of OTC and probiotic supplementation on the beta diversity of the trout gut microbiota was evaluated by UniFrac; the findings were consistent with the results reported in alpha diversity. Thus, the greatest impact on the bacterial communities was induced by OTC. Meanwhile, the factor probiotic only had a subtle effect on the distal intestinal microbiota. Similar results between the weighted and unweighted UniFrac suggested that OTC had an impact not only on the relative abundance of the bacterial microbiota before and during OTC administration but in the presence or absence of specific OTUs. The experimental groups Pre-Ab and Dur-Ab when evaluated by PCoA revealed that these two groups differed not only in different clustering patterns but also in a larger interindividual variation within Dur-Ab group compared with the Pre-Ab group. This finding suggested that the microbiota disturbances associated with OTC administration were individual dependent and the final bacterial composition could be the result of multiple factors such as differences in the initial bacterial composition, different individual exposure to OTC and complex bacterial interactions in the intestine after OTC exposition.
Although the overall differences between control and probiotic groups were not significant, the PCoA analysis showed a mild clustering effect in the Pre-Ab group. Furthermore, the supplementation of *P. acidilactici* did not ameliorate the significant disturbing effect of OTC in the bacterial communities associated to the distal intestinal digesta. A strong reduction of the relative abundance of *Pediococcus* in the fish fed the probiotic diet during the antibiotic phase (Dur-Ab) was observed in the probiotic group compared to the probiotic group before OTC administration. This finding could explain the lack of modulation between probiotic and control group in the Dur-Ab phase, despite that this experimental group was fed the probiotic diet uninterruptedly during this phase. As reported in other studies the potential effect of a bacterial probiotic in the host could be mediated by several factors such as diet (Chapter 3)(Tachon et al., 2014), probiotic doses (Ramos et al., 2015) among others. The lower level of Pediococcus in fish fed the OTC diet could be the result of the direct effect of the antibiotic on the survival of the probiotic P. acidilactici. Although some strains of *P. acidilactici* are intrinsically resistant to tetracycline, generally this species is susceptible to OTC (Temmerman et al., 2003; Barbosa et al., 2015).

4.5.2. Core microbiota is modulated by OTC

Prior to the antibiotic administration, the phylum Firmicutes was the dominant taxon in the distal intestinal digesta of rainbow trout. This is in agreement with the results found in Chapter 3, despite the fact that the ingredients composition varied widely between both studies (i.e. commercial diet in this chapter vs. FM, SB and PMIX diets in chapter 3). The dominance of Firmicutes in the microbiota associated to the digesta in both studies (Chapter 3 and Chapter 4) suggests that members of this phylum are well adpated to distal intestine of rainbow trout. In

this study, a core microbiota of 33 OTUs at genus level was identified across different experimental groups. The class Bacilli from the phylum Firmicutes was the main taxon regarding the relative abundance and number of OTUs represented in the core microbiota. The high abundance of members of Bacilli class as part of the core microbiota associated to the digesta found in this study as well as previous results from Chapter 3 indicating the dominance of Bacilli class in the core microbiota associated to digesta suggest that this taxon has a central role in the distal intestine of rainbow trout. Lyons et al. (2017) reported that the class Bacilli was the major taxon present in the mucosa of rainbow trout under farming conditions. However, the relative abundance of the class Bacilli reported in the study above was much lower (16.8%) than that reported in this study (63%). Members of the phyla Fusobacteria, Proteobacteria and Bacteroidetes, were also identified as part of the core microbiota, which is in agreement with previous studies in rainbow trout (Wong et al., 2013; Etyemez and Balcázar, 2015; Lyons et al., 2017). The identification of a core microbiota is of interest in the study of the gut microbiota of animals because these are well adapted bacterial members that are shared by a significant number of healthy individuals and could have a more important role in hosting health in comparison with transient microbes (Salonen et al., 2012; Shade and Handelsman, 2012). Despite that a core microbiota was identified in all the experimental groups in this study, the relative abundance of some of these shared OTUs was significantly different among experimental groups. The fish group fed OTC showed the greatest changes in OTUs belonging to the core microbiota, whereas the fish group fed probiotic diet had only a few core microbiota taxa modulated. Overall, the antibiotic factor was the stronger driver of the distal intestinal microbiota associated to the digesta, causing perturbation in a large number of important

bacterial taxa. The mild effect of the probiotic factor in the microbiota between the Pre-Ab control group and Pre-Ab probiotic in this study compared with the results observed in Chapter 3 in digesta microbiota could be explained by the potential role that different diet ingredients used in both studies may have in promoting or inhibiting the metabolism and survival of *P. acidilactici* in the intestine.

4.5.3. Conclusion

Alterations in intestinal microbiota induced by antibiotics have been associated with several disorders in mammals. Even though the intestinal health of rainbow trout was not evaluated in this study, disruption of the intestinal microbiota balance including members of the core microbiota induced by OTC administration suggests that this antibiotic could potentially predispose the host to different intestinal disorders. Other probiotics with resistance to OTC should be evaluated in the future to evaluate their potential to ameliorate the adverse effect of this antibiotic on intestinal microbiota. Future studies are also necessary to examine the dynamic and extent of the intestinal microbiota subsequent to the exposure to OTC and other antibiotics in rainbow trout and the predisposition to the development of antibiotic-associated diseases. The current Chapter together with Chapter 3 have investigated the influence of *P. acidilactici* in the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout which is a good model to study probiotics in freshwater. In order to study the role of *P. acidilactici* in seawater, the two following Chapters will use Atlantic salmon as a model and focus also on studying the microbiota associated to the intestinal mucosa.

CHAPTER 5. Microbiota and intestinal health of Atlantic salmon during smoltification and the influence of dietary supplementation of *Pediococcus acidilactici*

5.1. Abstract

The aim of this study was to assess the effect of the transfer from freshwater to seawater on the bacterial communities of the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon and also to evaluate the microbiota modulation in these fish when the bacteria P. acidilactici MA18/5M was added to the diet. Additionally, the effect of probiotic supplementation on the histology and the expression of selected immune genes was also investigated. A 12-week feeding trial was conducted in a flow-through rearing system involving 5 weeks in freshwater and 5 weeks in seawater. Fish received one of two diets: one control diet and one probiotic diet. Samples from the digesta and mucosa were taken during freshwater and seawater stages for bacterial characterization. Intestinal health was evaluated by histology and gene expression. The main phyla detected in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon during both freshwater and seawater stages were Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Fusobacteria and Actinobacteria. Significant differences were observed in the intestinal microbiota between the digesta and mucosa. Results from gene expression analysis revealed an up-regulation of tlr3, tnf- α and mx-1 in the distal and proximal intestine of salmon in seawater stage. Dietary probiotic supplementation and transfer from freshwater to seawater had a substantial impact on the microbial communities of the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon. However, the extent of the microbiota modulation was greater in the mucosa than in digesta. Moreover, the changes observed in fish fed the *P. acidilactici* diet after seawater transfer in the bacterial microbiota associated to the mucosa were associated with a potential activation of the antiviral response.

5.2. Introduction

Parr-smolt smoltification is a crucial stage in the life cycle of salmonids during the transition from freshwater (FW) to seawater (SW) (Björnsson et al., 2012). Smoltification in Atlantic salmon involves complex physiological, morphological, endocrine and neural changes in the smolts to be adapted for life in seawater (Sundh et al., 2014). The central role that the intestine plays in the adaptation of fish to the new seawater environment, especially regarding the osmoregulation process, is widely recognised (Hoar, 1988; Veillette et al., 2005; Jutfelt et al., 2007). In addition to the essential functions of nutrient digestion and absorption and acting as a physical and immunological barrier, during the smoltification process, the intestine is involved in maintaining the osmotic homoeostasis desalinating absorbed seawater in order to avoid dehydration (Grosell, 2010; Whittamore, 2012).

Chronic and acute stressors have been recognised to negatively affect the intestinal barrier function of fish (Olsen et al., 2002; Sundh et al., 2010; Niklasson et al., 2011). The transfer of fish from a freshwater to a new marine environment is recognised to be a stressful period in the life cycle of Atlantic salmon. As a consequence, fish are more susceptible to be affected by pathogens and handling stress (Roberts and Pearson, 2005). The entry of smolts to the new marine environment involves the confrontation with several pathogens that are mainly prevalent in seawater such as infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV), infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV) infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV) and pancreas disease virus (PDV) (Lafferty et al., 2015; Rodger, 2016).

The intestine of fish harbours a broad consortium of different microorganisms (bacteria, viruses, yeasts, archaea and protozoans) that have an active

interaction with the intestine. Previous studies have focused on the bacterial microbiota, describing the importance that these organisms have on the host, including the production of enzymes, growth performance, immunity and disease resistance (reviewed by Romero at al., 2014). Despite the advances in understanding the microbial ecology in the gut of salmonids, little information is known about the changes in the microbial communities during the adaptation of Atlantic salmon to seawater environment or the potential effect that probiotic may have during this critical phase.

P. acidilactici MA18/5M is used as a probiotic for fish in freshwater and seawater environments. It has been reported that the use of *P. acidilactici* MA18/5M as a dietary supplement has led to improvements in the gut health of rainbow trout (Merrifield et al., 2010d) and Atlantic salmon (Abid et al., 2013; Vasanth et al., 2015). Previous research has also demonstrated that dietary supplementation of the probiotic *P. acidilactici* MA18/5M can modulate the intestinal microbiota (Chapter 3) of fish and stimulate various non-specific immunological parameters (Ferguson et al., 2010; Standen et al., 2013).

Therefore, the aim of this study was to assess the effect of the transfer from freshwater to seawater on the bacterial communities of the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon and also to evaluate the microbiota modulation in these fish when the probiotic *P. acidilactici* MA18/5M was added to the diet. Additionally, the effect of probiotic supplementation on the histology and the expression of selected immune genes was investigated.

5.3. Materials and methods

5.3.1. Animal husbandry

The trial was conducted at the Aquaculture Research Station Kårvika, Tromsø (Norway) using a flow-through rearing system. A fish batch of 900 Atlantic salmon parr was randomly allocated into six 500 L tanks (150 fish per tank, average weight 30 g). Five weeks before the start of the experiment, fish were fed a commercial diet and acclimated to a 24 hours light regime and 12 °C temperature. The feeding trial lasted 10 weeks involving 5 weeks in freshwater and 5 weeks after smoltification in seawater. During the trial, the oxygen saturation was kept over 85% throughout the experiment.

5.3.2. Diets and experimental design

Two iso-nitrogenous and iso-lipidic diets were formulated according to the nutritional requirements of Atlantic salmon. The composition of the two experimental diets (one control diet and one probiotic diet) used in this trial is displayed in Table 5.1. Both diets were made by BioMar AD (Denmark). The trial was run in triplicate, randomly allotting the tanks for each experimental group. The probiotic group was fed a diet supplemented with Bactocell® (*P. acidilactici*), and the control group received the same diet without supplementation. The recovery of *P. acidilactici* in the probiotic diets was 1.19 x 10⁶ CFU/g. Experimental groups were fed from Monday to Sunday at satiation using an automatic feeder. To achieve this, fish were fed for 4 hours per day in excess of 10-15% of expected feed consumption per day.

	Freshwater		Seawater		
Ingredients (%)	Control	Probiotic	Control	Probiotic	
Marine protein	46.7	46.9	40.0	40.	
Vegetable protein	24.53	23.95	28.5	28.5	
Binder	11.5	11.5	12.0	12.0	
Vegetable oil	11.75	11.75	5.0	5.0	
Fish oil	5.04	5.04	11.8	11.8	
Vitamin and mineral mix	2.01	2.01	3.15	3.15	
Bactocell®	0	0.03	0	0.03	
Chemical composition (%)					
Crude protein	48	48	22	22	
Crude lipid	22	22	45	45	
Pellet size (mm)	2.8	2.8	3.5	3.5	

Table 5.1. Composition for control and probiotic diets during freshwater and seawater stages.

All dietary ingredients were sourced from BioMar's routine suppliers (not listed here for commercial reasons.

5.3.3. Sample collection

During the experiment, samples were obtained in two time-points. The first sampling was during the freshwater stage one week before the transfer to seawater. The second sampling was during the seawater stage at week 10, i.e., 5 weeks after transfer to seawater. A total of 18 fish from each group (six from each tank) were sampled at each sampling point. Fish dissection and sampling methodology are described in Section 2.3.

5.3.4. Microbiological analyses

For analysis of the distal intestinal microbiota, 6 fish were sampled as described in Section 2.3. and analysed according to Section 2.4. In each sampling point, digesta samples were pooled per tank (3 samples per treatment), whereas mucosa samples were taken from individual fish (6 samples per treatment).

5.3.5. Gene expression analysis

Distal intestine from 5 fish, i.e. 2 from two tanks and 1 from the third tank and sampling point, were sampled for gene expression analysis. Each target gene

was normalised using the geometric average expression of two reference genes (elongation factor 1 and beta-actin). RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, real-time PCR and data analysis were carried out as described in Section 2.5. The primer sequences of the genes evaluated in this study are presented in Table 5.2.

Gene	Primer Sequence (5'-3')	Annealing temperature (°C)	Primer efficiency	Amplicon Size (bp)	GeneBank number
ef-1a	F-TCTTGGTCGTTTTGCTGTGC R-AGCCTTGATGACACCGACAG	60	1.8	61	AF321836
actin	F-TCAGGGAGTGATGGTTGGGA R-GCCACTCTCAGCTCGTTGTA	60	2.1	171	NM_001123525.1
tnf–a	F-ACACACTGGGCTCTTCTTCG R-GCACTTGACCCTAAACGAAGC	58	2.1	52	NM_001123589.1
pcna	F-ACAGTTGTGTGGTCAGGATGC R-GAACTTAACGCCATCCTTGG	60	1.9	110	BT056931
hsp-70	F-TGGTCCTGGTGAAGATGAGG R-TGGCCTGTCTCTGTGAATCG	60	1.9	108	AJ632154
tlr-3	F-CTCTAACGGCAACCAGAAGC R-ATGGTGAGGTTGGACAGAGG	60	2.0	144	BK008646
mx-1	F-AAGCTGGCAGAGACACATGC R-ACATCCTTTCTGCCGAGTCC	60	1.9	73	NM_001123693

Table 5.2. List of primers used for the gene expression in the present study.

5.3.6. Intestinal histology

Distal intestinal tissue from 3 fish per tank and sampling point was processed as described in Section 2.8.1. Images from histology were taken from each intestine section and analysed with the software Image J version 1.36 (National Institutes of Health, USA). The average of mucosa fold length was measured in at least 15 well-oriented folds per section stained with haematoxylin and eosin. Fold length was only measured in primary folds with at a minimal length of 200 μ m, complex folds were not taken into account. Goblet cells were counted in alcian blue – PAS stained sections and counted across a distance of 200 μ m in at least 5 folds per section and averaged. The perimeter ratio (PR) of each intestinal section (arbitrary units, AU) was measured using the external perimeter (EP) and lumen perimeter (LP) and calculated by the formula: PR=LP / EP.

5.3.7. Statistical analysis

Statistical comparisons in all the analyses were conducted between the control and probiotic groups at the same sampling point, except in the microbiological analysis where the effect of the environment was evaluated comparing control groups between freshwater and seawater. Statistical analysis was carried out using the methods described in Section 2.5.

5.4. Results

5.4.1. Microbiota analysis

5.4.1.1. High-throughput sequencing data

An Ion Torrent sequencing platform was used to sequence the variable region 1 and 2 of the 16S rRNA gene. A total of 5.0 million reads was generated from 36 samples sequenced before quality control. After quality filtering, processing the data in QIIME, filtering spurious sequences and discarding reads affiliated to Streptophyta, a total of 1,911,911 reads ($53,108 \pm 33,097$ reads per sample) were retained. The percentage of removed reads belonging to Streptophyta in samples of digesta and mucosa ranged from 0.3 to 2.2% except for the digesta samples from seawater stage, which had a significantly higher percentage of removed reads (i.e. 41.8 and 44.7% for probiotic and control groups, respectively).

5.4.1.2. Intestinal microbiota of distal intestine

To assess whether the composition of the bacterial communities in the distal intestine was influenced by the supplementation of the probiotic in the diet, several comparisons were performed using alpha and beta diversity metrics. Since the digesta samples were pooled per tank and mucosa samples were taken per individual fish, the comparisons were focused on evaluating the differences between control and probiotic groups during the freshwater and seawater stages. However, some analyses were conducted to highlight major differences in the bacterial composition between digesta and mucosa.

Alpha diversity parameters were evaluated using Chao 1, PD and Shannon parameters (Figure 5.1.). The rarefaction curve based on the Chao 1 index reached the plateau, suggesting that the sequencing depth had a sufficient coverage to evaluate the diversity of both digesta and mucosa samples. In overall, there was a trend toward decreased diversity during seawater stage in comparison with freshwater in both digesta and mucosa samples. All alpha diversity parameters showed that the diversity in the mucosa was significantly higher in the control group compared with the probiotic group in seawater. The Shannon index also revealed that the probiotic group had a significantly higher diversity of bacterial communities associated to the digesta than the control group.



Figure 5.1. Alpha diversity parameters of the distal intestinal microbiota comparing probiotic and control groups in freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages and mucosa and digesta. a) Rarefaction curve based on Chao1 metric representing the average and standard deviation (error bars) of OTUs per experimental group; b) Phylogenetic diversity (PD) boxplot; c) Shannon index boxplot. Statistical analysis was only conducted to compare differences between control and probiotic group using alpha diversity parameters from samples rarefied at an even depth of 6,435 sequences. Statistical differences between control and probiotic group are denoted by asterisks * (P < 0.05) and ** (P < 0.01).

Comparisons between experimental groups using weighted and unweighted UniFrac revealed substantial differences in the bacterial composition as shown by PCoA plots and PERMANOVA analysis of the mucosa and digesta-associated microbiota (Figure 5.2 and Table 5.3, respectively). These results identified the treatment factor i.e. control and probiotic, as the main driver of the differences in the bacterial composition associated to the mucosa (weighted Unifrac Pseudo-F 9.63. p = 0.001), whereas the environment factor is driving the differences in bacterial community structure in the digesta (weighted Unifrac Pseudo-F 4.89, p = 0.012). Results from PERMANOVA analysis revealed an interaction between the treatment and environment factors in mucosa-associated microbiota (weighted UniFrac, Pseudo-F 5.02, p = 0.002). The latter is shown in the PCoA plots of mucosa samples where there is an evident separation between control and probiotic samples in seawater but not in freshwater. Significant differences between the control and the probiotic group in mucosa during seawater were consistent in both weighted and unweighted UniFrac suggesting that the bacterial community between both groups not only differ in the presence and absence of some bacteria but also in the relative abundance of some taxa. PCoA plots from unweighted UniFrac showed that microbial communities in the control samples from mucosa and digesta were clustered by the environment.



Figure 5.2. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the distal intestinal microbiota using UniFrac distances. The percentage of variation is explained by PC1 and PC2 axis. Each plot represents the differences between control (blue circles) and probiotic (red triangles) groups in both stages freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW). a) PCoA weighted digesta; b) PCoA unweighted digesta; c) PCoA weighted mucosa; d) PCoA unweighted mucosa.

Table 5.3.	PERMANOVA	results fro	m weighted	and unweic	hted UniFrac.
					,

PERMANOVA						
Weighted Unifrac			Unwe	Unweighted Unifrac		
Average	Pseudo-F	Ρ	Average	Pseudo-F	Р	
dissimilarity			dissimilarity			
0.16	1.10	0.322	0.39	1.22	0.208	
0.19	4.89	0.012	0.42	3.38	0.003	
	3.98	0.03		1.42	0.117	
0.37	9.63	0.001	0.58	5.85	0.001	
0.39	4.06	0.005	0.61	2.09	0.001	
	5.02	0.002		2.86	0.001	
	Wei Average dissimilarity 0.16 0.19 0.37 0.39	Weighted Unifrac Average Pseudo-F dissimilarity 0.16 1.10 0.19 4.89 3.98 0.37 9.63 0.39 4.06 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02	Weighted Unifrac Average Pseudo-F dissimilarity P 0.16 1.10 0.322 0.19 4.89 0.012 3.98 0.03 0.03 0.37 9.63 0.001 0.39 4.06 0.005 5.02 0.002 0.002	PERMANOVA Weighted Unifrac Unwa Average Pseudo-F P Average dissimilarity 0.16 1.10 0.322 0.39 0.16 1.10 0.322 0.42 3.98 0.012 0.42 0.37 9.63 0.001 0.58 0.39 4.06 0.005 0.61 5.02 0.002 0.02 0.02	PERMANOVA Weighted Unifrac Unweighted Unifrac Average Pseudo-F P Average Pseudo-F dissimilarity 0.16 1.10 0.322 0.39 1.22 0.16 1.10 0.322 0.42 3.38 3.98 0.03 1.42 0.37 9.63 0.001 0.58 5.85 0.39 4.06 0.005 0.61 2.09 5.02 0.002 2.86 2.86	

High-throughput sequencing of region V1-V2 of 16S rRNA gene of the distal intestinal microbiota identified five phyla in digesta and eight in mucosa which accounted for more than 98% of the total abundance (Figure 5.3.). Digesta samples were strongly dominated by phylum Firmicutes mainly the classes Bacilli (>59%) and Clostridia (>6.2%), in all the experimental groups. Meanwhile, in the mucosa, the dominant groups varied according to the environment and treatment (Figure 5.3). During the freshwater stage the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota of the control fed fish was dominated by Firmicutes (57%) followed by Proteobacteria (16.2%), whereas during the seawater stage the microbiota of the control fed fish was dominated by Firmicutes (27.8%), Fusobacteria (25.7%), Proteobacteria (19.5%) and Actinobacteria (17.6%). Pediococcus was identified by high-throughput sequencing in digesta and mucosa samples belonging to the treatment group in low abundance (<1%). The relative abundance of Pediococcus during the freshwater stage was 0.43% and 0.49% in digesta and mucosa respectively; meanwhile, the abundance of *Pediococcus* in the digesta and mucosa samples during the seawater stage was 0.14% and 0.027%, respectively. *Pediococcus* was also identified in the control group but at lower levels compared to the treatment group i.e. 3.4 times lower in digesta and mucosa during the freshwater stage and 1.45 and 2.05 lower in digesta and mucosa, respectively, during the seawater stage.



Figure 5.3. Relative abundance of bacterial communities at class and phylum level and abundance of the genus *Pediococcus* from a) Digesta and b) Mucosa of the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon fed control and probiotic diet during freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages. Numbers below the bars represent the number of the tanks (a) or fish (b).

Linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe) was used to identify the most important OTUs affected by the treatment (Figures 5.4., 5.5.). Overall, LEfSe results showed that the main differences between control and probiotic groups occurred in mucosa during the seawater stage. Fish fed the probiotic diet was associated with the enrichment of only a few OTUs in mucosa and digesta during the seawater stage. These OTUs belonged to the phyla Actinobacteria (family Corynebacteriaceae) and Proteobacteria (genera Bradyrhizobiaceae and Herbaspirillum). In contrast, a high number of OTUs was enriched in fish fed the control diet. In digesta, these OTUs belonged to the phyla Firmicutes (genus *Finegoldia*) and Proteobacteria (genera *Janthinobacterium* and *Sphingomonas*). meanwhile, in mucosa, the enriched OTUs belonged to the phyla Actinobacteria (genera *Micrococcus* and *Renibacterium*), Proteobacteria (genus *Haemophilus*) and Firmicutes (family Streptococcaceae, order Clostridiales and genus Granulicatella). To evaluate the effect of the environment on the specific members of bacterial microbiota associated to mucosa and digesta, samples from fish fed the control diet during freshwater stage were compared against control samples taken in the seawater stage with LEfSe (Figure 5.6. and 5.7.). These results identified a high number of OTUs that are differentially affected by the freshwater or seawater environment. Overall, the transfer to seawater had a higher significant effect on bacteria associated to mucosa than to digesta. Bacteria associated to digesta during the seawater stage were overrepresented by several OTUs belonging to the phyla Proteobacteria (classes Gammaproteobacteria, Betaproteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria), and Actinobacteria (genera Dietzia, Mycetocola, Renibacterium) and Cyanobacteria. During the freshwater stage, the bacterial digesta-associated microbiota was mainly enriched by the order Lactobacillales and the families Coriobacteriia,

Fusobacteriaceae, *Mogibacteriaceae*, *Halomonadaceae* and *Lachnospiraceae*. In the mucosa-associated microbiota, the phylum Firmicutes (class Bacilli) was enriched during the freshwater stage, whereas the phylum Fusobacteria (genera *Cetobacterium* and *Fusobacterium*) was significantly enriched during the seawater stage.

The core microbiota was analysed only in mucosa samples, due to the fact that digesta samples were pooled by tanks (Figure 5.8.). The core microbiota of both treatment groups during the freshwater and seawater stages had 14 shared OTUs, including 6 Proteobacteria, 3 Actinobacteria and 3 Firmicutes. The relative abundance of all the members of the core microbiota for each group varied from 12.8 ± 0.8 to 18 ± 2.2 %. Despite that, most of the member of the core microbiota belonged to Proteobacteria. Regarding abundance, Actinobacteria was the dominant group.



Figure 5.4. Taxonomic differences in distal intestinal microbiota from digesta between control and probiotic groups according to LEfSe analysis. The analysis was carried out with the relative abundance of all digesta samples at the genus level. Control and probiotic groups were treated as classes and freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages as subclasses. a) A circular cladogram is representing the significant enriched OTUs between control (red) or probiotic (green) groups. No significantly different OTUs are represented in yellow. The diameter of each dots is proportional to its effect size. b) Relative abundance (expressed from 0 to 1) of enriched taxa according to LEfSe. When more than one OTU from the same phylogenetic clade was enriched according to LEfSe, only the relative abundance of the closest phylogenetic ancestor was plotted. c) Linear discriminant analysis (LDA), differentially enriched OTUs are arranged in descending order according to LDA score.



Figure 5.5. Taxonomic differences in the distal intestinal microbiota from mucosa between control and probiotic groups according to LEfSe analysis. The analysis was carried out with the relative abundance of all mucosa samples at the genus level. Control and probiotic groups were treated as classes, and freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages as subclasses. a) A circular cladogram is representing the significant enriched OTUs between control (red) or probiotic (green) groups. No significantly different OTUs are represented in yellow. The diameter of each dot is proportional to its effect size. b) Relative abundance (expressed from 0 to 1) of enriched taxa according to LEfSe. When more than one OTU from the same phylogenetic clade was enriched according to LEfSe, only the relative abundance of the closest phylogenetic ancestor was plotted. c) Linear discriminant analysis (LDA), differentially enriched OTUs are arranged in descending order according to LDA score.

c)



Figure 5.6. Taxonomic differences in the distal intestinal microbiota from digesta in control samples during freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages according to LEfSe analysis. The analysis was carried out with the relative abundance at the genus level. The stage (FW and SW) was treated as a class. a) A circular cladogram is representing the significant enriched OTUs between FW (red) or SW (green) groups. No significantly different OTUs are represented in yellow. The diameter of each dot is proportional to its effect size. b) Relative abundance (expressed from 0 to 1) of enriched taxa according to LEfSe (only OTUs at class or phylum level were plotted). c) Linear discriminant analysis (LDA), differentially enriched OTUs are arranged in descending order according to LDA score.



Figure 5.7. Taxonomic differences in the distal intestinal microbiota from mucosa in control samples during freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages according to LEfSe analysis. The analysis was carried out with the relative abundance at the genus level. The stage (FW and SW) was treated as class. a) A circular cladogram is representing the significant enriched OTUs between FW (red) or SW (green) groups. No significantly different OTUs are represented in yellow. The diameter of each dot is proportional to its effect size. b) Relative abundance (expressed from 0 to 1) of enriched taxa according to LEfSe (only OTUs at class or phylum level were plotted). c) Linear discriminant analysis (LDA), differentially enriched OTUs are arranged in descending order according to LDA score.



Figure 5.8. Core microbiota of distal intestinal mucosa. a) Venn diagram showing the shared OTUs across 80% of the samples in all the experimental groups. Freshwater (FW), seawater (SW) stages.

5.4.2. Gene expression in the distal intestine

The expression of a panel of immune, stress and apoptotic related genes in the distal intestine was measured during FW and SW stages to evaluate the effect of the probiotic diet compared to the control diet, in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon (Figure 5.9.). Genes related to antiviral protection were modulated in freshwater and seawater stages; mx1 and tlr3 levels were lower in fish fed the probiotic diet in the freshwater stage, but higher in the seawater stage in

comparison with fish fed control diet. Further, *pcna* and *tnfa* were significantly higher in the probiotic group than in the control group in the seawater stage. Higher expression of *il-1b* was seen in the fish fed the probiotic diet in contrast with the fish fed the control diet in the freshwater stage.



Figure 5.9. Gene expression profile of the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon fed control and probiotic diets during freshwater (FW) and seawater (SW) stages. Statistical differences between control and probiotic group (n = 5) are denoted by asterisks * (P < 0.05) and ** (P < 0.01).

5.4.3. Histology

The parameters evaluated by light microscopy were not significantly different between the control diet fed fish and the probiotic diet fed fish (Table 5.4.). The histological evaluation of distal intestinal morphology in control and probiotic groups during both environmental stages did not show any sign compatible with an active inflammatory response. The histological structure was characterised by a finger-like mucosa fold architecture, covered with an aligned epithelium of a single layer of enterocytes with supranuclear vacuoles in the apical zone, a thin lamina propria and low abundance of intraepithelial leukocytes.

Table 5.4. Histological parameters of the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets during freshwater and seawater stages. Data represent mean \pm SD (*n* = 9).

	F۷	V	SW	SW		
	Control	Probiotic	Control	Probiotic		
Mucosa fold length (µm)	322 ± 44	416 ± 58	518 ± 81	454 ± 106		
Perimeter ratio (AU)	5 ± 1	6 ± 1	5 ± 1	6 ± 2		
Goblet cells (per 100 µm)	16 ± 4	13 ± 3	16 ± 4	15 ± 3		

FW - freshwater, SW - seawater, AU - arbitrary units

5.5. Discussion

In the last two decades, different studies using both dependent and independentculture methods, have contributed to the characterization of bacterial microbiota in the intestine of Atlantic salmon as well as some basic understanding of the factors that may influence it (Spanggaard et al., 2000; Kim et al., 2007; Hovda et al., 2012; Navarrete et al., 2012; Zarkasi et al., 2014). Nonetheless, these studies have been focused on studying the microbiota during the marine stage of Atlantic salmon; in contrast, little information is available regarding the microbiota of Atlantic salmon during the freshwater stage. Moreover, this is the first known study that investigates the effect of the transition between freshwater to seawater stages on the intestinal microbiota on Atlantic salmon.

5.5.1. Effect of environment on distal intestinal microbiota

The use of molecular methods such as high-throughput sequencing has rapidly expanded our knowledge of the bacterial communities in the fish intestine (reviewed by Zhou et al. 2014). In the present study, the main phyla found in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon during both freshwater and seawater stages were Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Fusobacteria and Actinobacteria. Previous studies that investigated the intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon under farming conditions have also found these phyla as normal residents of the intestine (Zarkasi et al., 2014; Gajardo et al., 2016b; Schmidt et al., 2016; Dehler et al.). Despite heterogeneous experimental conditions and approaches between the present study and the studies reported by these authors, the phyla Firmicutes and Proteobacteria were consistently found as dominant bacteria in the intestine of Atlantic salmon. Although some of the phyla were consistently found in the

distal intestine of fish under the experimental conditions of this study, the transfer from freshwater to seawater had a major role in modulating specific bacterial communities associated to digesta and mucosa of the distal intestine as evidenced by the LEfSe analysis and alpha and beta diversity. However, the seawater transfer did not have the same impact on the bacteria associated to the digesta that it did on the bacteria associated to the mucosa, which was affected to a larger extent. The reasons for this are not yet clear. Information on the influence of different environmental factors on the intestinal microbial communities that investigated differences between bacteria associated to the digesta and the mucosa is scarce in fish.

In mammals, several authors have speculated that the mucosa-associated microbiota could have a stronger role in modulating the intestinal physiology than digesta-associated microbiota. This hypothesis is based on the fact that the mucosa-associated bacteria have a closer interaction with the host as they can influence the host both directly and indirectly than those in the digesta, which can only interact with the host indirectly (reviewed by Van den Abbeele et al. 2011). The latter would suggest that the intestinal microbiota shifting caused by transfer from freshwater to seawater could be involved in important physiological changes that occurred during the smoltification process of Atlantic salmon. The apparently stronger effect of the water environment in the mucosa-associated microbiota compared to the digesta-associated microbiota requires further investigation.

One of the main factors that may be responsible for influencing the intestinal microbiota during the transfer from freshwater to seawater is the salinity, which is a well-known factor that limits or promotes the establishment of specific bacterial communities in given environments (Lozupone and Knight, 2007;

Canfora et al., 2014). The effect of salinity on bacterial communities associated with fish has been previously studied (Schmidt et al., 2015; Lokesh and Kiron, 2016). A study conducted by Zhang et al. (2016) demonstrated that the bacterial community associated with the fish intestine also responds to salinity changes. In the present study, seawater environment significantly favoured the enrichment of Fusobacterium and Cetobacterium in the mucosa. These are anaerobic bacteria from the phylum Fusobacteria. Cetobacterium has often been reported to be part of the gut microbiota of freshwater fish and also reported as a species with potential to produce vitamin B12. Furthermore, Brugman et al. (2009) reported that a vancomycin treatment in zebrafish with enterocolitis increased the abundance of Cetobacterium somerae which was associated with a reduction of inflammation. On the other hand, Fusobacterium is rarely described in fish but often mentioned as part of oral and intestinal microbiota in humans (Chen and Jiang, 2015; D'Argenio and Salvatore, 2015). Some reports associate the presence of Fusobacterium spp. with different human pathologies (Kostic et al., 2012; Han, 2015). However, in fish, this bacterium has not been reported as a pathogen or correlated with an adverse effect in the intestine. The seawater environment was also responsible for a reduction of some lactic acid bacteria belonging to the phylum Firmicutes such as Lactobacillus, Weissella and *Leuconostoc* and for an increase of different members of phylum Proteobacteria. Information about the function of these bacteria in the intestine and the role in the adaptation of Atlantic salmon to seawater are unknown and require further investigation. Previous studies in salmonids have investigated the presence of an intestinal core microbiota (Wong et al., 2013; Gajardo et al., 2016b; Dehler et al.). In the present study, despite that the probiotic supplementation and the water environment had a significant impact on the microbiota associated with mucosa, a core microbiota of 14 shared OTUs was identified across all the experimental groups. This set of "well-adapted" microorganisms account for approximately 15% of the total bacterial abundance. This suggests that the OTUs identified as members of this core microbiota are playing an important role in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon. The presence of a relatively high number of OTUs belonging to the phylum Proteobacteria as part of the core microbiota of Atlantic salmon is in agreement with other authors (Gajardo et al., 2016b; Dehler et al.; Gajardo et al., 2017).

5.5.2. Effect of probiotic on distal intestinal microbiota

The use of probiotics in aquaculture has been implemented as a standard practice to improve the health and performance of the fish under stressful farm conditions (Lauzon et al., 2014; Pérez-Sánchez et al., 2014). Although the beneficial effect of some probiotics in humans and animals is well documented. there is still a lack of knowledge about the mode of action of these products. In aquaculture, this limitation is also evident. Some of the proposed possible modes of action of the probiotics are suggested to be mediated by the modulation of the microbiota (Merrifield and Carnevali, 2014; Wang et al., 2015). The present study investigated the effect of a dietary probiotic supplementation, namely P. acidilactici, in the distal intestinal microbiota. Currently, only two previous studies have investigated the role of *P. acidilactici* as a probiotic in the intestine of Atlantic salmon during the seawater stage (Abid et al., 2013; Vasanth et al., 2015). Both studies were able to identify a potential positive effect of this bacterium in the intestine of Atlantic salmon; however, only the study from Abid et al. (2013) investigated the effect of *P. acidilactici* on the intestinal microbiota. In the present study, the genus *Pediococcus* was detected by high-throughput sequencing in

digesta and mucosa samples. Overall, the abundance of this genus was low in both water environments, with lower abundance observed in the mucosa samples during the seawater stage compared to digesta samples during both the freshwater and saltwater stages and mucosa samples during the freshwater stage. Even though the study from Abid et al. (2013) did not include samples from freshwater, these authors did find a lower abundance of *Pediococcus* genus in mucosa compared to digesta samples in post-smolt Atlantic salmon using Bactocell® which is in line with the results observed in this study. Other studies using *P. acidilactici* as a probiotic in fish have demonstrated that this bacteria was able to survive in the intestine of freshwater (Ferguson et al., 2010; Merrifield et al., 2011) and seawater fish (Villamil et al., 2010; Lamari et al., 2013). In the present study, the *Pediococcus* genus was also detected in the intestine of fish fed the control diet but in lower levels than in fish fed the treatment diet. This genus has been reported previously as a normal inhabitant of the gut microbiota of Atlantic salmon (Merrifield et al., 2014; Gajardo et al., 2016b) and rainbow trout (Araújo et al., 2016). The difficulty in differentiating the native *Pediococcus* from the one used in the treatment diets as well as to classify this bacterium to species level are limitations of the approach used in the present study. Even though highthroughput sequencing has an improved resolution in comparison with other culture-independent methods such as DGGE and clone libraries, the highthroughput sequencing approach still rely on the taxonomic resolution power of the target gene and region sequenced, as well as the quality of the reference database used to assign the taxonomy. The latter and the limitations on sequencing length of current sequencing platforms reduce the confidence to discriminate between species of the same genus. More specific molecular methods such as PCR targeting alpha-subunit of phenylalanyl-tRNA synthase and RNA polymerase genes have been suggested to differentiate species of the genus *Pediococcus* (Huys et al., 2012). Thus, further studies in this regard will be necessary to confirm and evaluate the survival of *P. acidilactici* in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon during seawater stage.

Despite the low abundance of *Pediococcus* observed in mucosa samples during the seawater stage in fish fed the treatment diet, the beta diversity analysis showed that these samples had the highest modulation of the distal intestinal microbiota. Even though this finding is unexpected, results from high-throughput sequencing only give information regarding the relative abundance of each taxon. This information is dependent on the total bacterial population in the intestine, which was not evaluated in this study. Thus, a low relative abundance of highly metabolically active bacteria with probiotic properties could still be an important component of the community, with sufficient effect to produce a response in the host. Moreover, some of the benefits of probiotics may be mediated through mechanisms of action such as immune system activation by bioactive cell wall compounds that do not require the viability of the cell (reviewed by Lahtinen 2012).

5.5.3. Effect of probiotic on antiviral response

The effect of the commercial probiotic Bactocell® on the profile expression of a panel of immune, stress and apoptotic related genes on the distal intestine was measured in Atlantic salmon during freshwater and seawater stages. The evaluation of intestinal gene expression of *tlr3* and *mx1* was investigated in the present study due to the central role that these genes have in encoding proteins with antiviral response in Atlantic salmon (Arnemo et al., 2014; Caruffo et al., 2016).

The results of this study suggest that the supplementation of Bactocell® in the diet of Atlantic salmon modulates the intestinal antiviral response. This modulation was dependent on the environment as both investigated genes, namely *tlr3* and *mx1*, were significantly decreased during the freshwater stage, whereas a significant increase was observed during the seawater stage. This finding was unexpected and may suggest that mechanisms associated with the environment are influencing the antiviral response. One possible explanation for the different response of the intestine to probiotic supplementation could be related to the profound changes that take place during smoltification in Atlantic salmon. It is well known that the intestine plays a major role in the adaptation to the new marine environment. It is important to highlight that the strength of the modulation of mx1 was higher during the seawater stage (5 times increased compared to the control group) than in the freshwater stage (2.2 times decreased compared to the control group). Studies have shown that mx1 is expressed at high levels after the stimulation of *tlr3* agonist in head kidney leukocytes suggesting that these two genes are connected during the antiviral response (Arnemo, Kavaliauskis & Giøen, 2014). These results are in agreement with Abid et al. (2013) who demonstrated up-regulation of tlr3, tnf- α and mx-1 in the distal and proximal intestine of salmon in seawater stage (post-smolts) under a dietary regimen supplemented with P. acidilactici MA18/5M and short-chain fructooligosaccharides (scFOS) as symbiotic additives.

The main function of *tlr3* in innate immunity is to act as a sensor of viral RNA. High levels of expression of this gene have been detected in gut and spleen of salmon under physiological conditions (Arnemo, Kavaliauskis & Gjøen, 2014). Moreover, some authors suggest that the activation of *tlr3* could trigger the expression of genes encoding cytokines and proteins responsible for modulating

the immune response against viral infections (Rodriguez et al., 2005). Due to the important role of these genes in antiviral response, their increase in expression during seawater stage may suggest a potential protective role of Bactocell® in an eventual viral infection.

Activation of *tnf-a* and *il-1a* in the intestine are commonly associated with stimulation of the immune response. In the present study, fish fed the probiotic diet had a significantly higher response in *il-1a* and *tnf-a* compared to fish fed the control diet. However, this response was not consistent during the transfer to seawater. The activation of genes encoding pro-inflammatory cytokines in fish after supplementation with *P. acidilactici* has also been reported previously in Atlantic salmon (Abid et al., 2013) and tilapia (Standen et al., 2013). These authors suggested that activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines after supplementation with *P. acidilactici* may indicate a potential immunostimulatory response that could be beneficial to fight an eventual pathogen aggression. Future studies evaluating the response of Atlantic salmon to a specific pathogen are necessary to test the latter hypothesis.

Previous studies have investigated the expression of *hsp70* and *pcna* as markers for intestinal stress and cell proliferation in Atlantic salmon after adverse intestinal conditions (Olsvik et al., 2007; Sanden and Olsvik, 2009; Krogdahl et al., 2015). In this study, the low differences in the expression of both *hsp70* and *pcna* between the control and probiotic groups, together with a normal histological morphology of the intestine suggest that neither fish fed the control diet nor fish fed the treatment diet were undergoing an inflammatory response in the intestine.

5.5.4. Conclusion

Both factors evaluated in this study, i.e. dietary probiotic supplementation and transfer from freshwater to seawater, had a substantial impact on the microbial communities of the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon. However, it is important to highlight that this effect was more pronounced in the mucosa-associated microbiota. In both fish and mammals, it has been recognised that the digesta and mucosa compartments harbour substantially different microorganism (Eckburg et al., 2005; Looft et al., 2014; Gajardo et al., 2016b; Lyons et al., 2017). Thus, these two different microbial communities may have different roles in the intestine and may differently influence the health of the host. In fish, Most of the studies investigating factors that modulate the gut microbiota have focused on the so-called allochthonous microbiota, which is associated with faecal or digesta samples. The results found in the present study suggest that smoltification process in Atlantic salmon and a probiotic treatment affect in different extent the bacterial microbiota associated to digesta compared to the bacterial microbiota associated to the mucosa. As a consequence is suggested that sampling mucosa should be taken into consideration in future studies to have a better picture of the intestinal microbiota.

Changes of the bacterial microbiota in the mucosa observed in fish fed the treatment diet during seawater stage were associated with an activation of the antiviral response. The next Chapter will study genes related with antiviral response in other intestinal regions of Atlantic salmon fed a probiotic-supplemented diet during seawater stage as well as the effect on the intestinal microbiota. Furthermore, future studies should assess whether the potential activation of genes related to antiviral response, as observed in the present study,

may be related to a modulation of intestinal microbiota or other mechanisms associated with a marine environment and physiological changes during smoltification might be involved in the normal functionality of the intestine in Atlantic salmon. Studies including a viral challenge are also necessary to confirm if the antiviral response seen in this study by the probiotic bacteria *P. acidilactici* are reflected in a higher survival.
CHAPTER 6. Effect of fish oil replacement by rapeseed oil and dietary probiotic supplementation in the microbiota and intestinal health of Atlantic salmon

6.1. Abstract

The aim of the study was to characterise the microbiota of pyloric caeca and midintestine and to evaluate the modulatory effect of fish oil (FO) substitution by rapeseed oil (RO) alone or combined with P. acidilactici supplementation on the intestinal of Atlantic salmon. A 56-days-feeding trial was conducted in a seawater recirculation system. Fish received one of three diets: FO diet containing FO as the sole source of lipids, RO diet with a replacement of 70% of FO by RO and probiotic diet (RO-P) with the same formulation as RO but supplemented with P. acidilactici. Samples were taken from the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine mucosa for bacterial characterization. Intestinal health was evaluated by histology and gene expression. Specific growth rate (SGR), somatic indices and apparent digestibility (AD) of protein and lipids were also evaluated. No significant differences between treatments were evident in SGR, somatic indices and AD. The microbiota analysis showed differences in both alpha and beta diversity between the intestinal regions. The results from the beta diversity showed that samples clustered mainly by the intestinal region more than dietary treatments. The genus *Pediococcus* was not detected in any of the intestinal regions or the experimental groups evaluated. The FO replacement by RO or RO-P had a small impact on the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine expression profile of the genes evaluated in this study. The same trend was observed in the histological evaluation, with no changes in the parameters evaluated. The results of the present study showed that the replacement of FO with RO and the supplementation of RO with the probiotic P. acidilactici did not have a major impact on the intestinal health of Atlantic salmon. This study suggest that RO is a potential alternative for FO replacement.

6.2. Introduction

Salmonid aquaculture is a growing industry, thanks in part to the rising demand for high-quality seafood that cannot be met by supply from fisheries. The steady growing of the salmonid industry has been traditionally sustained on the use of marine ingredients. It is estimated that aquaculture uses the 87% of the world fish oil (FO) supply approximately and Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout production requires more than the 66% of the total FO used in aquaculture (reviewed by Turchini et al. 2009). However, the use of large quantities of marine ingredients is no longer ecologically nor economically sustainable, which has led to a gradual decrease in the use of FM and FO in salmon feeds and an increased use of alternative ingredients such as plant feedstuffs (Ytrestøyl et al., 2015).

Regarding FO replacement in diets for Atlantic salmon different vegetable oils (VO) have been used, including rapeseed oil (RO), olive oil, soybean oil, palm oil, linseed oil and capelin oil (Torstensen et al., 2005; Moldal et al., 2014). Rapeseed oil has been one of the preferred candidates for FO replacement in fish diets due to rapeseed is grown in different countries mainly in Europe and North America with good availability of non-genetic modified crops as well its good polyunsaturated fatty acid profile (Bell et al., 2003; Shepherd et al., 2017). Different VO have several components with potential physiological properties including antinutritional factors. Fish oil has high concentrations of DHA and EPA, whereas VO are rich in n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids. n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids are precursors of arachidonic acid, which has a central role in the inflammation. Atlantic salmon has specific requirements for DHA and EPA that may not be reached by the sole used of VO in the diets (Sissener et al., 2016),

which may lead to a detrimental effect on the overall health and welfare of the fish.

Most published research to date about the FO replacement by VO in diets for Atlantic salmon has primarily focused on studying growth performance and feed efficiency (reviewed by Turchini et al., 2009). Only a few studies have evaluated the effect of FO replacement by VO in intestinal health and microbiota of Atlantic salmon. A research conducted by (Moldal et al., 2014) concluded that feeding of fish with high inclusion of different VO was associated with shortened in the intestinal mucosa folds, and moderate alterations in the expression of immunerelated genes in Atlantic salmon compared to the FO reference diet. Navarrete et al. (2012) showed that the intestine of rainbow trout fed with RO had lower bacterial richness compared with the fish fed FO. Moreover, studies in other fish species have observed that VO are able to modulate the microbiota of distal intestine compared to a reference diet based on FO (Torrecillas et al., 2017). Thus, additional research is needed to replace further or eliminate FO in Atlantic salmon diets.

The results of Chapter 3 demonstrated that the effect of the probiotic *P. acidilactici* in the microbiota of rainbow trout was modulated by plant ingredients in the diet. To the author's knowledge, the effect on the microbiota and intestinal health of Atlantic salmon after supplementing probiotics in diets with high inclusion of vegetable oil has not been studied.

Therefore, this Chapter aimed to: 1) characterise the differences in microbiota of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine, 2) evaluate the influence of FO substitution by RO and the supplementation of *Pediococcus acidilactici* in the intestinal microbiota, 3) determine the effect of FO substitution by RO and the

supplementation of *Pediococcus acidilactici* in overall health of Atlantic salmon in relation to histological parameters, gene expression profile and growth performance.

6.3. Materials and Methods

6.3.1. Animal husbandry

A 56-days-feeding trial was performed at the aquarium facilities of BioMar at Hirtshals (Denmark). A fish batch of 324 Atlantic salmon post-smolt initial weight of 173 g \pm 5 were randomly allocated into nine 0.8 m³ fibreglass tanks (36 fish per tank), containing 1000 L of sea water (33g/L \pm 1 g/L). Throughout the experiment, the fish were kept in a seawater recirculation system with a continuous 24 h light photoperiod. During the experimental period, the dissolved oxygen level was maintained above 85%; the temperature was 15 \pm 1 °C. The feeding trial was run in triplicate randomly allotting tanks for each experimental group.

6.3.2. Diets and experimental design

Three different diets were formulated to be iso-lipidic (20%) and iso-nitrogenous (50%). The reference diet (FO) contained fish oil as the main lipid source; the rapeseed diet (RO) and rapeseed probiotic diet (RO-P) were formulated to replace 70% of fish oil by rapeseed oil. The feed ingredients and chemical composition of the experimental diets are shown in Table 6.1. Two batches of RO diet were manufactured; one served as the control, and the other was supplemented with the probiotic Bactocell®. The recovery of *P. acidilactici* in the probiotic diets was $3,03 \times 10^6$ CFU/g The diets were produced by BioMar AD (Denmark). Fish were fed continuously by automatic belt feeders (8 hours feeding) and feed consumption was recorded daily.

	Fish oil diet	Rapeseed diet	Rapeseed probiotic				
Ingredients (%)	(FO)	(RO)	(RO-P)				
Fishmeal	25.0	25.0	25.0				
Soya protein							
concentrate	17.0	17.0	17.0				
Wheat Gluten	12.0	12.0	12.0				
Maize Gluten	5.0	5.0	5.0				
Sunflower Expeller							
Horse Beans,							
Dehulled	8.1	8.1	8.1				
Fish Oil	20.3	6.5	6.5				
Rapeseed Oil		14	14				
Wheat	8.5	8.3	8.3				
Vitamineral mix	4.2	4.2	4.2				
Bactocell®			0.03				
Chemical							
composition (%)							
Moisture	7.2	7.3	7.3				
Crude protein	44.3	44.3	44.3				
Lipids	24.2	24.4	24.4				
Ash	7.8	7.8	7.8				
Gross energy (MJ kg ⁻¹)	19.5	19.5	19.5				

Table 6.1. Formulation of the experimental diets and chemical composition

All dietary ingredients were sourced from BioMar's routine suppliers (not listed here for commercial reasons.

6.3.3. Sample collection

After 56-days-feeding, 3 selected fish per tank were randomly taken, euthanised and sampled (n = 9). The intestines were aseptically removed using sterile instruments and divided into the proximal, mid and distal intestine. The whole pyloric caeca and the mid-intestinal mucosa from individual fish were collected into sterile tubes. The dissection and sampling methodologies used are described in section 2.3.

6.3.4. Growth performance

Increase in weight gain (WG) and specific growth rate (SGR), were calculated as described in Section 2.2

6.3.5. Microbiological analyses

For analysis of the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine microbiota, 3 fish per tank (n = 9) were used. The sampling was conducted as described in Section 2.3. and the analysis was conducted according to Section 2.4.

6.3.6. Gene expression analysis

Pyloric caeca and mid-intestine from 9 fish (3 fish per tank), were sampled for gene expression analysis. Each target gene was normalised using the geometric average expression of two reference genes, *elongation factor 1* and *gapdh* for the pyloric caeca and *elongation factor 1* and *beta-actin* for the mid-intestine. RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, real-time PCR and data analysis were carried out as described in Section 2.5. The primer sequences of the genes evaluated in this study are presented in Table 6.2.

	5'-3' primer sequence		Amplicon	Annealing	Primer	GenBank		
Gene name	Forward	Reverse	size (bp)	temperature (°C)	efficiency	accession no.	Reference	
Permeability								
aqu-8ab	GGAGCTGCCATGTCAAAGAT	CGCCCCTAGCAATACTACCA	159	60	2.0	KC626879.1	(Kortner et al., 2012)	
claudin-15	GGCACGTCTGAGAAACAACA	TAGGAAGTGGCAGCCTGACT	92	60	2.0	BK006395	(Tipsmark et al., 2010)	
claudin-25b	CCTGTAAGAGGGGTCCATCA	TGACACATGTTCTGCCCTGT	101	60	1.9	BK006399	(Tipsmark et al., 2010)	
occludin	GACAGTGAGTTCCCCACCAT	ATCTCTCCCTGCAGGTCCTT	101	60	2.1	NM_001173656.1	(Tipsmark and Madsen, 2012)	
jam-1b	CGTTGCGGAAGGGCGTAG	CCAGCGATGTGTCCGATTTC	146	60	2.0	GBRB01043958.1	(Hu et al., 2016)	
e-cadherin	ACTATGACGAGGAGGGAGGT	TGGAGCGATGTCATTACGGA	107	60	1.9	BT058864.1	(Hu et al., 2016)	
Inflammation								
il-1b	GGACCTGCTCAACTTCTTGC	CTGTGATGTACTGCTGAACCC	112	60	2.1	NM_001123582.1	This study	
anx-a1	GTCAGAATCTTGGTCCTGGTTC	ACTGCCGTAGTGAAGTGTGCT	98	60	1.9	CA060324.1	(Vasanth et al., 2015)	
il-17a	CGAAGTACCTGGTTGTGTGC	TCCCTCTGATTCCTCTGTGG	143	60	1.9	XM_014193546.1	This study	
tnf-a	ACACACTGGGCTCTTCTTCG	GCACTTGACCCTAAACGAAGC	52	2 60 2		NM_001123589.1	This study	
Antiviral								
response								
ifn-a	ACTGAAACGCTACTTCAAGAAGTTGA	GCAGATGACGTTTTGTCTCTTTCCT	104	60	1.8	AY216595	(Wessel et al., 2015)	
mx1	AAGCTGGCAGAGACACATGC	ACATCCTTTCTGCCGAGTCC	73	60	1.9	NM_001123693	This study	
tlr-3	CTCTAACGGCAACCAGAAGC	ATGGTGAGGTTGGACAGAGG	144	60	1.9	BK008646	This study	
Stress								
hsp70	TGGTCCTGGTGAAGATGAGG	TGGCCTGTCTCTGTGAATCG	108	60	2.0	AJ632154	This study	
pcna	ACAGTTGTGTGGTCAGGATGC	GAACTTAACGCCATCCTTGG	110	60	1.9	BT056931	This study	
Reference								
genes								
gadph	CCATCGCCAAGGTTATCAACG	TCTTCTGTGTGGGCTGTGACG	84	60	1.9	XM_014141819.1	This study	
efn-1	TCTTGGTCGTTTTGCTGTGC	AGCCTTGATGACACCGACAG	61	60	1.9	AF321836	This study	
actin	TCAGGGAGTGATGGTTGGGA	GCCACTCTCAGCTCGTTGTA	170	60	1.9	XM_014194537.1	This study	

Table 6.2. List of primers used for gene expression.

6.3.7. Intestinal histology

Pyloric caeca and mid-intestine samples from 9 fish per tank were processed as described in Section 2.8.1. Each slide was digitalized at 40x magnification using a ScanScope AT Turbo slide scanner (Leica Biosystems, USA). The digital slides were examined using ImageScope Version 12.3 (Leica Biosystems, USA). Pyloric caeca and mid intestine were scored using six parameters, which were scored on a scale of 1 to 4 (Table 6.3.).

Parameter	Score					
	1 = scattered cells					
Goblet cell frequency	2 = increased number					
Goblet cell frequency	3 = diffused number, multifocal					
	4 = tightly packed, highly abundant.					
	1 = absent					
Intraepithelial leukocytes	2 = mild					
frequency	3 = moderate					
	4 = severe					
	1 = normal					
Lomino proprio width	2 = increased					
Lamina propria widin	3 = medium, clear increase in size					
	4 = severe increase in size, majority folds					
	1 = normal					
	2 = focal mild increase in size					
Submucosa width	3 = clear increase in size					
	4 = extreme thick layer beneath many					
	folds					
	1 = absent					
Mucosal fold shrinkage	2 = focal stunting					
indeesa iola sirriikage	3 = diffused stunting					
	4 = total tissue disruption					
	1 = normal					
Hypervacuolated enithelium	2 = focal increase in size, moderate					
	3 = severe, diffuse vacuoles					
	4 = absence of supranuclear vacuoles					

Table 6.3. Parameters and score used in the morphological evaluating of the pyloric caeca

 and mid-intestine.

6.3.8. Statistical analysis

To evaluate the differences between the microbiota of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine, only fish fed the FO diet were analysed. To determine the effect of FO replacement in gene expression, as well as specific OTUs by LEfSe, fish fed the FO diet were compared against fish fed the RO diet. To determine the effect of probiotic diet on specific OTUs and gene expression fish fed the RO diet were compared against fish fed the RO-P diet. Statistical analysis was carried out using the methods described in Section 2.5.

6.4. Results

6.4.1. Growth, digestibility and somatic indices

The fish grew from an initial weight of 173 g \pm 5 to an average of 420 \pm 17 g during the trial period of 56 days (Table 6.3.). Specific growth rate ranged from 1.21 to 1.34. The fish fed the RO, and RO-P diets had better SGR, and apparent digestibility of crude protein and lipid than the fish fed FO diet. However, the differences were not significant. Dietary oil composition and probiotic supplementation had no effect on any of the somatic indices evaluated.

Table 6.4. Results of growth performance, lipid and crude protein apparent digestibility and somatic indices from Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets for 56 days.

Paramatar	FO		RO			RO-P		
Farameter	Average	SD		Average	SD		Average	SD
SGR	1.21	0.06		1.30	0.05		1.34	0.08
Initial weight (g)	172.4	7.6		176.9	4.8		170.1	3.1
Final weight (g)	400.7	56.6		427.8	65.7		432.2	75.6
Crude protein AD (%)	84.3	0.7		87.3	0.8		87.6	0.3
Lipid AD (%)	91.3	0.7		92.6	4.5		94.8	0.5
VSI	11.3	1.6		11.5	2.6		11.3	1.4
HIS	1.42	0.17		1.49	0.15		1.48	0.12
Κ	1.14	0.08		1.80	0.09		1.70	0.4

Fish oil - (FO); rapeseed oil - (RO); rapeseed oil probiotic - (RO-P); specific growth rate - (SGR); apparent digestibility- (AD); viscera-somatic index - (VSI), hepato-somatic index - (HIS); condition factor - (K)

6.4.2. Microbiota analysis

6.4.2.1. High-throughput sequencing data

Ion Torrent sequencing platform was used to sequence the variable region 1 and 2 of the 16S rRNA gene. A total of 3.0 million reads were generated from 54 samples sequenced before quality control. After quality filtering, processing the data in QIIME, filtering spurious sequences and discarding reads belonging to <u>Streptophyta</u>, a total of 928,197 reads (17,188 \pm 4,134 reads per sample) were retained. The percentage of removed reads affiliated to Streptophyta in mucosa samples of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine was 0.27% and 1.21%, respectively.

6.4.2.2. Intestinal microbiota

Alpha diversity parameters such as Chao1, phylogenetic diversity (PD) and Shannon index (Figure 6.1.) revealed significant differences between intestinal regions. Alpha diversity was significantly higher in the mid-intestine than in the pyloric caeca regardless the dietary treatment. Meanwhile, no significant differences were observed between fish fed the FO and RO diets or between fish fed RO and RO-P diet in any of the regions evaluated. The rarefaction curve based on the Chao 1 index reached the plateau, suggesting that the sequencing depth had a sufficient coverage to evaluate the bacterial diversity of both intestinal regions evaluated (mid-intestine and pyloric caeca).

The results from PCoA analysis revealed that the samples evaluated in this study clustered mainly by the intestinal region factor instead of the experimental diet (Figure 6.2.). This significant differences between the bacterial communities in the pyloric caeca and the mid-intestine were confirmed by PERMANOVA from both weighted and unweighted UniFrac. Even though the main factor leading the differences between bacterial communities was the intestinal region, minor but statistically significant differences were observed between the fish fed the FO diet, and the fish fed the RO diet according to unweighted UniFrac.



Figure 6.1. Alpha diversity parameters of the microbiota of the different experimental groups in the mid-intestine and pyloric caeca. Fish oil - (FO); rapeseed oil - (RO); rapeseed oil probiotic - (RO-P). a) Rarefaction curve based on Chao1 metric representing the average and standard deviation (error bars) of OTUs per experimental group; b) Phylogenetic diversity (PD) boxplot; c) Shannon index boxplot. Statistical analysis was conducted using alpha diversity parameters from samples rarefied at an even depth of 11,515 sequences. Statistical differences are denoted by asterisk * (P < 0.05).



Figure 6.2. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine microbiota using UniFrac distances. a) PCoA weighted digesta; b) PCoA unweighted digesta. The percentage of variation is explained by PC1 and PC2 axis. Each plot represents the differences among intestinal regions pyloric caeca (Py, blue) and mid-intestine (Mid, red) as well as the different experimental groups, fish oil - (FO, triangles); rapeseed oil - (RO, circles); rapeseed oil probiotic - (RO-P, squares).

	PERMANOVA							
Factor/Group comparison	Weighted UniFrac		Unweig	hted UniFrac				
	Pseudo-F/t	Р	Pseudo-F/t	Р				
Diet	1.94	0.074	1.43	0.007				
Pair-wise for Diet								
FO vs. RO	-	-	1.21	0.028				
RO vs. RO-P	-	-	1.14	0.082				
Intestinal region	4.15	0.008	5.85	0.001				
Diet x Intestinal region	1.27	0.278	1.00	0.473				
Fish all (FO), repared all		استعامه مسالماه						

Tabla 6.5. PERMANOVA results from weighted and unweighted UniFrac.

Fish oil - (FO); rapeseed oil - (RO); rapeseed oil probiotic - (RO-P).

Bacterial characterization by HTS indicated that the microbiota from both intestinal regions evaluated belonged mainly (relative abundance >95%) to the same phyla and classes (Figure 6.3.). The most abundant phylum in the pyloric caeca and midintestine was Bacteroidetes. The second most abundant phylum was Proteobacteria mainly the class Gammaproteobacteria. The genus *Pediococcus* was not detected in any of the intestinal regions or the experimental groups evaluated.

To evaluate the differences in the microbiota between pyloric caeca and mid-intestine, LEfSe analysis was conducted comparing samples of both regions in fish fed the FO diet (Figure 6.4.). This analysis revealed that 27 taxa were significantly different between regions. The most remarkable difference between intestinal regions was the enrichment in the pyloric caeca of the phylum Bacteroidetes including the genus *Bacteroides*. The genera *Enterococcus, Arcobacter* and unidentified members of family *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Aeromonadaceae* were also significantly enriched in the pyloric caeca compared with the mid-intestine. On the other hand, a higher abundance of several taxa from the class Bacilli including the genera *Bacillus* and *Geobacillus* and members of the LAB group was detected in the mid-intestine compared to the pyloric caeca. The taxa from the LAB group enriched in the mid-intestine belong to the genera *Weissella and Streptococcus,* as well as unidentified members of the families *Bacillaceae* and *Leuconostocaceae*. Other taxa from the

classes Alphaproteobacteria, Betaproteobacteria and Gammaproteobacteria were also enriched in the mid-intestine, although to a lesser extent.

The effect of the FO replacement on specific taxa was evaluated by LEfSe in each intestinal region comparing the FO group against the RO group, whereas the effect of probiotic supplementation was assessed comparing the RO-P group against the RO group. Fish oil replacement and probiotic supplementation only produced few significant differences in OTUs of the pyloric caeca; only 6 and 8 OTUs were significantly modulated by the probiotic supplementation and FO replacement, respectively (Figures 6.5a and 6.5b). Most of the changes in specific taxa between experimental groups occurred in the mid-intestine. Probiotic supplementation induced changes in 12 different OTUs, while the RO diet-induced changes in 14 OTUs (Figures 6.5c and 6.5d). The mid-intestine of fish fed the RO diet had a significantly higher abundance of phylum Firmicutes compared with the fish fed the RO-P diet, including OTUs from the genera Lactobacillus, Weissella and Lactococcus as well as OTUs from Proteobacteria phylum including the genera Arcobacter, Psychrobacter, Peptoniphilus and an unidentified OTU from family Halomonadaceae. Regarding the mid-intestinal microbiota of fish fed the FO diet compared with fish fed the RO diet, the main changes involved the phylum Bacteroidetes (genus *Bacteroides*) and the genus *Lactococcus*, which were significantly less abundant in the FO group. In contrast, the genera Cetobacterium, Plesiomona and Trabulsiella as well as unidentified OTUs from family *Bacilli*, and classes ZB2 and Armatimonadia were enriched in the FO group.



b)

a)



Figure 6.3. Relative abundance of the main bacterial taxa at class and phylum level for a). Pyloric caeca and b). Mid-intestine. Classes below an abundance average of 0.8% per experimental group are not shown but summarised in a mixed group "Others". Numbers below the bars represent the number of the fish for each experimental group. Fish oil (FO), rapeseed oil (RO) and rapeseed oil probiotic (RO-P).



Figure 6.4. Taxonomic differences in the microbiota between pyloric caeca and mid-intestine according to LEfSe analysis. The analysis was carried out with the relative abundance of individual fish for each experimental group at the genus level. A circular cladogram (left) is representing the significant enriched OTUs for each respective group (red and green dots). No significantly different OTUs are represented in yellow dots. The diameter of each dot is proportional to its effect size. Linear discriminant analysis (left) represents the differentially enriched OTUs arranged in descending order according to LDA score).



Figure 6.5. Taxonomic differences in the microbiota among experimental groups according to LEfSe analysis. The analysis was carried out with the relative abundance of individual fish for each experimental group at the genus level. A circular cladogram (left) is representing the significant enriched OTUs for each respective group (red and green dots). No significantly different OTUs are represented in yellow dots. The diameter of each dot is proportional to its effect size. Linear discriminant analysis (left) represents the differentially enriched OTUs arranged in descending order according to LDA score. Pyloric caeca - (Py), mid-intestine - (Mid), fish oil - (FO); rapeseed oil - (RO); rapeseed oil probiotic - (RO-P).

Figure 6.6. displays the core microbiota of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine with the contribution of each taxon in terms of relative abundance. The core microbiota of pyloric caeca was composed by 12 OTUs, which together accounted for 78.6% 83.7% and 80.6% of the relative bacterial abundance for the RO, RO-P and FO groups, respectively. The core microbiota of the mid-intestine was composed by 23 OTUs, which accounted for 79.9%, 81.7% and 83.9% of the relative bacterial abundance for the RO, RO-P and FO groups, respectively. In both, pyloric caeca and mid-intestine, the most dominant phylum of the core microbiota was Bacteroidetes, specifically the genus Bacteroides. The members of the core microbiota of pyloric caeca were stable to the influence of the FO replacement, and probiotic supplementation since no significant differences regarding relative abundance were observed among the experimental groups. On the contrary, several members of the core microbiota of the mid-intestine were significantly different among the experimental groups. For example, the taxa belonging to the genera Weissella, Psychrobacter, Arcobacter and an unidentified member of family *Halomonadaceae* were significantly lower in fish fed the RO diet than in fish fed the RO-P diet according to LEfSe. Furthermore, few significant differences in members of the core microbiota of mid-intestine were also observed between the FO and RO group. In consequence, the genus Cetobacterium was significantly higher in the FO group compared to the RO group. Meanwhile two OTUs belonging to the order Bacteroidales (genus *Bacteroides* and an unidentified OTU from the family *Bacteroidales*) were significantly lower in the FO group than in the RO group.



b)

Core Taxonomy		Pyloric caeca core					Mid-intestine core			
Phylum Ordor		Number of	mber of Average abundance (%)			Number of	Avera	ge abundan	ce (%)	
Filyiuiti	Oldel	OTUs in the	RO Py	RO-P Py	FO Py	OTUs in the	RO Mid	RO-P Mid	FO Mid	
Actinobacteria	Actinomycetales	-	-	-	-	1	0.99	1.06	0.84	
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidales	2	53.11	54.91	54.49	2	51.91	37.16	39.45	
	Flavobacteriales	-	-	-	-	1	0.52	0.33	0.60	
Firmicutos	Bacillales	1	-	-	-	1	1.61	0.80	1.29	
1 mmcules	Lactobacillales	2	9.29	9.92	8.85	3	12.95	6.97	9.88	
Fusobacteria	Fusobacteriales	1	9.89	5.94	11.06	2	3.71	9.81	9.80	
Proteobacteria	Rhizobiales	-	-	-	-	1	0.58	0.56	0.60	
	Sphingomonadales	-	-	-	-	1	0.43	0.35	0.21	
	Burkholderiales	-	-	-	-	2	0.42	0.38	0.45	
	Campylobacterales	1	0.78	0.54	0.82	1	0.50	0.34	0.33	
	Aeromonadales	2	0.78	0.81	1.11	2	0.21	0.60	0.36	
	Alteromonadales	-	-	-	-	1	2.42	1.94	2.59	
	Enterobacteriales	1	3.13	3.30	2.52	1	2.04	1.44	1.74	
	Oceanospirillales	-	-	-	-	1	0.23	0.06	0.21	
	Pseudomonadales	1	1.04	0.95	0.92	2	1.26	0.92	1.18	
	Vibrionales	1	0.54	7.28	0.77	1	0.23	18.93	14.38	
	Total	12	78.56	83.66	80.53	23	79.99	81.67	83.92	

Figure 6.6. Core microbiota of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine. a) Venn diagram showing the shared OTUs across 80% of the samples per experimental group and core microbiota of intestinal mucosa. b) The contribution of each component of the core microbiota (average abundance) in each experimental group. Fish oil - (FO); rapeseed oil - (RO); rapeseed oil probiotic - (RO-P), pyloric caeca (Py) and mid-intestine (Mid).

6.4.3. Gene expression

The expression of a panel of genes related to inflammation, stress, antiviral response and permeability were measured in the two intestinal regions i.e. pyloric caeca and mid-intestine, to evaluate the effect of FO replacement and probiotic supplementation in Atlantic salmon. Results regarding gene expression in pyloric caeca are presented in Figure 6.7. and Figure 6.8., meanwhile the gene expression profiles for mid-intestine are displayed in Figure 6.9. and Figure 6.10. Overall, the FO replacement had a small impact on the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine expression profile of the genes evaluated in this study. Only levels of *e-cadherin* in the pyloric caeca and *occludin* in the mid-intestine were higher in fish fed the FO diet compared with fish fed RO diet. The FO group had a similar gene expression pattern to the RO group of genes related to stress, inflammation and antiviral response. When the gene expression profile of RO group was compared to RO-P group a modulation of some genes related to permeability, antiviral response and inflammation were observed in the pyloric caeca. Thus, fish fed the RO-P diet had higher levels of *il-17a*, *mx1*, and *claudin-25* in the pyloric caeca. Occludin level was also higher in RO-P group compared to RO group in the mid-intestine.



b)

a)



Figure 6.7. Expression profile of genes related to inflammatory and antiviral responses for pyloric caeca of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets. a) Inflammatory response and b) Antiviral response. Fish oil - (FO); rapeseed oil - (RO); rapeseed oil probiotic - (RO-P) Statistical differences between FO and RO or RO and RO-P (n = 9) are denoted by asterisks * (P < 0.05).



b)



Figure 6.8. Expression profile of genes related to stress and intestinal permeability for pyloric caeca of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets. a) Stress response genes and b) Intestinal permeability genes. Fish oil - (FO); rapeseed oil - (RO); rapeseed oil probiotic - (RO-P) Statistical differences between FO and RO or RO and RO-P (n = 9) are denoted by asterisks * (*P* < 0.05).



Figure 6.9. Expression profile of genes related to inflammatory and antiviral responses for mid-intestine of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets. a) Inflammatory response and b) Antiviral response. Fish oil - (FO); rapeseed oil - (RO); rapeseed oil probiotic - (RO-P) Statistical differences between FO and RO or RO and RO-P (n = 9) are denoted by asterisks * (P < 0.05).



Figure 6.10. Expression profile of genes related to inflammatory and antiviral responses for mid-intestine of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets. a) Stress response genes and b) Intestinal permeability genes. Fish oil - (FO); rapeseed oil - (RO); rapeseed oil probiotic - (RO-P) Statistical differences between FO and RO or RO and RO-P (n = 9) are denoted by asterisks * (P < 0.05).

6.4.4. Histology

The parameters evaluated by light microscopy were not significantly different between the FO group and the RO group or between the RO group and RO-P group (Figure 6.11). The histological evaluation of the morphology of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine in all the experimental groups do not show any sign compatible with an active inflammatory response. Only a non-statistically significant increase in goblet cells frequency was noted in fish fed RO diet in the mid-intestine.



Figure 6.11. Histological parameters of the intestine of Atlantic salmon fed the experimental diets. a) Pyloric caeca and b) Mid-intestine. GCF - goblet cell frequency; ILF – intraepithelial leukocytes frequency; LPW - lamina propria width; SMW - submucosa width; MFH - mucosal fold height; HVE - hypervacuolated epithelium. Bars represent mean score, and the error bars the SD (n = 9).

6.5. Discussion

The characterization of the intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon by HTS showed important differences in bacterial communities between the pyloric caeca and mid intestine. The effect of FO substitution by RO alone or combined with the bacterium *P. acidilactici* (RO-P) was also investigated focusing on the influence on the microbiota, growth performance, nutrients digestibility, histology and gene expression profiling of a battery of intestinal function-related genes. The results indicated that a replacement of 70% of FO by RO or RO-P did not induce major changes in the parameters evaluated suggesting that no adverse effect on intestinal health were caused by any of the dietary treatments.

6.5.1. Differences between bacterial communities of the pyloric caeca and midintestine

Due to the importance that the gut microbiota has in different physiological processes of the host, improvement in the characterization of the bacterial communities of the intestine of fish may have important implications for improving health and production under farming conditions. In this study, the bacterial communities associated to the mucosa of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine were characterised using universal bacterial primers targeting the V1-V2 regions of 16S rRNA gene. This characterization was performed in fish fed the reference diet (FO diet) in order to have an outlook of the intestinal microbiota under optimal dietary conditions. Both intestinal regions were dominated by five bacterial phyla Bacteroides, Proteobacteria, Firmicutes, Fusobacteria and Actinobacteria. These phyla have consistently been reported as important members of the gut microbiota of Atlantic salmon under different conditions including RAS (Gajardo et al., 2016b; Gajardo et al., 2017) and marine open systems (Chapter 5 and Zarkasi et al. (2014)). However, considerable differences in the contribution of these taxa were observed between the present study and previous reports. For example, in the present study, a high dominance of the phylum Bacteroidetes was noted in the mucosa of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine, whereas Chapter 5 reported that the intestinal mucosa of distal intestine was mainly dominated by Firmicutes and Fusobacteria. Moreover, Gajardo et al. (2016b) reported that the mucosa of mid-intestine was highly dominated by Proteobacteria. It is important to highlight that these studies were conducted under different experimental conditions from the present experiment, which could be a source of disparity. The different experimental conditions, but also a lack of a standardised protocol for the study of the microbiota in salmonids and fish in general, make a comparison between studies difficult and may limit conclusions that can be drawn from comparisons across studies.

Studies investigating the microbiota harboured by the pyloric caeca are scarce in fish (Ringø et al., 2015). To the author's knowledge, no previous report characterising the bacterial microbiota of pyloric caeca of Atlantic salmon using HTS have been published to the date. However, Navarrete et al. (2009) conducted a study aiming to characterise the bacterial microbiota of GI tract including the stomach, pyloric caeca and intestine of Atlantic salmon using temporal temperature gradient gel electrophoresis. These authors concluded that the bacterial communities across the GI tract did not have major differences.

Contrary to the findings by Navarrete et al. (2009), in the present study, although some similarities regarding bacterial membership were found between both regions evaluated, the results from alpha and beta diversity indicated that the bacterial communities from the pyloric caeca are significantly different to the ones found in the mid-intestine. According to the Shannon and Phylogenetic diversity indices, the

microbiota in pyloric caeca had a lower diversity than the mid-intestine. During sampling processing due to the difficulties in separating the mucosa from the digesta of the single pyloric caeca, the DNA extraction was performed on the whole sample. Consequently, the pyloric caeca samples theoretically should have a higher bacterial diversity because of the presence of the microbiota from mucosa and digesta compared to the mid-intestine, which only included the mucosa tissue. The finding that the pyloric caeca had, in fact, less bacterial diversity than mid-intestine, despite being mucosa and digesta samples together, suggests that the pyloric caeca may have more restricted conditions for the colonisation of bacterial communities compared to the midintestine, probably due their distinct morphology of blind-ended ducts. In fact, LEfSe analysis of te bacterial communities between the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine revealed differences in bacterial membership, which could reflect micro-environmental conditions of each intestinal region. For example, most of the significantly enriched taxa in the pyloric caeca are obligate anaerobes (Bacteroides) microaerophilic (Arcobacter) or facultative anaerobes (Enterococcus, Aeromonadaceae); meanwhile the enriched taxa in the mid-intestine mainly belonged to a mixed bacterial population of aerobes (Tepidomonas, Burkholderia, Weeksellaceae, Acinetobacter, Psychrobacter) and facultative anaerobes (Geobacillus, Streptococcus, Cloacibacterium).

6.5.2. Effect of FO replacement and probiotic supplementation on growth performance and feed utilisation

Dietary substitution of 70% of FO for RO in the diet of Atlantic salmon did not influence the growth performance significantly, apparent digestibility and somatic indices after 12 weeks of feeding. In the same line, supplementation with the commercial probiotic

P. acidilactici did not have any significant effect on the aforementioned parameters. Although no significant differences were observed in the growth performance and protein and lipid apparent digestibility, the best results in these parameters were detected in the fish fed the RO-P diet followed by the RO diet. This finding was unexpected as the FO diet was used as the reference diet with the traditional level of required marine ingredients resembling the Atlantic salmon natural dietary regime. Previous studies investigating vegetable oils as replacement of FO in Atlantic salmon have demonstrated that a large inclusion of vegetable oils did not cause any detrimental effect on growth performance compared to the reference FO diet (reviewed by Turchini et al., 2009). However, Torstensen et al. (2005) reported that the inclusion of RO in 75% and 100% as lipid source in Atlantic salmon during the marine growth phase improved the growth performance and protein utilisation compared to the FO reference diets. These results are in agreement with those found in the present study. Torstensen et al. (2005), suggested that these results might be due to the dietary fatty acid composition of the vegetable oil which has been reported to increase digestibility of dietary lipids and proteins at low temperatures in salmonids (Olsen et al., 1999). On the other hand, the reasons behind a better growth and nutrients digestibility i.e. lipids and protein in the fish fed the RO-P are unknown. The results of the present feeding trial suggest that the replacement of FO with RO is a viable alternative to reduce the dependency on FO in the salmonid aquaculture. More studies are needed in order to clarify the possible beneficial in Atlantic salmon of the dietary supplementation with *Pediococcus acidilactici*.

6.5.3. Effect of FO oil supplementation and probiotic supplementation on the microbiota of pyloric caeca and mid intestine

Different studies have investigated the effect of diet on the gut microbiota of fish. In salmonids, the studies investigating the dietary effect on gut microbiota have focused on evaluating the effect of fishmeal replacement by plant proteins (Chapter 3; Schmidt et al. (2016); Gajardo et al. (2017)). Even more scarce are the studies using cultureindependent approaches to evaluate the effect of alternative vegetable oils on the gut microbiota of salmonids. An exception is a recent investigation from (Torrecillas et al., 2017) which studied the systematic replacement of FO and FM by vegetable oils and terrestrial meals. This study focused on evaluating the microbiota associated to the digesta and mucosa of the distal intestine. Despite the importance that pyloric caeca have in the lipid digestion and absorption, according to a review conducted by Ringø et al. (2015), there is a lack of information on the effects of dietary lipids on the bacterial communities of pyloric caeca. In the present study, the effect of RO as partial replacement of FO as well as the supplementation with the commercial probiotic P. acidilactici on the microbiota of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine was evaluated by HTS. Dietary treatment caused relatively small changes in the microbiota of Atlantic salmon. The main variations in the microbiota occurred in the mid-intestine where the RO and RO-P diets induced the modulation of 14 and 12 OTUs respectively compared with the reference diet (FO). To explore further the influence of both RO and RO-P diets in the microbiota of Atlantic salmon, the core microbiota of each region i.e. pyloric caeca and mid-intestine was identified and the changes of their members evaluated by LEfSe. Even though the pyloric caeca is the main region of lipid digestion and absorption, different lipid source did not affect significantly its core microbiota indicating that the bacterial communities in this part of the intestine are well adapted. It is important to

highlight that the samples of pyloric caeca included both digesta and mucosa, which could influence these results.

Finally, a core microbiota of the intestinal mucosa which included the cores of the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine was identified. This core microbiota was composed for 11 OTUs, and interestingly a large number of them came from the mid-intestine (11 out of 12). The relative abundance of the members of the core microbiota for the pyloric caeca as well as for the mid-intestine accounted for more than the 75% of the total abundance regardless of the experimental group. This high dominance of members of the core microbiota in the mucosa of the regions evaluated in the present study differed from the previous results in distal intestine of Atlantic salmon during seawater stage (Chapter 5). According to the results of Chapter 5, the mucosa core microbiota of the distal intestine during the seawater stage only accounted for 18% of the total relative abundance. A high dominance from members of the core microbiota in the pyloric caeca and the mid-intestine mucosa found in this study could contribute to the resilience and help to explain the relatively minor changes in the microbiota induced by the dietary treatments.

The relatively low effect of RO-P in the intestinal microbiota could also be explained by an absence or low colonisation of *P. acidilactici*, which was not detected by HTS in any of the regions investigated in this study. These results differed from those reported in Chapter 5, which demonstrated the presence of *Pediococcus* in the mucosa of distal intestine although in lower abundance than in the digesta. Unfortunately, in this study, neither digesta samples nor the distal intestine were investigated in order to corroborate the presence of *Pediococcus*. Consequently, it is not possible to conclude whether *Pediococcus* was present or not across the intestine of fish fed the diet supplemented with Bactocell®. Despite the fact that *Pediococcus* was detected neither in the pyloric caeca nor the mid-intestine, the RO-P induced significant changes; 12 OTUs in the mid-intestine and 6 OTUs in the pyloric caeca were found enriched. The latter suggests that it may not be a necessary attachment to the mucosa to exert a modulation in the microbial communities and an indirect effect for example by metabolites from *P. acidilactici,* could be responsible for bacterial modulation in the intestinal mucosa acting directly or through immune response modulation.

6.5.4. Effect of FO oil supplementation and probiotic supplementation on the intestinal health of Atlantic salmon

The intestinal health of Atlantic salmon was evaluated by histology and gene expression of a panel of 15 genes in two intestinal regions. The reason to sample the pyloric caeca and mid intestine as target tissues to evaluate the intestine in this study is based on the role that these two regions of the intestine have in the digestion and absorption of lipids. According to Krogdahl et al. (1999) the absorption of fatty acid in Atlantic salmon decreases gradually through the intestine with the pyloric caeca being the primary site of fatty acid absorption, followed by the mid-intestine. Previous studies in mammals (Vine et al., 2002; Zhu et al., 2016) and fish (Jutfelt et al., 2007) have indicated that fatty acid composition of the diet could modulate the intestinal barrier function. Thus, the expression of a battery of genes related to tight junction proteins and intestinal permeability was evaluated.

In this study, dietary treatments did not induce major changes in the expression of genes related to intestinal barrier function, supporting the previous results from growth performance suggesting that substitution of FO by RO apparently does not affect the gut health. In overall, only a few genes were significantly affected by the replacement of FO by RO and probiotic supplementation in both intestinal regions. Nonetheless,

when the expression pattern is analysed among the experimental groups in the pyloric caeca, the genes involved in intestinal permeability (i.e. *aqp-8ab, e-cadherin, claudin-25, jam-1b* and *occluding*) had a trend to be lower in RO group compared to the FO and RO-P groups. Similar results were observed for *claudin-25* and *occludin* in the mid-intestine. These findings suggest that FO replacement may have an influence on the intestinal function; and this effect was partially reduced in the fish fed the RO-P diet, which had a more similar gene expression pattern to fish fed the FO reference diet. A recent study investigating the dietary effect in the distal intestinal permeability indicated by high faecal water content and plasma osmolality was correlated with alteration in the expression of genes related with aquaporins, ion transporters, tight junction and adherens junction proteins (Hu et al., 2016). Further studies are necessary to evaluate whether the modulation of these genes has any implication in physiological processes of the intestine such as permeability.

Use of vegetable oil as replacement of FO in the diet has been associated with a shortening of the mid-intestinal folds in Atlantic salmon during marine phase (Moldal et al., 2014) but no such effect was seen in the present study. Contradictory results between the present study and the investigation by Moldal et al. (2014) could be due to different proportions of marine ingredients used to formulate the diets in both studies. Moldal et al. (2014) use a diet in which 80% of the FO was replaced by different plant oils including RO, whereas the protein fraction was composed of 30% FM and 70% plant protein. On the contrary, the level of replacement of FO by RO in the present study was 70%, and the protein fraction was 58% FM and 42% plant protein. Thus, even though the level of substitution of FO was similar in both studies, the FM was substantially lower in the study by Moldal et al. (2014). Moreover, the results from

histological evaluation together with gene expression profile of genes related to stress and inflammation suggest that there was not inflammatory response in both intestinal regions by any of the dietary treatments used in this study.

Due to results from Chapter 5 showing an increase in the expression of genes related to antiviral response in the distal intestine of fish fed diet supplemented with *P*. *acidilactici*, the effect of probiotic supplementation was also investigated in the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine in this Chapter. Fish fed the RO-P showed the highest level of *mx1* in pyloric caeca compared with fish fed FO or RO. This result was significant when RO group and RO-P were compared. Contrary to the observations in Chapter 5 and the study conducted by Abid et al. (2013), no effects in other genes related to antiviral responses such as *tlr3* or *tnf-a* were observed. Although no significant increase in the level of the other genes encoding proteins related to viral protection was observed, the increased of *mx1* in fish fed *P. acidilactici* has been consistently observed in previous studies and under different conditions (Chapter 5; Abid et al. (2013). Therefore, further studies using viral challenges and the dietary supplementation of *P. acidilactici* should be performed in order to gain a more comprehensive knowledge of the possible antiviral role that *P. acidilactici* may have in Atlantic salmon and other salmonids.

6.5.5. Conclusion

The present study explored for the first time the bacterial diversity of pyloric caeca using HTS. In conclusion, the results found in this study suggest that the microbiota of pyloric caeca is different from other regions of the intestine of Atlantic salmon. Morphological conditions in the pyloric caeca may promote anaerobic or microaerobic conditions resulting in a more strict niche for bacterial colonisation. This is supported
by a lower bacterial diversity in the pyloric caeca and the significantly higher abundance of anaerobic bacteria and decreased of aerobic bacteria compared to the mid-intestine. Furthermore, this study demonstrated that replacement of FO by rapeseed oil alone or together with the supplementation of *P. acidilactici* did not induce negative changes in the intestinal health and growth performance of Atlantic salmon after 12 weeks of feeding. Mild changes in the microbiota and gene expression profile suggest that the dietary treatments cause some physiological effect in the intestine, which is not reflected on detrimental effect on the overall intestinal health. These changes should be investigated further under challenging conditions that reflect a real stressful event that occurred under farming conditions in order to conclude that the replacement of FO with RO and supplementation with the probiotic *P. acidilactici* have no effect on the intestinal health of Atlantic salmon. More powerful tools such as transcriptomic and proteomic used together with microbiota characterization should be incorporated in studies aiming to investigate the intestinal health of fish when new ingredients are tested. **CHAPTER 7. General discussion**

7.1. Discussion of main results

7.1.1. Characterization of the intestinal microbiota in salmonids

Advances in molecular techniques to characterise microbiota from environmental samples have revealed a far more complex diversity of microorganisms living in close contact with humans and other animals than previously thought with culturedependent techniques. Recognising the role of the microbiota in the intestine of humans and animals has required first establishing what the "normal" microbiota is. In fish, in the last three years has been an exponential growth in the number of studies using HTS to characterise the intestinal microbiota (Llewellyn et al., 2014). In the different studies performed in the frame of this thesis, the characterization of the microbiota using HTS has been the baseline to compare later the effect of various factors that could modulate the microbiota. One of the aims of this thesis focused on the characterization of the intestinal bacterial microbiota in two important farmed species of salmonids: rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon. Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 evaluated the microbiota associated to digesta of the distal intestine in trout; despite the experimental differences between both studies, particularly regarding the experimental diets, the bacterial microbiota described in both chapters were dominated by members of the phylum Firmicutes, which, accounted for more than 60% of the total relative abundance. Bacilli and Clostridia were the dominant classes from this phylum.

Chapter 5 studied the microbiota associated with digesta and mucosa of the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon during freshwater and seawater stages. Significant differences were observed between the bacterial communities from digesta and mucosa in both stages. In digesta, during freshwater and seawater, the Firmicutes

was the dominant phylum with the class Bacilli accounting for more than 60% of the total abundance. Although the class Bacilli was also found in high abundance in the mucosa, other phyla including Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria and Fusobacteria were important and found in higher abundance compared to the digesta. Chapter 6 focused on the mucosa-associated microbiota of the pyloric caeca and mid-intestine of Atlantic salmon. Other authors have used HTS to study the microbiota of distal intestine and mid-intestine of Atlantic salmon (Zarkasi et al., 2014; Gajardo et al., 2016b; Schmidt et al., 2016; Zarkasi et al., 2016). However, to date, no studies are published evaluating the microbiota of pyloric caeca in salmonids. Results from Chapter 6 revealed that the mucosa-associated microbiota from the two regions investigated were significantly different. These differences were driven mainly by the enrichment of anaerobes and facultative anaerobes in the pyloric caeca whereas an enrichment of aerobic bacteria was observed in the mid-intestine, which is likely to be indicative of different oxygen levels between these regions. Despite the differences between the microbiota found in pyloric caeca and mid-intestine both regions were dominated by Bacteroidetes followed by Proteobacteria. The dominance of Bacteroidetes and Proteobacteria in the intestinal mucosa of pyloric caeca and mid-intestine differed from the results observed in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon (as observed in Chapter 5) where Firmicutes dominated the mucosa and Bacteroidetes were only observed in low abundance. The trial in Chapter 5 was conducted in an open seawater system; whereas, the trial in Chapter 6 was conducted in a recirculation system. Dissimilarities in experimental conditions could explain the high differences in the bacterial communities found in the regions analysed in the both studies. Nonetheless, another plausible explanation is a variation in the bacterial communities across the intestine of Atlantic salmon, the hypothesis that has also been documented by other authors (Gajardo et al., 2016b).

A core microbiota was always detected in all the studies conducted in this thesis. When all the core microbiotas are analysed together, it is possible to conclude that despite all the different experimental conditions and different salmonid species studied, the phyla Firmicutes and Proteobacteria were always present in all the core microbiotas. Moreover, Bacilliales and Lactobacilliales were the only two orders that were present across all the studies. The phyla Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes and Fusobacteria, were present in 3 out of 4 studies as part of the core microbiota. Previous reports in salmonids studying the gut microbiota are in agreement with the result from the present studies regarding the presence of the aforementioned taxa as important members of the bacterial communities of the intestine (Ingerslev et al., 2014b; Zarkasi et al., 2014; Lyons et al., 2017).

7.1.2. Factors that modulate microbiota in salmonids

The factors that modulate the microbiota in fish have been studied for decades using traditional microbiological methods as reviewed by (Ringø et al. (2015)). However, the limitations of culture-dependent methods, particularly in terms of limited cultivability from gut samples, are well recognised (Romero and Navarrete, 2006; Navarrete et al., 2009). In this thesis, a culture-independent approach based on HTS of 16S rRNA gene was used to evaluate how different factors related to farming conditions modulate the intestinal microbiota in salmonids. The factors studied included replacement of marine ingredients (FM and FO), antibiotics and transfer from freshwater to seawater. In all these cases, some degree of modulation was induced by the respective factor. However, the extent of the modulation varied according to host conditions such as

intestinal region and sample evaluated (mucosa or digesta). The number of OTUs significantly modulated according to LEfSe is a good frame to compare the strength of each of the factors evaluated.

The factor that had less influence in the microbiota of salmonids was the FO replacement by RO. Nonetheless, these changes were higher in the mid-intestine (14 OTUs significantly modulated) than in the pyloric caeca (6 OTUs significantly modulated). This finding is an example that the response of the microbiota to a potential modulatory factor could be dependent on the intestinal region. Water environment (transfer from freshwater to seawater) and administration of the antibiotic oxytetracycline caused the most dramatic changes (>50 OTUs significantly modulated) in the intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, respectively. A major modulation in the microbiota of Atlantic salmon during the process of adaptation to the changing aquatic environment, and its associated osmotic pressures, was somewhat expected. Nonetheless, an unexpected finding was that the mucosa-associated microbiota displayed greater changes compared to the digesta-associated microbiota. A plausible explanation is that the mucosa-associated microbiota which is closer to the intestinal epithelium responded not only to the environmental changes but also to the host physiological transformations of the epithelium and biochemical changes of the mucus layer that takes place during smoltification.

In line with results in humans and mice (Isaac et al., 2016; Ge et al., 2017), antibiotic therapy had a significant effect on the intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout. Changes in the microbiota were not only in microbial community membership but also in the diversity, which was significantly reduced in fish fed the antibiotic diet. Moreover, a substantial number of OTUs belonging to the core microbiota was significantly modulated. Different studies in rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon have demonstrated

that the replacement of FM by plant proteins can influence the intestinal microbiota (Wong et al., 2013; Ingerslev et al., 2014b; Gajardo et al., 2017). Chapter 3 investigated the effect of different plant proteins, to replace FM, on the digesta-associated microbiota in rainbow trout. Major changes were induced by various plant proteins. Interestingly, the two plant-based diets which were expected to induce a similar pattern of modulation in the microbiota had different effects on the microbiota structure. Taking the fish fed a FM diet as a baseline, the diets based on SB induced higher diversity compared with the diet based on a mix of plant ingredients. These results are relevant for future studies evaluating specific compounds in the dietary ingredients and also examining their associated microbiota. Studies investigating single compounds will be necessary to have a better understanding of the potential role of certain ingredients on the bacterial communities of the intestine.

In conclusion, vegetable protein, seawater transfer and antibiotic therapy in the diet are important factors that modulate the intestinal microbiota in salmonids. On the other hand, vegetable oil had minor effect in the intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon. The studies conducted in this thesis provided new insights of how intestinal microbiota responds to disturbing factors and provide evidence that the magnitude of the response is dependent on the intestinal region and samples studied (mucosa versus digesta). Future studies should focus on the investigation of the consequences of microbiota perturbation induced by challenging farming conditions on the intestinal health of salmonids and the strategies to ameliorate such as effects.

7.1.3. Effect of P. acidilactici in intestinal microbiota and health of salmonids

Pediococcus acidilactici MA18/5M is widely used as a probiotic for aquaculture, and its commercialization has been approved by EFSA as the first and only probiotic to be

used in aquafeeds in Europe (EFSA, 2012). In this thesis, the study of *P. acidilactici* focused on its effect on the intestinal health and microbiota during events resembling potentially challenging farming conditions in salmonids. The effect of *P. acidilactici* in the intestinal bacterial communities varied according to the study. Even though relatively similar doses were used across all the studies the relative abundance varied according to the sample and experimental conditions. In overall, the relative abundance was affected by plant ingredients used to replace FM (Chapter 3) antibiotic therapy (Chapter 4) and water environment (freshwater vs. seawater (Chapter 5)). Moreover, the relative abundance of *P. acidilactici* tended to be lower in the mucosa compared to the digesta in Atlantic salmon. Although the genus Pediococcus has been identified as normal microbiota in the intestine of salmonids (Araújo et al., 2016; Gajardo et al., 2016b), the strain used in the product Bactocell® was not isolated from fish. Therefore, this strain could have a more limited capacity to colonize the intestinal mucosa. Previous authors have investigated the ability of *P. acidilactici* for remaining in the GI tract of two different fish species after cessation of its dietary administration (reviewed by Merrifield and Carnevali (2014). The latter authors concluded that this bacterium could remain in the GI tract of tilapia for at least 17 days, compared with only 3 days in rainbow trout. These findings could explain the relatively low abundance of *Pediococcus* in the mucosa of salmonids and the difficulty for this species to establish a dominant and permanent presence within the intestine in the face of the collective competitive exclusion capacity of the intestinal microbiota.

In the present study, conflicting results were observed regarding the influence of dietary supplementation with *P. acidilactici* on the microbiota of the digesta compared with the mucosa in Atlantic salmon. The results obtained with Atlantic salmon (Chapter 5), which revealed that the probiotic supplementation had a stronger effect on the

bacterial communities associated to mucosa than the ones associated to digesta. Interestingly, the latter was not correlated with the abundance of *P. acidilactici* present in mucosa and digesta, on the contrary, in Atlantic salmon, the *Pediococcus* abundance was higher in digesta compared to the mucosa. These results suggest that it is difficult to make the assumption of the activity of a bacteria based solely on the relative abundance from HTS sequencing. It also indicates that large populations of *P. acidilactici* are not required to induce modulations of the salmonid gut microbiota, and subsequently, to induce host benefits.

The potential beneficial effect of *P. acidilactici* in intestinal health was investigated in Atlantic salmon using mainly histology and gene expression profiling. Overall, no significant effect on the morphohistological parameters evaluated was observed in Chapter 5 nor Chapter 6. It is important to highlight that no signs of inflammation or intestinal damage were observed from the histological studies conducted in this thesis, which suggest that the fish were apparently in good health. In this context, it can be hypothesised that significant improvements of a dietary supplement in the intestinal health are more difficult to observe on a gross morphological level in the absence of stressful conditions that may impair intestinal health. Although, both experiments in Atlantic salmon included factors such as smoltification and FO replacement which could potentially be challenging factors in the life cycle of Atlantic salmon, no lesions or signs of stress were evident in the fish during either study. On the other hand, gene expression analyses can reveal more subtle host responses than morphometric analyses. Indeed, gene expression profile revealed that *P. acidilactici* was able to activate genes that are recognised to be important for antiviral protection. This finding was observed in the distal intestine (Chapter 5) and pyloric caeca (Chapter 6) of Atlantic salmon. Previous research by Abid et al. (2013) also revealed that a synbiotic

supplementation including *P. acidilactici* was able to activate an antiviral response in the distal and mid-intestine of Atlantic salmon. Taken together, these results are suggestive of a potential for improved defence against viral insults and continuing further investigation on this topic is encouraged to ascertain if these gene expression observations correlate to improved resistance to viral challenges. Some of the questions that should be addressed in future studies include elucidation of the mode of action of this potential antiviral effect and whether or not the gut microbiota modulation plays a role in such effect. Finally, a number of studies have demonstrated that probiotics can improve immunogenicity in virus vaccines for animals and humans (Zhang et al., 2008; Davidson et al., 2011). Activation of antiviral responses could potentially be connected to an improvement in viral vaccine responses also in fish. Thus the effect of *P. acidilactici* as an adjuvant could be of interest for the salmonid industry.

7.2. Limitations of this thesis

The use of HTS has increased the knowledge of the microbiota exponentially in human and animals revolutionising our perception of the close interaction between the microorganisms and the host. This approach offers huge advances over culture dependent techniques, genetic barcoding methods and clone libraries. Nonetheless, the use of HTS for microbiota surveys based on 16S rRNA gene also has some inherent flaws, which were also experienced in this thesis. One of the main limitation of the sequencing approach is related to the target gene use to characterise the microbiota. The gene encoding for 16S rRNA is a multi-copy gene, and the number of copies in the genome varies from 1 to 15 or more copies according to the taxon. For example it is calculated that a typical Bacillus subtilis strain has approximately 9 copies in its genome. While, a typical Enterococcus faecium strain may have only 5 copies (Acinas et al., 2004). Although such bias is negated when comparing the abundance of the same OTUs across different samples, it presents a clear limitation regarding the comparison of the relative abundance of different OTUs within the same sample. 16S rRNA gene sequencing has been used for decades to identify taxonomically different bacteria (Větrovský and Baldrian, 2013). For some closely related taxa, however, this gene may not always be the best target. This limitation together with the short fragment sequenced in the most affordable HTS technologies currently available, including Ion Torrent, make it difficult to reach the taxonomic resolution to define sequences at the species level. This is a major problem when probiotic supplementation is used, for example there are 6 validly described species of the genus Pediococcus (Holzapfel et al., 2006), with some of them present indigenously in fish. Therefore, the classification at genus level does not make possible to determine if the genus identified belonged to the probiotic supplemented or if it is another species from the autochthonous

microbiota. Another important limitation associated with the use of 16S rRNA gene as a marker it is the detection of sequences associated to Streptophyta. This group is recognised in the Greengenes database as a bacterium. However, these are DNA sequences from plants or *Cyanobacteria* which are closely related to the 16S rRNA gene. This problematic misidentification was particularly important in Chapters 3 and 5 in which a large number of sequences belonged to this "genus" were removed from the data. This large number of sequences having to be discarded decreases the depth of sequencing resulting in need to invest higher resources to reach an adequate resolution to capture the full bacterial diversity.

Regarding the gene expression profiling, the main problems could be overlooking of real modulation of genes if the primer is not designed for the right gene isoform. This issue is particularly important in Atlantic salmon due to the duplicated genome (Di Génova et al., 2011) which mean that every single gene could have different isoforms which may not always be functional. Thus, if the primers are designed for the isoform that is not functional, a lack of expression could be the product of a false negative. Fortunately, the genome of Atlantic salmon was finally published last year (Lien et al., 2016). This will probably help researchers to design more accurate primers for the different isoforms and thus overcome this limitation in future studies as well as conduct experiments using advanced transcriptomic tools.

Results from this thesis and previous authors suggest that bacterial communities in the intestine differed in the intestinal region and type of sample (mucosa and digesta). Due to logistical and economic limitation during this thesis, only Chapter 5 was able to study both mucosa and digesta-associated microbiota, whereas only Chapter 6 was able to study two different intestinal regions.

A bottleneck to compare studies of microbiota using HTS is the lack of standardisation in the different steps. Sampling, storage, DNA extraction, PCR, HTS platforms, bioinformatics analysis are all potential generator of bias. This is a serious problem that impacts the reproducibility of the research.

7.3. Future directions

Based on the main results of this thesis work a list of different topics is proposed as a baseline for future studies:

- Differences in the bacterial communities between digesta and mucosa as well as across the intestine found in this thesis raise the question of whether these communities have different roles in the intestine and respond to the environmental changes in different ways. Thus, future studies should improve the characterization of bacterial communities along in the intestine in salmonids and investigate how they respond to a common modulator factor.

- Replacement of marine ingredients in salmonids, especially FM by plant proteins, is a major factor driving the bacterial communities in the intestine. Further investigations should focus on specific compounds from the complex plant ingredients that cause a major shift in bacterial communities. An interesting group of compounds to be studied are the non-digestible carbohydrates present in plant ingredients and which have been reported to have significant influence in the microbiota of different animal sometimes even having prebiotic effects.

- This thesis was focused on characterising the bacterial communities in the intestine of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout. Nonetheless, it should be considered that the intestine also harbours complex communities of other microorganisms including viruses, yeast, archaea and protozoan. These microorganisms interact not only with the bacterial communities in the intestine but also directly with the host. Characterisation of such organism will give us a broader view of the role of the microbiota of the intestine of fish opening also opportunities for their modulation for beneficial purposes. - Due to the evidence found in this thesis, and previous studies by different authors, regarding the activation of genes related to antiviral responses in the intestine of Atlantic salmon, it is suggested to explore this potentially beneficial effect in future studies. These studies should take into account different approaches to studying antiviral response. For example, the use of viral challenges could be a useful approach to evaluate the protection that *P. acidilactici* may promote in infected fish. On the other hand, studying the antiviral response through the use of compounds such as TLR3 agonist poly(I:C), a substitute for viral dsRNA could also be an interesting option without the logistic limitation and welfare concerns of conducting challenges with infectious organisms.

- Use of methodologies to quantify total bacterial populations in addition to specific bacterial quantification such as real-time PCR targeting single copy genes should be used to validate and improve the information obtained by HTS. This is especially important when the studies aim to evaluate the performance of microorganisms with potential probiotic effect, which has problematic taxonomic characterization using 16S rRNA gene. Use of primers targeting different genes to 16S rRNA could also overcome the limitation of having to remove a large number of reads belonging to sequences from plant material such as chloroplasts.

- Substantial effort needs to be devoted to integrating the information of microbiota studies characterising the microbiota of the gut with studies investigating the gut health to identify taxa that could be used as a biomarker. Current studies in humans and other animals have been able to establish a link between specific bacteria or group of bacteria with certain diseases. Most of the studies conducted in fish have not been able to identify such markers. In order to achieve this, use of specific *in-vitro* (cell lines)

and *in-vivo* models (gnotobiotic fish) together with innovative experimental designs should be a central part of future investigations.

- The recently published Atlantic salmon genome will improve the designing of more accurate tools to evaluate the expression of genes related to intestinal health that is potentially modulated by different microorganisms in the intestinal microbiota. In addition, the use of this genome will allow researchers to be more confident in the use of other advanced transcriptome techniques such as RNA-sequencing, which may increase our knowledge in the gut responses to different potential environmental stressors.

7.4. Conclusions

- The phyla Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Fusobacteria and Actinobacteria, are important members of the intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout.
- Mucosa-associated microbiota in Atlantic salmon had significant differences
 between the pyloric caeca and the mid-intestine
- Plant ingredients used to replace FM interacted with *P. acidilactici* affecting its viability during feed production process and its relative abundance during intestinal transit.
- Replacement of FO by RO did not have major effects on the intestinal health and microbiota of Atlantic salmon.
- *P. acidilactici* was able to activate a potential antiviral response in the pyloric caeca and distal intestine of Atlantic salmon.
- Modulation of the intestinal microbiota by *P. acidilactici* was affected by several factors such as diet, water environment and antibiotic.
- Mucosa-associated microbiota differed, and responded differently, to digesta associated microbiota to *P. acidilactici* supplementation and transfer from freshwater to seawater.

REFERENCES

- Abid, A., Davies, S.J., Waines, P., Emery, M., Castex, M., Gioacchini, G., Carnevali, O., Bickerdike, R., Romero, J., Merrifield, D.L., 2013. Dietary synbiotic application modulates Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) intestinal microbial communities and intestinal immunity. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 35, 1948-1956.
- Acinas, S.G., Marcelino, L.A., Klepac-Ceraj, V., Polz, M.F., 2004. Divergence and redundancy of 16S rRNA sequences in genomes with multiple *rrn* operons. J. Bacteriol. 186, 2629-2635.
- Akhter, N., Wu, B., Memon, A.M., Mohsin, M., 2015. Probiotics and prebiotics associated with aquaculture: A review. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 45, 733-741.
- Araújo, C., Muñoz-Atienza, E., Poeta, P., Igrejas, G., Hernández, P.E., Herranz, C., Cintas, L.M., 2016. Characterization of *Pediococcus acidilactici* strains isolated from rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) feed and larvae: safety, DNA fingerprinting, and bacteriocinogenicity. Dis. Aquat. Org. 119, 129-143.
- Arnemo, M., Kavaliauskis, A., Gjøen, T., 2014. Effects of TLR agonists and viral infection on cytokine and TLR expression in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Dev. Comp. Immunol. 46, 139-145.
- Asche, F., Bjorndal, T., 2011. The economics of salmon aquaculture. John Wiley & Sons.
- Aubin, J., Gatesoupe, F.-J., Labbé, L., Lebrun, L., 2005. Trial of probiotics to prevent the vertebral column compression syndrome in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum). Aquacult. Res. 36, 758-767.
- Austin, B., Al-Zahrani, A.M.J., 1988. The effect of antimicrobial compounds on the gastrointestinal microflora of rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri* Richardson. J. Fish Biol. 33, 1-14.
- Avella, M.A., Gioacchini, G., Decamp, O., Makridis, P., Bracciatelli, C., Carnevali, O., 2010a. Application of multi-species of *Bacillus* in sea bream larviculture. Aquaculture 305, 12-19.
- Avella, M.A., Olivotto, I., Silvi, S., Place, A.R., Carnevali, O., 2010b. Effect of dietary probiotics on clownfish: a molecular approach to define how lactic acid bacteria modulate development in a marine fish. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 298, R359-R371.
- Avella, M.A., Olivotto, I., Silvi, S., Ribecco, C., Cresci, A., Palermo, F., Polzonetti, A., Carnevali, O., 2011. Use of *Enterococcus faecium* to improve common sole (*Solea solea*) larviculture. Aquaculture 315, 384-393.
- Bakke-McKellep, A.M., Nordrum, S., Krogdahl, Å., Buddington, R.K., 2000. Absorption of glucose, amino acids, and dipeptides by the intestines of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Fish Physiol. Biochem. 22, 33-44.
- Bakke-McKellep, A.M., Penn, M.H., Salas, P.M., Refstie, S., Sperstad, S., Landsverk, T., Ringø, E., Krogdahl, Å., 2007. Effects of dietary soyabean meal, inulin and oxytetracycline on intestinal microbiota and epithelial cell stress, apoptosis and proliferation in the teleost Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Br. J. Nutr. 97, 699-713.

- Balcázar, J.L., De Blas, I., Ruiz-Zarzuela, I., Vendrell, D., Gironés, O., Muzquiz, J.L., 2007. Enhancement of the immune response and protection induced by probiotic lactic acid bacteria against furunculosis in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 51, 185-193.
- Barbosa, J., Borges, S., Teixeira, P., 2015. *Pediococcus acidilactici* as a potential probiotic to be used in food industry. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 50, 1151-1157.
- Barreau, G., Tompkins, T.A., de Carvalho, V.G., 2012. Draft genome sequence of probiotic strain *Pediococcus acidilactici* MA18/5M. J. Bacteriol. 194, 901.
- Bell, J.G., Tocher, D.R., Henderson, R.J., Dick, J.R., Crampton, V.O., 2003. Altered fatty acid compositions in Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed diets containing linseed and rapeseed oils can be partially restored by a subsequent fish oil finishing diet. The Journal of Nutrition 133, 2793-2801.
- Béné, C., Barange, M., Subasinghe, R., Pinstrup-Andersen, P., Merino, G., Hemre, G.-I., Williams, M., 2015. Feeding 9 billion by 2050 – Putting fish back on the menu. Food Security 7, 261-274.
- Björnsson, B.T., Einarsdottir, I.E., Power, D., 2012. Is salmon smoltification an example of vertebrate metamorphosis? Lessons learnt from work on flatfish larval development. Aquaculture 362–363, 264-272.
- Brugman, S., Liu, K.Y., Lindenbergh–Kortleve, D., Samsom, J.N., Furuta, G.T., Renshaw, S.A., Willemsen, R., Nieuwenhuis, E.E., 2009. Oxazolone-induced enterocolitis in zebrafish depends on the composition of the intestinal microbiota. Gastroenterology 137, 1757-1767. e1751.
- Burridge, L., Weis, J.S., Cabello, F., Pizarro, J., Bostick, K., 2010. Chemical use in salmon aquaculture: A review of current practices and possible environmental effects. Aquaculture 306, 7-23.
- Cabello, F.C., 2006. Heavy use of prophylactic antibiotics in aquaculture: a growing problem for human and animal health and for the environment. Environ. Microbiol. 8, 1137-1144.
- Canfora, L., Bacci, G., Pinzari, F., Lo Papa, G., Dazzi, C., Benedetti, A., 2014. Salinity and bacterial diversity: to what extent does the concentration of salt affect the bacterial community in a saline soil? PLoS One 9, e106662.
- Caporaso, J.G., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F.D., DeSantis, T.Z., Andersen, G.L., Knight, R., 2010a. PyNAST: a flexible tool for aligning sequences to a template alignment. Bioinformatics 26, 266-267.
- Caporaso, J.G., Kuczynski, J., Stombaugh, J., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F.D., Costello, E.K., Fierer, N., Pena, A.G., Goodrich, J.K., Gordon, J.I., 2010b. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat. Methods 7, 335-336.
- Carnevali, O., de Vivo, L., Sulpizio, R., Gioacchini, G., Olivotto, I., Silvi, S., Cresci, A., 2006.
 Growth improvement by probiotic in European sea bass juveniles (*Dicentrarchus labrax*, L.), with particular attention to IGF-1, myostatin and cortisol gene expression.
 Aquaculture 258, 430-438.
- Caruffo, M., Maturana, C., Kambalapally, S., Larenas, J., Tobar, J.A., 2016. Protective oral vaccination against infectious salmon anaemia virus in *Salmo salar*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 54, 54-59.

- Chen, H., Jiang, W., 2015. Application of high-throughput sequencing in understanding human oral microbiome related with health and disease. Recent Discoveries in Evolutionary and Genomic Microbiology, 76.
- Clarke, K., Gorley, R., 2006. PRIMER v6: user manual/tutorial. Plymouth routines in multivariate ecological research. Primer-E Ltd, Plymouth.
- Cogliani, C., Goossens, H., Greko, C., 2011. Restricting antimicrobial use in food animals: lessons from Europe. Microbe 6, 274.
- Conte, F.S., 2004. Stress and the welfare of cultured fish. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 86, 205-223.
- Costello, M.J., 2009. The global economic cost of sea lice to the salmonid farming industry. J. Fish Dis. 32, 115-118.
- D'Argenio, V., Salvatore, F., 2015. The role of the gut microbiome in the healthy adult status. Clin. Chim. Acta 451, Part A, 97-102.
- Dale, O.B., Ørpetveit, I., Lyngstad, T.M., Kahns, S., Skall, H.F., Olesen, N.J., Dannevig, B.H., 2009. Outbreak of viral haemorrhagic septicaemia (VHS) in seawater-farmed rainbow trout in Norway caused by VHS virus Genotype III. Dis. Aquat. Org. 85, 93-103.
- Davidson, L.E., Fiorino, A.M., Snydman, D.R., Hibberd, P.L., 2011. Lactobacillus GG as an immune adjuvant for live-attenuated influenza vaccine in healthy adults: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 65, 501-507.
- De Santis, C., Bartie, K.L., Olsen, R.E., Taggart, J.B., Tocher, D.R., 2015. Nutrigenomic profiling of transcriptional processes affected in liver and distal intestine in response to a soybean meal-induced nutritional stress in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part D: Genomics and Proteomics 15, 1-11.
- De Schryver, P., Defoirdt, T., Boon, N., Verstraete, W., Bossier, P., 2012. Managing the microbiota in aquaculture systems for disease prevention and control, Infectious disease in aquaculture: prevention and control, Woodhead Pub Ltd, pp. 393-418.
- Dehler, C.E., Secombes, C.J., Martin, S.A., 2017. Environmental and physiological factors shape the gut microbiota of Atlantic salmon parr (*Salmo salar* L.). Aquaculture 467, 149-157.
- Denstadli, V., Vegusdal, A., Krogdahl, Å., Bakke-McKellep, A.M., Berge, G.M., Holm, H., Hillestad, M., Ruyter, B., 2004. Lipid absorption in different segments of the gastrointestinal tract of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Aquaculture 240, 385-398.
- Desai, A.R., Links, M.G., Collins, S.A., Mansfield, G.S., Drew, M.D., Van Kessel, A.G., Hill, J.E., 2012. Effects of plant-based diets on the distal gut microbiome of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 350–353, 134-142.
- DeSantis, T.Z., Hugenholtz, P., Larsen, N., Rojas, M., Brodie, E.L., Keller, K., Huber, T., Dalevi, D., Hu, P., Andersen, G.L., 2006. Greengenes, a chimera-checked 16S rRNA gene database and workbench compatible with ARB. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72, 5069-5072.
- Di Génova, A., Aravena, A., Zapata, L., González, M., Maass, A., Iturra, P., 2011. SalmonDB: a bioinformatics resource for *Salmo salar* and *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Database 2011, bar050-bar050.
- Di Giancamillo, A., Vitari, F., Savoini, G., Bontempo, V., Bersani, C., Dell'Orto, V., Domeneghini, C., 2008. Effects of orally administered probiotic *Pediococcus acidilactici*

on the small and large intestine of weaning piglets. A qualitative and quantitative microanatomical study. Histol. Histopathol. 23, 651-664.

- Dimitroglou, A., Merrifield, D.L., Carnevali, O., Picchietti, S., Avella, M., Daniels, C., Güroy, D., Davies, S.J., 2011. Microbial manipulations to improve fish health and production – A Mediterranean perspective. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 30, 1-16.
- Donachie, S.P., Foster, J.S., Brown, M.V., 2007. Culture clash: challenging the dogma of microbial diversity. ISME Journal 1, 97.
- Ebrahimi, G., Ouraji, H., Khalesi, M.K., Sudagar, M., Barari, A., Zarei Dangesaraki, M., Jani Khalili, K.H., 2012. Effects of a prebiotic, Immunogen®, on feed utilization, body composition, immunity and resistance to *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection in the common carp *Cyprinus carpio* (Linnaeus) fingerlings. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 96, 591-599.
- Eckburg, P.B., Bik, E.M., Bernstein, C.N., Purdom, E., Dethlefsen, L., Sargent, M., Gill, S.R., Nelson, K.E., Relman, D.A., 2005. Diversity of the Human Intestinal Microbial Flora. Science (New York, N.Y.) 308, 1635-1638.
- Edgar, R.C., 2010. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. Bioinformatics 26, 2460-2461.
- EFSA, 2012. Scientific Opinion on the efficacy of Bactocell (*Pediococcus acidilactici*) when used as a feed additive for fish. EFSA Journal 10, 2886-n/a.
- EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, N., and Allergies (NDA), 2010. Scientific opinion on dietary deference values for fats, including saturated fatty acids, polyunsaturated fatty acids, monounsaturated fatty acids, trans fatty acids, and cholesterol. EFSA Journal 8, 1461.
- Eichmiller, J.J., Hamilton, M.J., Staley, C., Sadowsky, M.J., Sorensen, P.W., 2016. Environment shapes the fecal microbiome of invasive carp species. Microbiome 4, 1-13.
- Engelund, M.B., Chauvigné, F., Christensen, B.M., Finn, R.N., Cerdà, J., Madsen, S.S., 2013. Differential expression and novel permeability properties of three aquaporin 8 paralogs from seawater-challenged Atlantic salmon smolts. J. Exp. Biol. 216, 3873-3885.
- EPC, 2003. Ban on Antibiotics as Growth Promoters in Animal Feed Enters into Effect, European Commission IP/05/1687.
- Estruch, G., Collado, M.C., Peñaranda, D.S., Tomás Vidal, A., Jover Cerdá, M., Pérez Martínez, G., Martinez-Llorens, S., 2015. Impact of fishmeal replacement in diets for gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) on the gastrointestinal microbiota determined by pyrosequencing the 16S rRNA gene. PLoS One 10, e0136389.
- Etyemez, M., Balcázar, J.L., 2015. Bacterial community structure in the intestinal ecosystem of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) as revealed by pyrosequencing-based analysis of 16S rRNA genes. Res. Vet. Sci. 100, 8-11.
- Fabich, A.J., Jones, S.A., Chowdhury, F.Z., Cernosek, A., Anderson, A., Smalley, D., McHargue, J.W., Hightower, G.A., Smith, J.T., Autieri, S.M., Leatham, M.P., Lins, J.J., Allen, R.L., Laux, D.C., Cohen, P.S., Conway, T., 2008. Comparison of carbon nutrition for pathogenic and commensal *Escherichia coli* strains in the mouse intestine. Infect. Immun. 76, 1143-1152.
- Falcinelli, S., Picchietti, S., Rodiles, A., Cossignani, L., Merrifield, D.L., Taddei, A.R., Maradonna, F., Olivotto, I., Gioacchini, G., Carnevali, O., 2015. *Lactobacillus rhamnosus*

lowers zebrafish lipid content by changing gut microbiota and host transcription of genes involved in lipid metabolism. Sci. Rep. 5.

- FAO-FIGIS, 2014. Fisheries global information system (FIGIS). Aquaculture production.
- FAO, 2014. The state of world fisheries and aquaculture 2014, United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome.
- FAO, 2016. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2016: contributing to food security and nutrition for all., Rome.
- Ferguson, R.M.W., Merrifield, D.L., Harper, G.M., Rawling, M.D., Mustafa, S., Picchietti, S., Balcázar, J.L., Davies, S.J., 2010. The effect of *Pediococcus acidilactici* on the gut microbiota and immune status of on-growing red tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). J. Appl. Microbiol. 109, 851-862.
- Flynn, J.M., Brown, E.A., Chain, F.J.J., MacIsaac, H.J., Cristescu, M.E., 2015. Toward accurate molecular identification of species in complex environmental samples: testing the performance of sequence filtering and clustering methods. Ecol. Evol. 5, 2252-2266.
- Gajardo, K., Jaramillo-Torres, A., Kortner, T.M., Merrifield, D.L., Tinsley, J., Bakke, A.M., Krogdahl, Å., 2016a. Alternative protein sources in the diet modulate microbiota and functionality in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Appl. Environ. Microbiol.
- Gajardo, K., Jaramillo-Torres, A., Kortner, T.M., Merrifield, D.L., Tinsley, J., Bakke, A.M., Krogdahl, Å., 2017. Alternative protein sources in the diet modulate microbiota and functionality in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 83, AEM. 02615-02616.
- Gajardo, K., Rodiles, A., Kortner, T.M., Krogdahl, Å., Bakke, A.M., Merrifield, D.L., Sørum, H., 2016b. A high-resolution map of the gut microbiota in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): A basis for comparative gut microbial research. Sci. Rep. 6, 30893.
- Gatesoupe, F.-J., 2002. Probiotic and formaldehyde treatments of *Artemia* nauplii as food for larval pollack, *Pollachius pollachius*. Aquaculture 212, 347-360.
- Gatlin, D.M., Barrows, F.T., Brown, P., Dabrowski, K., Gaylord, T.G., Hardy, R.W., Herman,
 E., Hu, G., Krogdahl, Å., Nelson, R., Overturf, K., Rust, M., Sealey, W., Skonberg, D., J
 Souza, E., Stone, D., Wilson, R., Wurtele, E., 2007. Expanding the utilization of sustainable plant products in aquafeeds: a review. Aquacult. Res. 38, 551-579.
- Ge, X., Ding, C., Zhao, W., Xu, L., Tian, H., Gong, J., Zhu, M., Li, J., Li, N., 2017. Antibioticsinduced depletion of mice microbiota induces changes in host serotonin biosynthesis and intestinal motility. J. Transl. Med. 15, 13.
- Gensollen, T., Iyer, S.S., Kasper, D.L., Blumberg, R.S., 2016. How colonization by microbiota in early life shapes the immune system. Science 352, 539-544.
- Gomes, L.C., Brinn, R.P., Marcon, J.L., Dantas, L.A., Brandão, F.R., De Abreu, J.S., Lemos, P.E.M., McComb, D.M., Baldisserotto, B., 2009. Benefits of using the probiotic Efinol®L during transportation of cardinal tetra, *Paracheirodon axelrodi* (Schultz), in the Amazon. Aquacult. Res. 40, 157-165.
- Gomes, L.C., Brinn, R.P., Marcon, J.L., Dantas, L.A., Brandão, F.R., Sampaio de Abreu, J., McComb, D.M., Baldisserotto, B., 2008. Using Efinol®L during transportation of marbled hatchetfish, *Carnegiella strigata* (Günther). Aquacult. Res. 39, 1292-1298.

- Gomez, D., Sunyer, J.O., Salinas, I., 2013. The mucosal immune system of fish: The evolution of tolerating commensals while fighting pathogens. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 35, 1729-1739.
- Grenham, S., Clarke, G., Cryan, J.F., Dinan, T.G., 2011. Brain-gut-microbe communication in health and disease. Front. Physiol. 2, 94.
- Grosell, M., 2010. The role of the gastrointestinal tract in salt and water balance, In: Martin Grosell, A.P.F., Colin, J.B. (Eds.), Fish Physiology, Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 135-164.
- Han, Y.W., 2015. *Fusobacterium nucleatum*: a commensal-turned pathogen. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 23, 141-147.
- Hanshew, A.S., Mason, C.J., Raffa, K.F., Currie, C.R., 2013. Minimization of chloroplast contamination in 16S rRNA gene pyrosequencing of insect herbivore bacterial communities. J. Microbiol. Methods 95, 149-155.
- Hardy, R.W., 2010. Utilization of plant proteins in fish diets: effects of global demand and supplies of fishmeal. Aquacult. Res. 41, 770-776.
- Harper, G., Monfort, M., Saoud, I., Emery, M., Mustafa, S., 2011. An ex vivo approach to studying the interactions of *Pediococcus acidilactici* and *Vibrio* (*Listonella*) anguillarum in the anterior intestine of rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Journal of Aquaculture Research & Development S1.
- Hoar, W.S., 1988. The physiology of smolting salmonids, In: Hoar, W.S., Randall, D.J. (Eds.), Fish Physiology, Academic Press, pp. 275-343.
- Holzapfel, W.H., Franz, C.M., Ludwig, W., Back, W., Dicks, L.M., 2006. The genera *Pediococcus* and *Tetragenococcus*, The Prokaryotes, Springer, US, pp. 229-266.
- Hoseinifar, S.H., Hoseini, S.M., Bagheri, D., 2016. Effects of galactooligosaccharide and *Pediococcus acidilactici* on antioxidant defence and disease resistance of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Annals of Animal Science.
- Hoseinifar, S.H., Mirvaghefi, A., Amoozegar, M.A., Merrifield, D.L., Ringø, E., 2015a. In vitro selection of a synbiotic and in vivo evaluation on intestinal microbiota, performance and physiological response of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fingerlings. Aquacult. Nutr. 23, 111-118.
- Hoseinifar, S.H., Mirvaghefi, A., Amoozegar, M.A., Sharifian, M., Esteban, M.Á., 2015b. Modulation of innate immune response, mucosal parameters and disease resistance in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) upon synbiotic feeding. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 45, 27-32.
- Hovda, M.B., Fontanillas, R., McGurk, C., Obach, A., Rosnes, J.T., 2012. Seasonal variations in the intestinal microbiota of farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Aquacult. Res. 43, 154-159.
- Hu, H., Kortner, T.M., Gajardo, K., Chikwati, E., Tinsley, J., Krogdahl, Å., 2016. Intestinal fluid permeability in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) is affected by dietary protein source. PLoS One 11, e0167515.
- Huber, I., Spanggaard, B., Appel, K.F., Rossen, L., Nielsen, T., Gram, L., 2004. Phylogenetic analysis and in situ identification of the intestinal microbial community of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walbaum). J. Appl. Microbiol. 96, 117-132.

- Huys, G., Leisner, J., Björkroth, J., 2012. The lesser LAB gods: *Pediococcus, Leuconostoc, Weissella, Carnobacterium*, and affiliated genera. Lactic Acid Bacteria: Microbiological and Functional Aspects, 93-121.
- Ingerslev, H.-C., Strube, M.L., Jørgensen, L.v.G., Dalsgaard, I., Boye, M., Madsen, L., 2014a. Diet type dictates the gut microbiota and the immune response against *Yersinia ruckeri* in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 40, 624-633.
- Ingerslev, H.C., von Gersdorff Jørgensen, L., Lenz Strube, M., Larsen, N., Dalsgaard, I., Boye, M., Madsen, L., 2014b. The development of the gut microbiota in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is affected by first feeding and diet type. Aquaculture 424–425, 24-34.
- Isaac, S., Scher, J.U., Djukovic, A., Jiménez, N., Littman, D.R., Abramson, S.B., Pamer, E.G., Ubeda, C., 2016. Short- and long-term effects of oral vancomycin on the human intestinal microbiota. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 72, 128-136.
- Iwama, G.K., 1997. Fish stress and health in aquaculture. University Press.
- Johansson, Malin E.V., Jakobsson, Hedvig E., Holmén-Larsson, J., Schütte, A., Ermund, A., Rodríguez-Piñeiro, Ana M., Arike, L., Wising, C., Svensson, F., Bäckhed, F., Hansson, Gunnar C., 2015. Normalization of host intestinal mucus layers requires long-term microbial colonization. Cell Host & Microbe 18, 582-592.
- Jutfelt, F., 2011. Barrier function of the gut. Encyclopedia of fish physiology: from genome to environment. Academic Press, San Diego, 1322-1331.
- Jutfelt, F., Olsen, R.E., Björnsson, B.T., Sundell, K., 2007. Parr–smolt transformation and dietary vegetable lipids affect intestinal nutrient uptake, barrier function and plasma cortisol levels in Atlantic salmon. Aquaculture 273, 298-311.
- Keeney, K.M., Yurist-Doutsch, S., Arrieta, M.-C., Finlay, B.B., 2014. Effects of Antibiotics on Human Microbiota and Subsequent Disease. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 68, 217-235.
- Kim, D.H., Brunt, J., Austin, B., 2007. Microbial diversity of intestinal contents and mucus in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). J. Appl. Microbiol. 102, 1654-1664.
- Kiron, V., 2012. Fish immune system and its nutritional modulation for preventive health care. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 173, 111-133.
- Kortner, T.M., Skugor, S., Penn, M.H., Mydland, L.T., Djordjevic, B., Hillestad, M., Krasnov, A., Krogdahl, Å., 2012. Dietary soyasaponin supplementation to pea protein concentrate reveals nutrigenomic interactions underlying enteropathy in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). BMC Vet. Res. 8, 101.
- Kortner, T.M., Valen, E.C., Kortner, H., Marjara, I.S., Krogdahl, Å., Bakke, A.M., 2011. Candidate reference genes for quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) assays during development of a diet-related enteropathy in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) and the potential pitfalls of uncritical use of normalization software tools. Aquaculture 318, 355-363.
- Kostic, A.D., Gevers, D., Pedamallu, C.S., Michaud, M., Duke, F., Earl, A.M., Ojesina, A.I., Jung, J., Bass, A.J., Tabernero, J., 2012. Genomic analysis identifies association of *Fusobacterium* with colorectal carcinoma. Genome Res. 22, 292-298.
- Krogdahl, Nordrum, Sørensen, Brudeseth, Røsjø, 1999. Effects of diet composition on apparent nutrient absorption along the intestinal tract and of subsequent fasting on

mucosal disaccharidase activities and plasma nutrient concentration in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* L. Aquacult. Nutr. 5, 121-133.

- Krogdahl, Å., Gajardo, K., Kortner, T.M., Penn, M., Gu, M., Berge, G.M., Bakke, A.M., 2015. Soya saponins induce enteritis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). J. Agric. Food Chem. 63, 3887-3902.
- Krogdahl, Å., Penn, M., Thorsen, J., Refstie, S., Bakke, A.M., 2010. Important antinutrients in plant feedstuffs for aquaculture: an update on recent findings regarding responses in salmonids. Aquacult. Res. 41, 333-344.
- Lafferty, K.D., Harvell, C.D., Conrad, J.M., Friedman, C.S., Kent, M.L., Kuris, A.M., Powell, E.N., Rondeau, D., Saksida, S.M., 2015. Infectious diseases affect marine fisheries and aquaculture economics. Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci. 7, 471-496.
- Lahtinen, S.J., 2012. Probiotic viability-does it matter? Microb. Ecol. Health Dis. 23.
- Lamari, F., Castex, M., Larcher, T., Ledevin, M., Mazurais, D., Bakhrouf, A., Gatesoupe, F.-J., 2013. Comparison of the effects of the dietary addition of two lactic acid bacteria on the development and conformation of sea bass larvae, Dicentrarchus labrax, and the influence on associated microbiota. Aquaculture 376–379, 137-145.
- Larsen, A.M., Mohammed, H.H., Arias, C.R., 2014. Characterization of the gut microbiota of three commercially valuable warmwater fish species. J. Appl. Microbiol. 116, 1396-1404.
- Lauzon, H.L., Pérez-Sánchez, T., Merrifield, D.L., Ringø, E., Balcázar, J.L., 2014. Probiotic applications in coldwater fish species. Aquaculture nutrition gut health, probiotics and prebiotics. Wiley, Chichester, 223-252.
- Lazado, C.C., Caipang, C.M.A., 2014a. Atlantic cod in the dynamic probiotics research in aquaculture. Aquaculture 424–425, 53-62.
- Lazado, C.C., Caipang, C.M.A., 2014b. Mucosal immunity and probiotics in fish. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 39, 78-89.
- Lem, A., Bjorndal, T., Lappo, A., 2014. Economic analysis of supply and demand for food up to 2030–Special focus on fish and fishery products. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Li, H., Zhong, Q., Wirth, S., Wang, W., Hao, Y., Wu, S., Zou, H., Li, W., Wang, G., 2015. Diversity of autochthonous bacterial communities in the intestinal mucosa of grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idellus*) (Valenciennes) determined by culture-dependent and culture-independent techniques. Aquacult. Res., 2344-2359.
- Li, J., Ni, J., Li, J., Wang, C., Li, X., Wu, S., Zhang, T., Yu, Y., Yan, Q., 2014. Comparative study on gastrointestinal microbiota of eight fish species with different feeding habits. J. Appl. Microbiol. 117, 1750-1760.
- Lien, S., Koop, B.F., Sandve, S.R., Miller, J.R., Kent, M.P., Nome, T., Hvidsten, T.R., Leong, J.S., Minkley, D.R., Zimin, A., Grammes, F., Grove, H., Gjuvsland, A., Walenz, B., Hermansen, R.A., von Schalburg, K., Rondeau, E.B., Di Genova, A., Samy, J.K.A., Olav Vik, J., Vigeland, M.D., Caler, L., Grimholt, U., Jentoft, S., Inge Våge, D., de Jong, P., Moen, T., Baranski, M., Palti, Y., Smith, D.R., Yorke, J.A., Nederbragt, A.J., Tooming-Klunderud, A., Jakobsen, K.S., Jiang, X., Fan, D., Hu, Y., Liberles, D.A., Vidal, R., Iturra, P., Jones, S.J.M., Jonassen, I., Maass, A., Omholt, S.W., Davidson, W.S., 2016. The Atlantic salmon genome provides insights into rediploidization. Nature 533, 200-205.

- Lilleeng, E., Penn, M.H., Haugland, Ø., Xu, C., Bakke, A.M., Krogdahl, Å., Landsverk, T., Frøystad-Saugen, M.K., 2009. Decreased expression of TGF-β, GILT and T-cell markers in the early stages of soybean enteropathy in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 27, 65-72.
- Lin, J., Hunkapiller, A.A., Layton, A.C., Chang, Y.-J., Robbins, K.R., 2013. Response of intestinal microbiota to antibiotic growth promoters in chickens. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 10, 331-337.
- Llewellyn, M., Boutin, S., Hoseinifar, S.H., Derome, N., 2014. Teleost microbiomes: progress towards their characterisation, manipulation and applications in aquaculture and fisheries. Front. Microbiol. 5.
- Lokesh, J., Kiron, V., 2016. Transition from freshwater to seawater reshapes the skinassociated microbiota of Atlantic salmon. Sci. Rep. 6, 19707.
- Løkka, G., Austbø, L., Falk, K., Bjerkås, I., Koppang, E.O., 2013. Intestinal morphology of the wild atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). J. Morphol. 274, 859-876.
- Løkka, G., Austbø, L., Falk, K., Bromage, E., Fjelldal, P.G., Hansen, T., Hordvik, I., Koppang, E.O., 2014. Immune parameters in the intestine of wild and reared unvaccinated and vaccinated Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Dev. Comp. Immunol. 47, 6-16.
- Løkka, G., Koppang, E.O., 2016. Antigen sampling in the fish intestine. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 64, 138-149.
- Looft, T., Allen, H.K., Cantarel, B.L., Levine, U.Y., Bayles, D.O., Alt, D.P., Henrissat, B., Stanton, T.B., 2014. Bacteria, phages and pigs: the effects of in-feed antibiotics on the microbiome at different gut locations. ISME J 8, 1566-1576.
- Lozupone, C., Knight, R., 2005. UniFrac: a new phylogenetic method for comparing microbial communities. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 8228-8235.
- Lozupone, C.A., Knight, R., 2007. Global patterns in bacterial diversity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 11436-11440.
- Lyons, P.P., Turnbull, J.F., Dawson, K.A., Crumlish, M., 2017. Exploring the microbial diversity of the distal intestinal lumen and mucosa of farmed rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum) using next generation sequencing (NGS). Aquacult. Res. 48, 77-91.
- Madsen, S.S., Bujak, J., Tipsmark, C.K., 2014. Aquaporin expression in the Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes) in freshwater and seawater: challenging the paradigm of intestinal water transport? J. Exp. Biol. 217, 3108-3121.
- Mardones, F.O., Perez, A.M., Valdes-Donoso, P., Carpenter, T.E., 2011. Farm-level reproduction number during an epidemic of infectious salmon anemia virus in southern Chile in 2007–2009. Prev. Vet. Med. 102, 175-184.
- Marjara, I.S., Chikwati, E.M., Valen, E.C., Krogdahl, Å., Bakke, A.M., 2012. Transcriptional regulation of IL-17A and other inflammatory markers during the development of soybean meal-induced enteropathy in the distal intestine of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Cytokine 60, 186-196.
- Maron, D.F., Smith, T.J., Nachman, K.E., 2013. Restrictions on antimicrobial use in food animal production: an international regulatory and economic survey. Globalization and Health 9, 48.

- Merrifield, D.L., Balcázar, J.L., Daniels, C., Zhou, Z., Carnevali, O., Sun, Y.-Z., Hoseinifar, S.H., Ringø, E., 2014. Indigenous lactic acid bacteria in fish and crustaceans, In: John Wiley & Sons, L. (Ed.), Aquaculture nutrition: gut health, probiotics and prebiotics, pp. 128-168.
- Merrifield, D.L., Bradley, G., Baker, R.T.M., Davies, S.J., 2010a. Probiotic applications for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) II. Effects on growth performance, feed utilization, intestinal microbiota and related health criteria postantibiotic treatment. Aquacult. Nutr. 16, 496-503.
- Merrifield, D.L., Bradley, G., Harper, G.M., Baker, R.T.M., Munn, C.B., Davies, S.J., 2011. Assessment of the effects of vegetative and lyophilized *Pediococcus acidilactici* on growth, feed utilization, intestinal colonization and health parameters of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum). Aquacult. Nutr. 17, 73-79.
- Merrifield, D.L., Burnard, D., Bradley, G., Davies, S.J., Baker, R.T.M., 2009. Microbial community diversity associated with the intestinal mucosa of farmed rainbow trout (*Oncoryhnchus mykiss* Walbaum). Aquacult. Res. 40, 1064-1072.
- Merrifield, D.L., Carnevali, O., 2014. Probiotic modulation of the gut microbiota of fish, In: John Wiley & Sons, L. (Ed.), Aquaculture Nutrition: Gut Health, Probiotics and Prebiotics, pp. 185-222.
- Merrifield, D.L., Dimitroglou, A., Bradley, G., Baker, R.T.M., Davies, S.J., 2010b. Probiotic applications for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) I. Effects on growth performance, feed utilization, intestinal microbiota and related health criteria. Aquacult. Nutr. 16, 504-510.
- Merrifield, D.L., Dimitroglou, A., Foey, A., Davies, S.J., Baker, R.T.M., Bøgwald, J., Castex, M., Ringø, E., 2010c. The current status and future focus of probiotic and prebiotic applications for salmonids. Aquaculture 302, 1-18.
- Merrifield, D.L., Harper, G.M., Dimitroglou, A., Ringø, E., Davies, S.J., 2010d. Possible influence of probiotic adhesion to intestinal mucosa on the activity and morphology of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) enterocytes. Aquacult. Res. 41, 1268-1272.
- Moen, T., 2010. Breeding for resistance to viral diseases in salmonids. Breeding for Disease Resistance in Farm Animals. 3rd ed. Oxforshire, UK: CABI, 166-179.
- Moffitt, C.M., Mobin, S.M.A., 2006. Profile of microflora of the posterior intestine of chinook salmon before, during, and after administration of rations with and without erythromycin. N. Am. J. Aquacult. 68, 176-185.
- Mohapatra, S., Chakraborty, T., Kumar, V., DeBoeck, G., Mohanta, K.N., 2013. Aquaculture and stress management: a review of probiotic intervention. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 97, 405-430.
- Mohapatra, S., Chakraborty, T., Prusty, A.K., Kumar, K., Prasad, K.P., Mohanta, K.N., 2012. Fenvalerate induced stress mitigation by dietary supplementation of multispecies probiotic mixture in a tropical freshwater fish, *Labeo rohita* (Hamilton). Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 104, 28-37.
- Moldal, T., Løkka, G., Wiik-Nielsen, J., Austbø, L., Torstensen, B.E., Rosenlund, G., Dale, O.B., Kaldhusdal, M., Koppang, E.O., 2014. Substitution of dietary fish oil with plant oils is associated with shortened mid intestinal folds in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). BMC Vet. Res. 10, 1-13.

- Nations, U., Affairs, D.o.E.a.S., Division, P., 2015. World Population Prospects / Data Booklet . The 2015 Revision, ESA/P/WP. 241, New York.
- Navarrete, P., Espejo, R.T., Romero, J., 2009. Molecular analysis of microbiota along the digestive tract of juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Microb. Ecol. 57, 550-561.
- Navarrete, P., Magne, F., Araneda, C., Fuentes, P., Barros, L., Opazo, R., Espejo, R., Romero, J., 2012. PCR-TTGE Analysis of 16S rRNA from rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) gut gicrobiota reveals host-specific communities of active bacteria. PLoS One 7, e31335.
- Navarrete, P., Magne, F., Mardones, P., Riveros, M., Opazo, R., Suau, A., Pochart, P., Romero, J., 2010. Molecular analysis of intestinal microbiota of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 71, 148-156.
- Navarrete, P., Mardones, P., Opazo, R., Espejo, R., Romero, J., 2008. Oxytetracycline treatment reduces bacterial diversity of intestinal microbiota of Atlantic salmon. J. Aquat. Anim. Health 20, 177-183.
- Navas-Molina, J.A., Peralta-Sánchez, J.M., González, A., McMurdie, P.J., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Xu, Z., Ursell, L.K., Lauber, C., Zhou, H., Song, S.J., 2013. Advancing our understanding of the human microbiome using QIIME. Methods Enzymol. 531, 371.
- Nayak, S.K., 2010. Role of gastrointestinal microbiota in fish. Aquacult. Res. 41, 1553-1573.
- Naylor, R., Burke, M., 2005. Aquaculture and ocean resources: raising tigers of the sea. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 30.
- Naylor, R.L., Hardy, R.W., Bureau, D.P., Chiu, A., Elliott, M., Farrell, A.P., Forster, I., Gatlin, D.M., Goldburg, R.J., Hua, K., 2009. Feeding aquaculture in an era of finite resources. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106, 15103-15110.
- Niklasson, L., Sundh, H., Fridell, F., Taranger, G.L., Sundell, K., 2011. Disturbance of the intestinal mucosal immune system of farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), in response to long-term hypoxic conditions. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 31, 1072-1080.
- Niklasson, L., Sundh, H., Olsen, R.-E., Jutfelt, F., Skjødt, K., Nilsen, T.O., Sundell, K.S., 2014. Effects of cortisol on the intestinal mucosal immune response during cohabitant challenge with IPNV in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). PLoS One 9, e94288.
- Oliva-Teles, A., Enes, P., Peres, H., 2015. Replacing fishmeal and fish oil in industrial aquafeeds for carnivorous fish, In: Davis, A., Ed.; Elsevier, (Ed.), Feed and Feeding Practices in Aquaculture, Cambridge, UK, p. 203.
- Oliveros, J.C., 2007. VENNY. An interactive tool for comparing lists with Venn Diagrams. http://bioinfogp.cnb.csic.es/tools/venny/index.html
- Olsen, R.E., Løvaas, E., Lie, Ø., 1999. The influence of temperature, dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids, α-tocopherol and spermine on fatty acid composition and indices of oxidative stress in juvenile Arctic char, *Salvelinus alpinus* (L.). Fish Physiol. Biochem. 20, 13-29.
- Olsen, R.E., Sundell, K., Hansen, T., Hemre, G.-I., Myklebust, R., Mayhew, T., Ringø, E., 2002. Acute stress alters the intestinal lining of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L.: An electron microscopical study. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 26, 211-221.
- Olsen, R.E., Sundell, K., Mayhew, T.M., Myklebust, R., Ringø, E., 2005. Acute stress alters intestinal function of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Aquaculture 250, 480-495.

- Olsen, R.E., Sundell, K., Ringø, E., Myklebust, R., Hemre, G.-I., Hansen, T., Karlsen, Ø., 2008. The acute stress response in fed and food deprived Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua* L. Aquaculture 280, 232-241.
- Olsvik, P.A., Torstensen, B.E., Berntssen, M.H.G., 2007. Effects of complete replacement of fish oil with plant oil on gastrointestinal cell death, proliferation and transcription of eight genes' encoding proteins responding to cellular stress in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* L. J. Fish Biol. 71, 550-568.
- Palermo, F.A., Mosconi, G., Avella, M.A., Carnevali, O., Verdenelli, M.C., Cecchini, C., Polzonetti-Magni, A.M., 2011. Modulation of cortisol levels, endocannabinoid receptor 1A, proopiomelanocortin and thyroid hormone receptor alpha mRNA expressions by probiotics during sole (*Solea solea*) larval development. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 171, 293-300.
- Parma, L., Candela, M., Soverini, M., Turroni, S., Consolandi, C., Brigidi, P., Mandrioli, L., Sirri, R., Fontanillas, R., Gatta, P.P., Bonaldo, A., 2016. Next-generation sequencing characterization of the gut bacterial community of gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*, L.) fed low fishmeal based diets with increasing soybean meal levels. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 222, 204-216.
- Pastorelli, L., De Salvo, C., Mercado, J.R., Vecchi, M., Pizarro, T.T., 2013. Central role of the gut epithelial barrier in the pathogenesis of chronic intestinal inflammation: lessons learned from animal models and human genetics. Front. Immunol. 4, 280.
- Pérez-Sánchez, T., Ruiz-Zarzuela, I., de Blas, I., Balcázar, J.L., 2014. Probiotics in aquaculture: a current assessment. Reviews in Aquaculture 6, 133-146.
- Perez, T., Balcazar, J.L., Ruiz-Zarzuela, I., Halaihel, N., Vendrell, D., de Blas, I., Muzquiz, J.L., 2010. Host-microbiota interactions within the fish intestinal ecosystem. Mucosal Immunol.
- Peruzzi, S., Hagen, Ø., Jobling, M., 2015. Gut morphology of diploid and triploid Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Aquacult. Int. 23, 1105-1108.
- Peters, G., 1982. The effect of stress on the stomach of the European eel, Anguilla anguilla L. J. Fish Biol. 21, 497-512.
- Petrie, A.G., Ellis, A.E., 2006. Evidence of particulate uptake by the gut of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 20, 660-664.
- Pfaffl, M.W., 2001. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT–PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 29, e45-e45.
- Pickering, A.D., 1993. Growth and stress in fish production. Aquaculture 111, 51-63.
- Pond, M.J., Stone, D.M., Alderman, D.J., 2006. Comparison of conventional and molecular techniques to investigate the intestinal microflora of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 261, 194-203.
- Price, M.N., Dehal, P.S., Arkin, A.P., 2010. FastTree 2–approximately maximum-likelihood trees for large alignments. PLoS One 5, e9490.
- Ramos, M.A., Gonçalves, J.F.M., Batista, S., Costas, B., Pires, M.A., Rema, P., Ozório, R.O.A., 2015. Growth, immune responses and intestinal morphology of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) supplemented with commercial probiotics. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 45, 19-26.

- Ramos, M.A., Weber, B., Gonçalves, J.F., Santos, G.A., Rema, P., Ozório, R.O.A., 2013. Dietary probiotic supplementation modulated gut microbiota and improved growth of juvenile rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 166, 302-307.
- Rawls, J.F., Samuel, B.S., Gordon, J.I., 2004. Gnotobiotic zebrafish reveal evolutionarily conserved responses to the gut microbiota. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101, 4596-4601.
- Ray, A.K., Ghosh, K., Ringø, E., 2012. Enzyme-producing bacteria isolated from fish gut: a review. Aquacult. Nutr. 18, 465-492.
- Reveco, F.E., Øverland, M., Romarheim, O.H., Mydland, L.T., 2014. Intestinal bacterial community structure differs between healthy and inflamed intestines in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Aquaculture 420–421, 262-269.
- Ringø, E., Birkbeck, T.H., 1999. Intestinal microflora of fish larvae and fry. Aquacult. Res. 30, 73-93.
- Ringø, E., Olsen, R.E., Øverli, Ø., Løvik, F., 1997. Effect of dominance hierarchy formation on aerobic microbiota associated with epithelial mucosa of subordinate and dominant individuals of Arctic charr, Salvelinus alpinus (L.). Aquacult. Res. 28, 901-904.
- Ringø, E., Strøm, E., Tabachek, J.A., 1995. Intestinal microflora of salmonids: a review. Aquacult. Res. 26, 773-789.
- Ringø, E., Zhou, Z., He, S., Olsen, R.E., 2014. Effect of stress on intestinal microbiota of Arctic charr, Atlantic salmon, rainbow trout and Atlantic cod: A review. Afr. J. Microbiol. Res. 8, 609-618.
- Ringø, E., Zhou, Z., Vecino, J., Wadsworth, S., Romero, J., Krogdahl, Å., Olsen, R., Dimitroglou, A., Foey, A., Davies, S., 2015. Effect of dietary components on the gut microbiota of aquatic animals. A never-ending story? Aquacult. Nutr. 22, 219-282.
- Roberts, R.J., Pearson, M.D., 2005. Infectious pancreatic necrosis in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L. J. Fish Dis. 28, 383-390.
- Rodger, H.D., 2016. Fish Disease Causing Economic Impact in Global Aquaculture, In: Adams, A. (Ed.), Fish Vaccines, Springer Basel, Basel, pp. 1-34.
- Rodriguez, M.F., Wiens, G.D., Purcell, M.K., Palti, Y., 2005. Characterization of Toll-like receptor 3 gene in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Immunogenetics 57, 510-519.
- Roeselers, G., Mittge, E.K., Stephens, W.Z., Parichy, D.M., Cavanaugh, C.M., Guillemin, K., Rawls, J.F., 2011. Evidence for a core gut microbiota in the zebrafish. ISME J 5, 1595-1608.
- Rollo, A., Sulpizio, R., Nardi, M., Silvi, S., Orpianesi, C., Caggiano, M., Cresci, A., Carnevali, O., 2006. Live microbial feed supplement in aquaculture for improvement of stress tolerance. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 32, 167-177.
- Romero, J., Feijoó, C.G., Navarrete, P., 2012. Antibiotics in aquaculture-use, abuse and alternatives. INTECH Open Access Publisher.
- Romero, J., Navarrete, P., 2006. 16S rDNA-based analysis of dominant bacterial populations associated with early life stages of coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*). Microb. Ecol. 51, 422-430.

- Romero, J., Ringø, E., Merrifield, D.L., 2014. The gut microbiota of fish, Aquaculture Nutrition: Gut Health, Probiotics and Prebiotics, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp. 75-100.
- Rozen, S., Skaletsky, H., 1999. Primer3 on the WWW for general users and for biologist programmers, In: Misener, S., Krawetz, S.A. (Eds.), Bioinformatics Methods and Protocols, Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 365-386.
- Salinas, I., Parra, D., 2015. Fish mucosal immunity: intestine, Mucosal health in aquaculture, San Diego, pp. 135-158.
- Salonen, A., Salojärvi, J., Lahti, L., de Vos, W.M., 2012. The adult intestinal core microbiota is determined by analysis depth and health status. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 18, 16-20.
- Sanden, M., Berntssen, M.H.G., Krogdahl, Å., Hemre, G.I., Bakke-McKellep, A.M., 2005. An examination of the intestinal tract of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., parr fed different varieties of soy and maize. J. Fish Dis. 28, 317-330.
- Sanden, M., Olsvik, P.A., 2009. Intestinal cellular localization of PCNA protein and CYP1A mRNA in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* L. exposed to a model toxicant. BMC Physiol. 9, 3.
- Schmidt, V., Amaral-Zettler, L., Davidson, J., Summerfelt, S., Good, C., 2016. The influence of fishmeal-free diets on microbial communities in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* recirculation aquaculture systems. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 82, 4470-4481.
- Schmidt, V.T., Smith, K.F., Melvin, D.W., Amaral-Zettler, L.A., 2015. Community assembly of a euryhaline fish microbiome during salinity acclimation. Mol. Ecol. 24, 2537-2550.
- Schokker, D., Zhang, J., Vastenhouw, S.A., Heilig, H.G.H.J., Smidt, H., Rebel, J.M.J., Smits, M.A., 2015. Long-lasting effects of early-life antibiotic treatment and routine animal handling on gut microbiota composition and immune system in pigs. PLoS One 10, e0116523.
- Semova, I., Carten, Juliana D., Stombaugh, J., Mackey, Lantz C., Knight, R., Farber, Steven A., Rawls, John F., 2012. Microbiota regulate intestinal absorption and metabolism of fatty acids in the zebrafish. Cell Host & Microbe 12, 277-288.
- Shade, A., Handelsman, J., 2012. Beyond the Venn diagram: the hunt for a core microbiome. Environ. Microbiol. 14, 4-12.
- Shepherd, C.J., Monroig, O., Tocher, D.R., 2017. Future availability of raw materials for salmon feeds and supply chain implications: The case of Scottish farmed salmon. Aquaculture 467, 49-62.
- Shinn, A.P., Pratoomyot, J., Bron, J.E., Paladini, G., Brooker, E.E., Brooker, A.J., 2015. Economic costs of protistan and metazoan parasites to global mariculture. Parasitology 142, 196-270.
- Silbergeld, E.K., Graham, J., Price, L.B., 2008. Industrial food animal production, antimicrobial resistance, and human health. Annu. Rev. Public Health 29, 151-169.
- Sissener, N.H., Torstensen, B.E., Owen, M.A.G., Liland, N.S., Stubhaug, I., Rosenlund, G., 2016. Temperature modulates liver lipid accumulation in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) fed low dietary levels of long-chain n-3 fatty acids. Aquacult. Nutr.
- Sommerset, I., Krossøy, B., Biering, E., Frost, P., 2005. Vaccines for fish in aquaculture. Expert Review of Vaccines 4, 89-101.

- Spanggaard, B., Huber, I., Nielsen, J., Nielsen, T., Appel, K.F., Gram, L., 2000. The microflora of rainbow trout intestine: a comparison of traditional and molecular identification. Aquaculture 182, 1-15.
- Sprague, M., Dick, J.R., Tocher, D.R., 2016. Impact of sustainable feeds on omega-3 longchain fatty acid levels in farmed Atlantic salmon, 2006–2015. Sci. Rep. 6, 21892.
- Standen, B.T., Rawling, M.D., Davies, S.J., Castex, M., Foey, A., Gioacchini, G., Carnevali, O., Merrifield, D.L., 2013. Probiotic *Pediococcus acidilactici* modulates both localised intestinal- and peripheral-immunity in tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 35, 1097-1104.
- Sudo, N., 2006. Stress and gut microbiota: Does postnatal microbial colonization programs the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal system for stress response? International Congress Series 1287, 350-354.
- Sun, Y., Yang, H., Ling, Z., Chang, J., Ye, J., 2009. Gut microbiota of fast and slow growing grouper *Epinephelus coioides*. Afr. J. Microbiol. Res. 3, 713-720.
- Sundell, K.S., Sundh, H., 2012. Intestinal fluid absorption in anadromous salmonids: importance of tight junctions and aquaporins. Front. Physiol. 3, 388.
- Sundh, H., Kvamme, B., Fridell, F., Olsen, R., Ellis, T., Taranger, G., Sundell, K., 2010. Intestinal barrier function of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) post smolts is reduced by common sea cage environments and suggested as a possible physiological welfare indicator. BMC Physiol. 10, 22.
- Sundh, H., Nilsen, T.O., Lindström, J., Hasselberg-Frank, L., Stefansson, S.O., McCormick, S.D., Sundell, K., 2014. Development of intestinal ion-transporting mechanisms during smoltification and seawater acclimation in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar. J. Fish Biol. 85, 1227-1252.
- Sundh, H., Olsen, R.E., Fridell, F., Gadan, K., Evensen, Ø., Glette, J., Taranger, G.L., Myklebust, R., Sundell, K., 2009. The effect of hyperoxygenation and reduced flow in fresh water and subsequent infectious pancreatic necrosis virus challenge in sea water, on the intestinal barrier integrity in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L. J. Fish Dis. 32, 687-698.
- Szakolczai, J., 1997. Histopathological changes induced by environmental stress in common carp, Japanese coloured carp, European eel, and African catfish. Acta Vet. Hung. 45, 1-10.
- Tachon, S., Lee, B., Marco, M.L., 2014. Diet alters probiotic *Lactobacillus* persistence and function in the intestine. Environ. Microbiol. 16, 2915-2926.
- Tacon, A.G., Metian, M., 2008. Global overview on the use of fish meal and fish oil in industrially compounded aquafeeds: trends and future prospects. Aquaculture 285, 146-158.
- Taoka, Y., Maeda, H., Jo, J.-Y., Jeon, M.-J., Bai, S.C., Lee, W.-J., Yuge, K., Koshio, S., 2006. Growth, stress tolerance and non-specific immune response of Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus* to probiotics in a closed recirculating system. Fish. Sci. 72, 310-321.
- Teletchea, F., Fontaine, P., 2014. Levels of domestication in fish: implications for the sustainable future of aquaculture. Fish Fish. 15, 181-195.

- Temmerman, R., Pot, B., Huys, G., Swings, J., 2003. Identification and antibiotic susceptibility of bacterial isolates from probiotic products. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 81, 1-10.
- Tinh, N., Dierckens, K., Sorgeloos, P., Bossier, P., 2008. A review of the functionality of probiotics in the larviculture food chain. Mar. Biotechnol. 10, 1-12.
- Tipsmark, C.K., Madsen, S.S., 2012. Tricellulin, occludin and claudin-3 expression in salmon intestine and kidney during salinity adaptation. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 162, 378-385.
- Tipsmark, C.K., Sørensen, K.J., Hulgard, K., Madsen, S.S., 2010. Claudin-15 and -25b expression in the intestinal tract of Atlantic salmon in response to seawater acclimation, smoltification and hormone treatment. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 155, 361-370.
- Torrecillas, S., Mompel, D., Caballero, M.J., Montero, D., Merrifield, D., Rodiles, A., Robaina, L., Zamorano, M.J., Karalazos, V., Kaushik, S., Izquierdo, M., 2017. Effect of fishmeal and fish oil replacement by vegetable meals and oils on gut health of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Aquaculture 468, Part 1, 386-398.
- Torrissen, O., Olsen, R.E., Toresen, R., Hemre, G.I., Tacon, A.G.J., Asche, F., Hardy, R.W., Lall, S., 2011. Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar): The "Super-Chicken" of the Sea? Rev. Fish. Sci. 19, 257-278.
- Torstensen, B.E., Bell, J.G., Rosenlund, G., Henderson, R.J., Graff, I.E., Tocher, D.R., Lie, O., Sargent, J.R., 2005. Tailoring of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) flesh lipid composition and sensory quality by replacing fish oil with a vegetable oil blend. J. Agric. Food Chem. 53, 10166-10178.
- Trust, T.J., Sparrow, R.A.H., 1974. The bacterial flora in the alimentary tract of freshwater salmonid fishes. Can. J. Microbiol. 20, 1219-1228.
- Turchini, G.M., Torstensen, B.E., Ng, W.-K., 2009. Fish oil replacement in finfish nutrition. Reviews in Aquaculture 1, 10-57.
- Turnbaugh, P.J., Gordon, J.I., 2008. An invitation to the marriage of metagenomics and metabolomics. Cell 134, 708-713.
- Urán, P.A., Aydin, R., Schrama, J.W., Verreth, J.A.J., Rombout, J.H.W.M., 2008. Soybean meal-induced uptake block in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* distal enterocytes. J. Fish Biol. 73, 2571-2579.
- Van den Abbeele, P., Van de Wiele, T., Verstraete, W., Possemiers, S., 2011. The host selects mucosal and luminal associations of coevolved gut microorganisms: a novel concept. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 35, 681-704.
- Vasanth, G., Kiron, V., Kulkarni, A., Dahle, D., Lokesh, J., Kitani, Y., 2015. A microbial feed additive abates intestinal inflammation in Atlantic salmon. Front. Immunol. 6, 409.
- Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Pirrung, M., Gonzalez, A., Knight, R., 2013. EMPeror: a tool for visualizing high-throughput microbial community data. Structure 585, 20.
- Veillette, P.A., White, R.J., Specker, J.L., Young, G., 2005. Osmoregulatory physiology of pyloric ceca: regulated and adaptive changes in chinook salmon. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Comparative Experimental Biology 303, 608-613.
- Větrovský, T., Baldrian, P., 2013. The variability of the 16S rRNA gene in bacterial genomes and its consequences for bacterial community analyses. PLoS One 8, e57923.

- Videnska, P., Faldynova, M., Juricova, H., Babak, V., Sisak, F., Havlickova, H., Rychlik, I., 2013. Chicken faecal microbiota and disturbances induced by single or repeated therapy with tetracycline and streptomycin. BMC Vet. Res. 9, 30.
- Villamil, L., Figueras, A., Planas, M., Novoa, B., 2010. *Pediococcus acidilactici* in the culture of turbot (*Psetta maxima*) larvae: Administration pathways. Aquaculture 307, 83-88.
- Vine, D.F., Charman, S.A., Gibson, P.R., Sinclair, A.J., Porter, C.J.H., 2002. Effect of dietary fatty acids on the intestinal permeability of marker drug compounds in excised rat jejunum. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 54, 809-819.
- Wang, J., Tang, H., Zhang, C., Zhao, Y., Derrien, M., Rocher, E., van-Hylckama Vlieg, J.E.T., Strissel, K., Zhao, L., Obin, M., Shen, J., 2015. Modulation of gut microbiota during probiotic-mediated attenuation of metabolic syndrome in high fat diet-fed mice. ISME J 9, 1-15.
- Wang, Q., Garrity, G.M., Tiedje, J.M., Cole, J.R., 2007. Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 5261-5267.
- Weinstock, G.M., 2012. Genomic approaches to studying the human microbiota. Nature 489, 250-256.
- Welker, T.L., Lim, C., Yildirim-Aksoy, M., Shelby, R., Klesius, P.H., 2007. Immune response and resistance to stress and *Edwardsiella ictaluri* challenge in channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus*, fed diets containing commercial whole-cell yeast or yeast subcomponents. J. World. Aquac. Soc. 38, 24-35.
- Wessel, Ø., Olsen, C.M., Rimstad, E., Dahle, M.K., 2015. Piscine orthoreovirus (PRV) replicates in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) erythrocytes ex vivo. Vet. Res. 46, 26.
- Whittamore, J.M., 2012. Osmoregulation and epithelial water transport: lessons from the intestine of marine teleost fish. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 182, 1-39.
- Wilson, J.M., Castro, L.F.C., 2010. Morphological diversity of the gastrointestinal tract in fishes, In: Martin Grosell, A.P.F., Colin, J.B. (Eds.), Fish Physiology, Academic Press, pp. 1-55.
- Wong, S., Waldrop, T., Summerfelt, S., Davidson, J., Barrows, F., Kenney, P.B., Welch, T., Wiens, G.D., Snekvik, K., Rawls, J.F., Good, C., 2013. Aquacultured rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) possess a large core intestinal microbiota that is resistant to variation in diet and rearing density. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79, 4974-4984.
- Ye, J., Coulouris, G., Zaretskaya, I., Cutcutache, I., Rozen, S., Madden, T.L., 2012. Primer-BLAST: A tool to design target-specific primers for polymerase chain reaction. BMC Bioinformatics 13, 1-11.
- Ytrestøyl, T., Aas, T.S., Åsgård, T., 2015. Utilisation of feed resources in production of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in Norway. Aquaculture 448, 365-374.
- Yu, Z.-H., Deng, M.-L., Geng, Y., Zhou, Y., Wang, K.-Y., Chen, D.-F., Zhong, Z.-J., Peng, X., Huang, X.-L., 2016. An outbreak of infectious haematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV) infection in cultured rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) in Southwest China. Aquacult. Res. 47, 2355-2362.
- Zarkasi, K.Z., Abell, G.C.J., Taylor, R.S., Neuman, C., Hatje, E., Tamplin, M.L., Katouli, M., Bowman, J.P., 2014. Pyrosequencing-based characterization of gastrointestinal bacteria of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) within a commercial mariculture system. J. Appl. Microbiol. 117, 18-27.

- Zarkasi, K.Z., Taylor, R.S., Abell, G.C.J., Tamplin, M.L., Glencross, B.D., Bowman, J.P., 2016. Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) gastrointestinal microbial community dynamics in relation to digesta properties and diet. Microb. Ecol., 1-15.
- Zeissig, S., Blumberg, R.S., 2014. Life at the beginning: perturbation of the microbiota by antibiotics in early life and its role in health and disease. Nat. Immunol. 15, 307-310.
- Zhang, M., Sun, Y., Liu, Y., Qiao, F., Chen, L., Liu, W.-T., Du, Z., Li, E., 2016. Response of gut microbiota to salinity change in two euryhaline aquatic animals with reverse salinity preference. Aquaculture 454, 72-80.
- Zhang, W., Azevedo, M.S.P., Wen, K., Gonzalez, A., Saif, L.J., Li, G., Yousef, A.E., Yuan, L., 2008. Probiotic *Lactobacillus acidophilus* enhances the immunogenicity of an oral rotavirus vaccine in gnotobiotic pigs. Vaccine 26, 3655-3661.
- Zhang, Y.-A., Salinas, I., Li, J., Parra, D., Bjork, S., Xu, Z., LaPatra, S.E., Bartholomew, J., Sunyer, J.O., 2010. IgT, a primitive immunoglobulin class specialized in mucosal immunity. Nat. Immunol. 11, 827-835.
- Zhao, J.-S., Manno, D., Hawari, J., 2009. *Psychrilyobacter atlanticus* gen. nov., sp. nov., a marine member of the phylum Fusobacteria that produces H₂ and degrades nitramine explosives under low temperature conditions. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 59, 491-497.
- Zhou, Z., Yao, B., Romero, J., Waines, P., Ringø, E., Emery, M., Liles, M.R., Merrifield, D.L., 2014. Methodological approaches used to assess fish gastrointestinal communities, Aquacult. Nutr., John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp. 101-127.
- Zhu, H., Liu, Y., Chen, S., Wang, X., Pi, D., Leng, W., Chen, F., Zhang, J., Kang, P., 2016. Fish oil enhances intestinal barrier function and inhibits corticotropin-releasing hormone/corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 signalling pathway in weaned pigs after lipopolysaccharide challenge. Br. J. Nutr. 115, 1947-1957.